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IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
 
In re: 
 
Nu Ride Inc., et al.,1 
 

Reorganized Debtors. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 23-10831 (MFW) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 
 
Ref. Docket No. 1588 
 

 
OBJECTION OF DARREN POST, STEVE BURNS, JULIO RODRIGUEZ, AND 

CAIMIN FLANNERY TO POST-EFFECTIVE DATE DEBTORS’ MOTION  
FOR ENTRY OF AN ORDER (I) AUTHORIZING THE REDUCTION OF  

THE GUC RESERVE AND (II) GRANTING RELATED RELIEF 
 

Darren Post, Steve Burns, Julio Rodriguez, and Caimin Flannery (together, 

the “Claimants”), by and through their undersigned counsel, hereby file this objection (this 

“Objection”) to the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ Motion for Entry of an Order (I) Authorizing the 

Reduction of the GUC Reserve and (II) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 1588] (the “GUC 

Reserve Reduction Motion”).2  In support of this Objection, the Claimants state as follows: 

BACKGROUND 

I. General 

1. On June 27, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), Lordstown Motors Corp. and its 

affiliated debtors (the “Debtors” or “Lordstown”) filed voluntary petitions for chapter 11 

bankruptcy relief in the Court, commencing the above-captioned cases (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).  

 
1  The Reorganized Debtors and the last four digits of their respective taxpayer identification numbers are: 

Lordstown Motors Corp. (3239); Lordstown EV Corporation (2250); and Lordstown EV Sales LLC (9101). The 
Reorganized Debtors’ service address is: Nu Ride Inc. c/o William Gallagher, CEO, M 3 Partners, 1700 
Broadway, 19th Floor, New York, NY 10019. 

2  Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the GUC 
Reserve Reduction Motion.   
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The Chapter 11 Cases are being jointly administered for procedural purposes only pursuant to 

Bankruptcy Rule 1015(b).   

2. On March 6, 2024, the Court entered an order [Docket No. 1069] (the 

“Confirmation Order”) confirming the Third Modified First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of 

Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors [Docket No. 1066] (the “Plan”).  The effective 

date of the Plan occurred on March 14, 2024 [Docket No. 1096].  

3. The Plan established a reserve for the payment of Allowed and Disputed 

General Unsecured Claims (the “GUC Reserve”) in the amount of $45 million (the “Initial GUC 

Reserve”).  Confirmation Order at ⁋ 20.  As set forth in Exhibit E to the Notice of Filing of First 

Supplemental Plan Supplement for the Third Modified First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of 

Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors [Docket No. 1016], the GUC Reserve was 

comprised of the following: 

Component Amount (in millions) 

Asserted Liquidated General Unsecured Claims $23.1 
Ohio Securities Litigation Settlement Payment $3.0 
Delaware Shareholder Class Action Settlement 
Potential Indemnification Claims 

$3.5 

Identified Liquidated Indemnification Claims $1.6 
Estimated Rejection Damages Claims $6.7 
Additional Reserve (i.e., cushion) $7.1 
Total: $45.0 

II. The Claimants’ Claims 
 

4. The Claimants are former employees of Lordstown.  Specifically, Mr. 

Burns was Lordstown’s Founder and Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of Lordstown’s 

board.  Mr. Rodriguez was Lordstown’s Chief Financial Officer.  Mr. Flannery was Lordstown’s 

Senior Vice President of Business Development.  Mr. Post served as Lordstown’s Chief Engineer.  

The Claimants have each filed proofs of claim (collectively, the “Claims”) against the Debtors in 
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connection therewith asserting, among other things, indemnification, exculpation, and 

advancement of defense costs.  See Claim Nos. 1619, 1620, 1622 & 1623.  The Claims are partially 

unliquidated, and the aggregate amount of the Claims as of the date of this Objection is no less 

than approximately $936,308, which amount includes, among other things, legal fees and expenses 

incurred in connection with the defense of the action currently pending against the Claimants in 

the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Case No. 4:21-cv-00616 (DAR) 

(the “District Court Action”).3   

OBJECTION 

5. Through the GUC Reserve Reduction Motion, the Post-Effective Date 

Debtors seek to reduce the GUC Reserve by approximately $18 million to just $3.5 million (the 

“Proposed GUC Reserve”).  As set forth in the GUC Reserve Reduction Motion, the Proposed 

GUC Reserve consists solely of the face amount of remaining disputed fully liquidated general 

unsecured claims.  The Proposed GUC Reserve reserves nothing on account of partially liquidated 

or unliquidated general unsecured claims.  Thus, the Claimants’ Claims are unaccounted for in the 

determination of the Proposed GUC Reserve.  The Proposed GUC Reserve also eliminates the 

$7.1 million cushion included in the Initial GUC Reserve.  The reduction of the Initial GUC 

Reserve in this manner is inappropriate, inequitable, and contrary to the requirements of the Plan.   

6. First, the Court should not issue an order implementing the Plan in a manner 

that conflicts with the terms of the Plan itself.  As the Post-Effective Date Debtors acknowledge, 

the Plan includes certain Claims Reserve Requirements, “including the requirement of reserves for 

the payment of Disputed Claims by withholding 100% of the Distributions to which Holders of 

 
3   For the avoidance of doubt, the amount of the Claims may increase significantly depending on, among other 

things, the outcome of the District Court Action.   
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such Disputed Claims would be entitled if such Disputed Claims were Allowed Claims[.]”  Plan 

at Articles V.E, VII.I.  Despite this requirement, the Post-Effective Date Debtors do not include 

any amounts on account of the Claims, which are currently Disputed Claims as defined by the 

Plan,4 in the Proposed GUC Reserve.   

7. Second, the proposed reduction in the GUC Reserve prejudices the rights of 

the Claimants.  The GUC Reserve has not, as the Post-Effective Date Debtors assert, served its 

purpose, which is to protect the interests of holders of disputed claims pending the determination 

of such claims.  See, e.g., In re Overseas Shipholding Grp., Inc., No. 12-20000-PJW, 2014 WL 

4782704 at *15 (Bankr. D. Del. July 18, 2014).  The Proposed GUC Reserve includes no amounts 

on account of the Claimants’ Claims and thus offers no protection to the Claimants that they will 

receive the distributions that they are entitled to under the Plan once their Claims are allowed—

i.e., payment in full.   

8. The Post-Effective Date Debtors assert that the Claimants will not be 

prejudiced by the proposed reduction to the GUC Reserve because holders of allowed general 

unsecured claims may recover from all of the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ assets in the event of 

a deficiency in the GUC Reserve.  But the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ assets are limited and 

largely speculative.  As noted in their 10-K filed on October 30, 2025 for the fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2024 (the “10-K”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, the Post-

Effective Date Debtors currently have no revenues and limited operations and assets, the value of 

 
4   A Disputed Claim includes: (i) “a Claim or Interest that is the subject of an objection or request for estimation 

Filed by any of the Debtors, the Post-Effective Date Debtors, the Claims Ombudsman, or any other party-in-
interest in accordance with applicable law and which objection or request has not been withdrawn, resolved, or 
overruled by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court”; (ii) “a Claim or Interest that is not otherwise Allowed or 
Disallowed under the Plan and, as to which, the applicable deadline for the Debtors, the Post-Effective Date 
Debtors, the Claims Ombudsman, or any other party-in-interest to object (including any extension to such 
deadline granted by the Bankruptcy Court) has not yet expired” and (iii) “any Claim filed by the Former Directors 
and Officers.”  Plan at Article I.A.48.  There is a pending objection to Mr. Rodriguez’s claim [Docket No. 1298] 
and the deadline to object to proofs of claims has been extended to March 9, 2026 [Docket No. 1571].   
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which is uncertain.  10-K at pg. 7.  Indeed, the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ operations consist 

only of: (a) claims administration under the Plan; (b) addressing the Foxconn litigation; 

(c) prosecuting other retained causes of action; (d) defending against counterclaims; and (e) filing 

Exchange Act reports and satisfying other regulatory requirements.  10-K at pg. 5.  Their assets 

are likewise limited: “[the Post-Effective Date Debtors’] only material assets are cash on hand and 

intangible assets, including the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation, claims the Company 

may have against other parties and NOLs[.]”  10-K at pg. 8.  The Post-Effective Date Debtors’ 

most recently filed 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2025 (the “10-Q”), a copy of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit B, discloses that they have cash and cash equivalents of just 

$26.8 million.  10-Q at pg. 11.  The 10-K details various risks regarding the Post-Effective Date 

Debtors’ operations and assets in light of the foregoing, including the following:   

• “[W]e currently have no revenues and limited operations and assets, which 
makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects and there 
is a risk we may eventually exhaust the capital resources we had when we 
emerged from bankruptcy[.]”  10-K at pg. 3.   
 

• “We expect our operating losses to continue to be significant, as 
restructuring activities, operating expenses, the claims administration 
process, the Foxconn Litigation and other retained causes of action, among 
other activities, significantly impact our consolidated financial results.”  Id. 
at pg. 8.   

 
• “As the Company currently has limited operations and assets the value of 

which is uncertain, there is a risk that we will exhaust the assets we had 
when we emerged from bankruptcy.  We have no significant income-
generating assets and limited financial resources.”  Id. at pg. 7.  

 
• “Although we intend to pay all allowed claims, including general unsecured 

claims in full, with interest as provided by the Plan, there can be no 
assurance that the Claims Reserve, our other assets, or our remaining cash 
will be sufficient to do so given the uncertainties and risks of the claims 
dispute and the settlement process.”  Id at pg. 12.  
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Thus, it is clear that the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ assets are limited, speculative, and may very 

well be insufficient to satisfy the Claimants’ Claims if there is a deficiency in the GUC Reserve.  

This would ultimately result in disparate treatment among the same class of creditors, with some 

holders of general unsecured claims receiving a 100% distribution and others receiving less than 

payment in full.      

9. The Post-Effective Date Debtors also assert that the reduction in the GUC 

Reserve will not prejudice claimants because the Post-Effective Date Debtors believe they have 

defenses to remaining claims.  To be clear, the Claimants believe the Claims are valid and reserve 

the right to address the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ purported defenses at the appropriate time.  

But regardless, the claims comprising the Reduced GUC Reserve are disputed.  GUC Reserve 

Reduction Motion at ⁋ 16 (“Only Disputed claims remain to be paid; those that are fully liquidated 

have a face amount of approximately $3.5 million[.]”).  Nonethless, the Post-Effective Date 

Debtors still propose to reserve on account of those disputed claims.  The Claimants’ Claims 

should not be treated any differently merely because the Post-Effective Date Debtors believe they 

have defenses.   

10. Finally, the Post-Effective Date Debtors have not established that reduction 

of the GUC Reserve is necessary or appropriate and, in any event, the Court should not invoke its 

equitable power in section 105(a) of the Bankruptcy Code to reduce the GUC Reserve in a manner 

that is inherently inequitable and prejudicial to the Claimants.   

11. The Claimants acknowledge that there is uncertainty regarding the total 

amount of the Claims in light of the pending District Court Action, among other things.  As a 

result, the Claimants object to the GUC Reserve Reduction Motion only to the extent it seeks to 

eliminate the $7.1 million cushion included in the Initial GUC Reserve.  This bargained-for 
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cushion should be maintained to provide protection to holders of fully or partially unliquidated 

claims against the risk that the Post-Effective Date Debtors’ assets will be insufficient to satisfy 

distributions on account of their claims.  The Post-Effective Date Debtors will suffer little, if any, 

harm if this cushion were required to be maintained.  Allowing the cushion to be eliminated would 

provide a windfall to the Post-Effective Date Debtors to the detriment of the Claimants.     

CONCLUSION 

12. For the reasons set forth above, the Claimants respectfully request that the 

Court deny the GUC Reserve Reduction Motion to the extent it seeks to eliminate the $7.1 million 

cushion from the GUC Reserve.    

Date:  November 6, 2025 
Wilmington, Delaware 

YOUNG CONAWAY STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP 
 
/s/ Ashley E. Jacobs                                                        
Sean M. Beach (No. 4070) 
Ashley E. Jacobs (No. 5635) 
Rodney Square 
1000 North King Street 
Wilmington, Delaware 19801 
Telephone:  (302) 571-6600 
Facsimile:  (302) 571-1253 
Email: sbeach@ycst.com 
            ajacobs@ycst.com 
 

 Attorneys to the Claimants 
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EXHIBIT A 
 

10-K 
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UNITED STATES 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 
 

FORM 10-K 
 

(Mark One) 
 
☒☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
    
  For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 

 
OR 

 
☐☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
    
  For the transition period from                  to 

 
Commission File Number: 001-38821 

 

NU RIDE INC. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

 
Delaware 83-2533239 

(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) 
 

1700 Broadway, 19th Floor 
New York, New York 10019 

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code) 
 

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (212) 202-2200 
 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None 
 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: 
 

Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share 
(Title of Class) 

 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐ No ☒ 
 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes ☐ No ☒ 
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 

12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐ 
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 

232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐ 
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company or an emerging growth 

company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 
 

Large accelerated filer ☐   Accelerated filer☐   Non-accelerated filer ☒☒ 
Smaller reporting company ☒☒       Emerging growth company ☐ 

 
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial 

accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐ 
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial 

reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. ☐ 
 
If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the 

correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐ 
 
Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the 

registrant’s executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐ 
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☒ No ☐ 
 
The aggregate market value of the Class A common stock outstanding, other than shares held by persons who may be deemed affiliates of the registrant, computed by reference 

to the closing sales price for the registrant’s Class A common stock on June 28, 2024 (the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second quarter) as reported 
on the OTC Pink market, was approximately $25,435,287. 

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes ☒ No ☐ 
 
As of March 24, 2025, there were 16,096,296 shares of Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, outstanding. 
 

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 
 

Certain information required to be disclosed in Part III of this report is incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive proxy statement or an amendment to this report, 
which will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report. 
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

This report, including, without limitation, statements under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations,” includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”). These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including 
the words “believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “may,” “will,” “potential,” “projects,” 
“predicts,” “continue,” “could” or “should,” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, 
although not all forward-looking statements are accompanied by such terms. There can be no assurance that actual results will 
not materially differ from expectations. Such statements include, but are not limited to, any statements regarding our intentions, 
beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, financial 
or operational prospects, growth, strategies, and possible business combinations and the financing thereof, and related matters, 
and any other statements that are not statements of current or historical facts. 
 
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on 
circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions and are not 
guarantees of future performance. Actual results may differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements due 
to various factors, including, but not limited to those described in the “Business” and “Risk Factors” section of this report and 
the following: 
 
Risks Related to our Business and Financial Condition 
   

● we currently have no revenues and limited operations and assets, which makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future
business prospects and there is a risk we may eventually exhaust the capital resources we had when we emerged from 
bankruptcy; 

   
● our only material assets are cash on hand, the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation, claims that the Company may 

have against other parties, and NOLs; 
   
● the Company’s actual financial results following our emergence from bankruptcy are not comparable to the 

Company’s historical financial information; 
   
● we depend on the new Board of Directors and newly appointed management to continue navigating our emergence 

from the Chapter 11 Cases and contribute to our ability to realize future value of our remaining assets, and if we are 
unable to attract, retain, manage, and appropriately compensate our officers and Board of Directors, our ability to meet 
our financial reporting obligations, achieve our anticipated operating costs, and to realize value from our remaining 
assets and litigation claims could be adversely affected; 

   
● we depend on the efforts of consultants and professional service providers to execute our business plan, operations 

and internal controls, and if we lose their services, our business may be severely disrupted; 
   
● our Board of Directors may change our business plan and strategy without stockholder approval, which could alter 

the nature of your investment; 
   
● the Company’s ability to use some or all of its NOLs to offset future income or realize any potential value may be 

limited, and the Internal Revenue Service could challenge the amount, timing and/or use of our NOLs; 
   
● we are or may be subject to risks associated with business combinations, strategic alliances, joint ventures, or 

acquisitions; 
   
● our public shareholders may not be afforded an opportunity to vote on a proposed business combination; 
   
● despite having emerged from bankruptcy, we continue to be subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with 

residual Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings; 
      

  ● cyber incidents or attacks directed at us or disruptions to our information systems could result in information theft, 
data corruption, operational disruption, financial loss and/or reputational damage; 

 
Risks Relating to Claims, Regulation and External Events 
   

● the expenses and awards, if any, attributable to the Foxconn Litigation is uncertain, and no assurances can be provided 
that our claims against Foxconn will be successful or that we will recover any damages as a result thereof; 

   
● we face risks and uncertainties related to ongoing and potential future litigation and claims, as well as regulatory 

actions and governmental investigations and inquiries, for which we will continue to incur significant legal costs and 
may be subject to significant uninsured losses; 
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● we have streamlined our operations following our emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases but legal expenses may 

remain high; 
   
● changes in our operations following our emergence from bankruptcy have reduced our need to maintain insurance 

coverage at previous levels or to carry certain insurance policies, which could make us subject to potential losses and 
unexpected liabilities if there were to be a material loss or an adverse judgment or settlement in any one or more of 
our ongoing legal matters that are not insured which could significantly exceed our ability to pay, which could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company; 

   
● the amount of allowed claims could exceed our estimates, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 

condition, results of operations and prospects; 
   
● changes in laws or regulations, or a failure to comply with any laws and regulations, or any litigation that we may be 

subject to or involved in may adversely affect our business, prospects and results of operations; 
 

Risks Related to Our Securities and Being a Public Company 
   

● our Class A common stock trades on an over-the-counter market and trading in our Class A common stock is highly 
speculative and poses substantial risks; 

   
● in order to protect our ability to utilize our NOLs, our charter includes certain transfer restrictions with respect to our 

stock, which may limit the liquidity of our Class A common stock; 
   
● our Preferred Stock ranks senior to our Class A common stock, which may adversely affect holders of our Class A 

common stock; 
   
● we may issue additional shares of preferred stock or additional shares of Class A common stock, and sales of a 

substantial number of additional shares of our securities would dilute the interest of our stockholders and could cause 
the price of our Class A common stock to decline; 

   
● our charter documents and Delaware law could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could also 

reduce the market price of our stock; 
   
● we remain obligated to continue our SEC reporting, however our ability to meet these obligations timely or at all may 

be limited; and 
   
● the other risks and uncertainties described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this report and in future filings. 
 

The Company’s stockholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only 
as of the date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required by law. 
 
The Company’s stockholders are cautioned that trading in shares of our Class A common stock is highly speculative. Trading 
prices for our Class A common stock may bear little or no relation to actual value, if any. In addition, our Third Amended and 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (our “charter”) contains certain trading restrictions, which are designed to support our 
efforts to preserve our net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) and other tax attributes and generally restrict transactions 
involving any person or group of persons that is or as a result of such a transaction would become a substantial stockholder 
(i.e., would beneficially own, directly or indirectly, 4.5% or more of all issued and outstanding shares of Class A common 
stock). Accordingly, we urge extreme caution with respect to existing and future investments in our Class A common stock. 
 
Unless the context indicates otherwise, references in this report to the “Company,” “Lordstown,” “Debtors,” “we,” “us,” “our” 
and similar terms refer to Nu Ride Inc. (f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp.; f/k/a DiamondPeak Holdings Corp.) and its consolidated 
subsidiaries (including Legacy Lordstown (as defined below)). 
 
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all shares of our Class A common stock are presented after giving effect to the 1:15 
reverse stock split of the outstanding Class A common stock, which became effective on May 24, 2023. 
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PART I 
 

Item 1: Business. 
 
Overview 
 
On June 27, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), Lordstown Motors Corp., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries 
(“Lordstown,” the “Company,” or the “Debtors”), filed voluntary petitions for relief (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) under Chapter 
11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of 
Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”). 
 
In connection with the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company ceased production and sales of its flagship vehicle, the Endurance, and 
new program development and continued its cost-cutting actions that included significant personnel reductions. On September 
29, 2023, the Company entered into the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement (as defined below) to sell specified assets related to 
the design, production and sale of electric light duty vehicles focused on the commercial fleet market free and clear of liens, 
claims, encumbrances, and other interests. The purchaser assumed certain specified liabilities of the Company and paid $10.2 
million in cash in a transaction that closed on October 27, 2023 (discussed below under “Sale of Certain Assets to LandX”). 
The Company’s remaining assets following the closing of the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement consist largely of cash on 
hand, the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation (as defined below), claims that the Company may have against other parties, 
as well as net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) and other tax attributes. 
 
Following emergence from bankruptcy in March 2024, the near-term operations of the Company consist of (a) claims 
administration under the Second Modified First Amended Joint Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors (the 
“Plan”), (b) addressing the Foxconn Litigation, (c) prosecuting, pursuing, compromising, settling, or otherwise disposing of 
other retained causes of action, (d) defending the Company against any counterclaims and (e) filing Exchange Act reports and 
satisfying other regulatory requirements. 
 
In the future, the Company may explore potential business opportunities, including strategic alternatives or business 
combinations. No assurances can be made that the Company will be successful in prosecuting any claim or cause of action or 
that any strategic alternative or business combination will be identified and/or would result in profitable operations. The 
Company anticipates that the prosecution of claims and causes of action and the evaluation and pursuit of potential strategic 
alternatives will be costly, complex, and risky. 
 
Sale of Certain Assets to LandX 
 
On September 29, 2023, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “LandX Asset Purchase Agreement”) 
with LAS Capital LLC and Mr. Stephen S. Burns, an individual, as guarantor of certain obligations of LAS Capital under the 
LandX Asset Purchase Agreement. The LandX Asset Purchase Agreement was assigned to LAS Capital’s affiliate, LandX 
Motors Inc. (the assignee and “Purchaser”) and approved by the Bankruptcy Court on October 18, 2023. The closing of the 
transactions contemplated by the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement occurred on October 27, 2023, at which time the Purchaser 
acquired certain assets held for sale related to the design, production and sale of electric light duty vehicles focused on the 
commercial fleet market free and clear of liens, claims, encumbrances, and other interests, assumed certain specified liabilities, 
and paid $10.2 million in cash. Following consummation of the sale, the Company’s investment banker was paid a transaction 
fee of $2.0 million after crediting certain other fees. 
 
Emergence From Bankruptcy 
 
On January 31, 2024, the Debtors filed the Plan, which incorporated, among other things, a settlement (the “Ohio Securities 
Litigation Settlement”) of claims against the Debtors and certain directors and officers of the Debtors that were serving in such 
roles as of December 12, 2023, asserted in, or on the same or similar basis as those claims asserted in, the securities class action 
captioned In re Lordstown Motors Corp. Securities Litigation (the “Ohio Securities Litigation”). The Plan also included, as a 
condition to confirmation of the Plan, that the SEC approve an offer of settlement submitted by the Debtors to resolve the 
SEC’s claim against the Company (the “SEC Claim”). See Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies - Ohio Securities Class 
Action and - SEC Claim for additional information. 
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On March 5, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered a confirmation order confirming the Plan. Following the entry of the 
confirmation order and all conditions to effectiveness of the Plan being satisfied, the Debtors emerged from bankruptcy on 
March 14, 2024 (the “Effective Date”) under the name “Nu Ride Inc.” Upon emergence, the SEC Claim was deemed withdrawn 
pursuant to the terms of the settlement with the SEC and the confirmation order. Upon emergence, a new Board of Directors 
was appointed pursuant to the Plan and all remaining full-time employees, including the Company’s pre-emergence executive 
officers, were terminated. Some of those employees continue to provide services to the Company as consultants. The 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who is its sole executive officer, was elected by the new Board of Directors in accordance 
with the Plan, as of the Company’s emergence. 
 
Upon emergence, the Company’s primary operations are: (i) resolving claims filed in the bankruptcy, (ii) prosecuting the 
Foxconn Litigation (as defined below), (iii) pursuing, compromising, settling or otherwise disposing of other retained causes 
of action of the Company, and (iv) identifying potential transactions, including business combinations, or otherwise, that could 
create value. 
 
Foxconn Litigation 
 
In the years prior to the Company’s filing for bankruptcy protection, the Company entered into a series of transactions with 
affiliates of Foxconn, beginning with the Agreement in Principle that was announced on September 30, 2021, pursuant to which 
the Company entered into definitive agreements to sell our manufacturing facility in Lordstown, Ohio under an asset purchase 
agreement (the “Foxconn APA”) and outsource manufacturing of the Endurance to Foxconn under a contract manufacturing 
agreement (the “CMA”). On November 7, 2022, the Company entered into an investment agreement with Foxconn under which 
Foxconn agreed to make additional equity investments in the Company (the “Investment Agreement”). The Investment 
Agreement superseded and replaced an earlier joint venture agreement. 
 
On June 27, 2023, the Company commenced an adversary proceeding against Foxconn (the “Foxconn Litigation”) in the 
Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for fraudulent and tortious conduct as well as breaches of the Investment Agreement and other 
agreements, the parties’ joint venture agreement, the Foxconn APA, and the CMA that the Company believes were committed 
by Foxconn. As set forth in the complaint relating to the adversary proceeding, the Company believes Foxconn’s actions have 
caused substantial harm to the Company’s operations and prospects and caused significant damages. 
 
On September 29, 2023, Foxconn filed a motion to dismiss all counts of the Foxconn Litigation and brief in support of the 
same (the “Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss”), asserting that all of the Company’s claims are subject to binding 
arbitration provisions and that the Company has failed to state a claim for relief. The Company believes that the Foxconn 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss is without merit and, on November 6, 2023, the Company filed an opposition to Foxconn’s 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss. Foxconn filed a reply in support of the Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss on November 30, 
2023. On December 7, 2023, the Company and its equity committee (the “Equity Committee”) filed a notice of completion of 
briefing, which provided that the briefing of the Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss has been completed and such motion 
is ready for disposition. 
 
On August 1, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered an opinion and order partially denying and partially granting the Foxconn 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss, which was subsequently amended on October 1, 2024. Nine of the Company’s claims survived 
the motion to dismiss on the grounds that the Company pled viable claims against Foxconn and the claims were not subject to 
mandatory arbitration. The Court also dismissed two of the Company’s claims in favor of arbitration. The order is presently 
being appealed by Foxconn. The Bankruptcy Court has stayed litigation of the claims that it ruled were not subject to arbitration 
pending that appeal. The Court also allowed that the two dismissed claims should proceed to arbitration. The Company is 
vigorously pursuing this litigation. Any net proceeds from the Foxconn Litigation may enhance the recoveries for holders of 
claims and equity interests of shareholders (“Interests”), as set forth in the Plan. However, no assurances can be provided as to 
the Company having sufficient resources to pursue the Foxconn Litigation, or the outcome or recoveries, if any. See Note 9 - 
Commitments and Contingencies - Foxconn Litigation for additional information. 
 
Employees 
 
As of March 31, 2025, the Company had no full-time employees. William Gallagher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, 
is a principal of M3 Partners, LP (“M3 Partners”). M3 Partners served as the Equity Committee’s financial consultant during 
the bankruptcy proceedings. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company engaged M3 Partners to provide executive 
management and support services pursuant to the terms of an engagement agreement (the “Engagement Agreement”). Mr. 
Gallagher has been, and will remain, employed by M3 Partners and will provide his services pursuant to the Engagement 
Agreement.  
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Corporate History and Information 
 
Lordstown Motors Corp., originally known as DiamondPeak Holdings Corp. (“DiamondPeak”), was incorporated in Delaware 
on November 13, 2018, as a blank check company for the purpose of effecting a business combination and completed its initial 
public offering in March 2019. On October 23, 2020 (the “Closing Date”), DiamondPeak consummated the merger pursuant 
to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 1, 2020 (the “Business Combination Agreement”), by and among 
DiamondPeak, DPL Merger Sub Corp. (“Merger Sub”) and Lordstown Motors Corp. (“Legacy Lordstown” and now known as 
Lordstown EV Corporation), pursuant to which Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Lordstown, with Legacy Lordstown 
surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of DiamondPeak (the “Merger” and, together with the other transactions 
contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, the “Business Combination”). On the Closing Date, and in connection 
with the closing of the Business Combination, DiamondPeak changed its name to Lordstown Motors Corp. The Business 
Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles 
(“GAAP”). Under this method of accounting, DiamondPeak was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting 
purposes. Operations prior to the Business Combination are those of Legacy Lordstown and the historical financial statements 
of Legacy Lordstown became the historical financial statements of the combined company, upon the consummation of the 
Business Combination. Upon the Effective Date, the Company changed its name to Nu Ride Inc. In connection with its 
emergence from bankruptcy, the Company relocated its headquarters from Lordstown, Ohio to New York, New York. The 
Company remains incorporated in Delaware. 
 
The mailing address of our principal executive office is 1700 Broadway, 19th Floor, New York, New York 10019 c/o M3 
Partners, L.P. Our telephone number is (212) 202-2200. Our website address is www.nurideinc.com. Information contained on 
our website or connected thereto does not constitute part of, and is not incorporated by reference into, this report. 
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors. 
 
You should carefully consider all of the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this report, 
including the financial statements. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations 
may be materially and adversely affected. The risk factors described below are not necessarily exhaustive and the Company’s 
stockholders are encouraged to perform your own investigation with respect to us and our business. 
 
Risks Related to our Business and Financial Condition 
 
We currently have no revenues and limited operations and assets, which makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future 
business prospects and there is a risk we may eventually exhaust the capital resources we had when we emerged from 
bankruptcy. 
 
We are a company with a limited operating history and very limited revenue prior to commencing the Chapter 11 Cases. Shortly 
after the Petition Date, we ceased production of the Endurance and new program development. On August 8, 2023, the 
Bankruptcy Court approved our procedures for conducting a comprehensive marketing and sale process for some, all, or 
substantially all of our operating assets. On September 29, 2023, we entered into the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement. As a 
result, we do not hold assets that are of the type that were previously used in our operations. We cannot provide assurances as 
to the value of our assets, including potential recoveries in the Foxconn litigation and other retained causes of action or our 
NOLs. 
 
Further, we continue to maintain or develop relationships with vendors and other third parties, including those providing 
services that are integral to maintaining our financial, information technology and other systems used to operate. We may face 
higher costs and limited opportunities to establish favorable terms and conditions for these relationships in light of our financial 
condition and business prospects. This may further hinder our ability to maintain adequate financial, information technology 
and management processes, controls and procedures and pursue possible future business opportunities. 
 
As the Company currently has limited operations and assets the value of which is uncertain, there is a risk that we will exhaust 
the assets we had when we emerged from bankruptcy. We have no significant income-generating assets and limited financial 
resources. We anticipate relying upon the allowed funds allocated by the Bankruptcy Court to sustain operating expenses, 
unless or until the consummation of a business combination or we are able to successfully prosecute claims and causes of action 
or secure additional funding, if at all. We cannot provide any assurance that we will identify a suitable business opportunity, 
consummate a business combination or that our choice of business combination will result in profitable operations, the ability 
to generate cash. Moreover, there can be no assurance that financing will be available to us on favorable terms and timing or 
at all.  

Case 23-10831-MFW    Doc 1592-1    Filed 11/06/25    Page 8 of 68



8 

Our only material assets are cash on hand, the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation, claims that the Company may 
have against other parties, and NOLs. 
 
As a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act), our only material assets are cash on hand and intangible 
assets, including the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation, claims the Company may have against other parties and NOLs. 
As of December 31, 2024, we had $29.5 million cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments, excluding restricted 
short-term investments. For the foreseeable future, our principal source of revenue and cash flow will be investment income 
from our investment portfolio, if any. We anticipate relying upon such liquid assets to sustain operating expenses, unless or 
until the consummation of a business combination or we are able to secure additional funding, if at all. We cannot provide any 
assurance of the timing or amount, if any, of proceeds received on account of our causes of action and claims, or that we will 
identify a suitable business opportunity, consummate a business combination or that our choice of business combination will 
result in profitable operations, the ability to generate cash or preserve the value of our NOLs. Moreover, there can be no 
assurance that financing will be available to us on favorable terms and timing or at all. 
 
The Company’s actual financial results following our emergence from bankruptcy is not comparable to the Company’s 
historical financial information. 
 
Due to the Company’s actions to cut costs and preserve cash, the Chapter 11 Cases and consummation of the LandX Asset 
Purchase Agreement, the nature of our business activities upon emergence is materially different from those prior to filing the 
Chapter 11 Cases on June 27, 2023. We expect our operating losses to continue to be significant, as restructuring activities, 
operating expenses, the claims administration process, the Foxconn Litigation and other retained causes of action, among other 
activities, significantly impact our consolidated financial results. Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, which includes certain 
exceptions, the Claims Ombudsman will have the authority to settle, litigate or otherwise resolve general unsecured Claims 
against the Debtors. We cannot provide any assurances regarding what our total actual liabilities based on such claims will be, 
and our historical financial performance is not indicative of our financial performance after the Effective Date. 
 
In particular, the amount and composition of our assets and liabilities is significantly different as a result of the Chapter 11 
Cases, and the description of our operations, assets, liabilities, contingencies, liquidity and capital resources included in our 
periodic reports or in any filing we have made or may make with the Bankruptcy Court may not accurately reflect such matters 
following the Chapter 11 Cases or the value of our remaining assets and liquidity in light of the uncertainty of the estimates 
and assumptions used in the applicable reporting principles, and such values may be higher or lower as a result. 
 
The composition of our Board of Directors has changed significantly. 
 
Pursuant to the Plan, the composition of our Board of Directors changed significantly. Following our emergence from Chapter 
11, our Board of Directors consists of five directors, none of whom had previously served on our Board of Directors. The new 
directors have different backgrounds, experiences and perspectives from those who previously served on our Board of Directors 
and thus may have different views on the issues that will determine our future. 
 
We depend on the new Board of Directors and newly appointed management to continue navigating our emergence from 
the Chapter 11 Cases and contribute to our ability to realize future value of our remaining assets, and if we are unable to 
attract, retain, manage, and appropriately compensate our officers and Board of Directors, our ability to meet our financial 
reporting obligations, achieve our anticipated operating costs, and to realize value from our remaining assets and litigation 
claims could be adversely affected. 
 
Our ability to realize the value of our remaining assets is based on the service of our new Board of Directors and newly 
appointed management. We may not be able to attract, appropriately compensate, incentivize or retain our new officers and the 
new Board. As of the Effective Date, the employment by the Company of our remaining executive officers and employees 
ended. Some of our former employees were, and others may be, subject to claims and risks of litigation for which 
indemnification may be uncertain. We may not be able to attract and retain the services of such individuals, who work for us 
on an at-will basis and will provide limited support after the Effective Date. 
 
Following our emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, our operations are limited. If we increase our operations in the future, 
we may need to hire and train additional personnel. If our Chief Executive Officer becomes unable or unwilling to continue 
providing his services to us, we might not be able to replace him in a timely manner, or at all, and if we are unable to attract, 
retain, manage, and appropriately compensate our officers and Board of Directors, our ability to meet our financial reporting 
obligations, achieve our anticipated operating costs, and to realize value from our remaining assets and litigation claims could 
be adversely affected.  
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We depend on the efforts of consultants and professional service providers to execute our business plan, operations and 
internal controls, and if we lose their services, our business may be severely disrupted. 
 
We do not have any full-time employees and we have engaged third parties to perform the work needed to run and support our 
operations and meet our financial reporting requirements as a public company as well as other regulatory requirements. Our 
business operations depend on the efforts of consultants and professional service providers to execute our business plan, 
operations and internal controls, including all of our financial reporting and claims reconciliation. If our key consultants become 
unable or unwilling to continue providing their services to us, we might not be able to replace them in a timely manner, or at 
all. It is impossible to predict what, if any, errors, delays, breaches or system disruptions might occur as the result of changes 
in third party consultants or a reduced workforce. We may incur additional expenses to recruit and retain qualified replacements. 
As a result, our business may be severely disrupted and our financial condition and results of operations may be materially and 
adversely affected. Any failure of such third parties to work effectively and to execute our plans following emergence from the 
Chapter 11 Cases, including our efforts to realize value from our remaining assets including through resolving and pursuing 
litigation and other claims, could adversely affect the Company. 
 
Our Board of Directors may change our business plan and strategy without stockholder approval, which could alter the 
nature of your investment. 
 
Our Board of Directors is developing and reviewing its business plan and strategy for the Company and determining what is in 
the best interest of our stockholders. This business plan and strategy may change over time. The methods of implementing our 
business plan and strategy may vary, as trends emerge and opportunities develop. Our business plan and strategy, the methods 
for its implementation, and our other objectives, may be altered by our Board of Directors without the approval of our 
stockholders. As a result, the nature of your investment could change without your consent. 
 
The Company’s ability to use some or all of its NOLs to offset future income or realize any potential value may be limited. 
 
At December 31, 2024, the Company had approximately $1,087.6 million and $843.4 million of federal and state and local 
NOLs, respectively. The Company’s ability to use some or all of these NOLs is subject to certain limitations. Under Section 
382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation (or a consolidated group) undergoes an “ownership change,” the use of its 
NOLs may be subject to certain limitations. In general, an ownership change occurs if the aggregate stock ownership of certain 
shareholders (generally five percent shareholders, applying certain look-through and aggregation rules) increases by more than 
50% over such shareholders’ lowest percentage ownership during the testing period (generally three years). 
 
The Company and its advisors conducted a preliminary analysis to determine if an ownership change has occurred since 
November 2020 and to determine if our other tax attributes are limited by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, and 
believe an ownership change has not occurred. However, the Company has not completed or received a formal opinion from 
any authority confirming the preliminary analysis. Whether the Company underwent or will undergo an ownership change 
depends on the application of certain laws that are uncertain in several respects. 
 
The Internal Revenue Service could challenge the amount, timing and/or use of our NOL carryforwards. 
 
The amount of our NOL carryforwards has not been audited or otherwise validated by the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”). 
Among other things, the IRS could challenge whether an ownership change has occurred since November 2020, as well as the 
amount, the timing and/or our use of our NOLs. Any such challenge, if successful, could significantly limit our ability to utilize 
a portion or all of our NOLs. In addition, calculating whether an ownership change has occurred within the meaning of Section 
382 of the Code is subject to inherent uncertainty, both because of the complexity of applying Section 382 of the Code and 
because of limitations on a publicly-traded company’s knowledge as to the ownership of, and transactions in, its securities. 
Therefore, the calculation of the amount of our utilizable NOL carryforwards could be changed as a result of a successful 
challenge by the IRS or as a result of new information about the ownership of, and transactions in, our securities. If the IRS 
successfully asserts that the Company did undergo, or the Company otherwise does undergo, an ownership change, the 
limitation on its NOLs under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code would likely have a material adverse effect on the value 
of the Company’s stock and its ability to consummate a business combination. 
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We are or may be subject to risks associated with business combinations, strategic alliances, joint ventures, or acquisitions. 
 
In the future, the Company expects to investigate and, if such investigation warrants, enter into a business combination, acquire 
a target company or business or enter into strategic alliances, including joint ventures, minority equity investments or other 
transactions and arrangements with one or more third parties seeking the perceived advantages of being a publicly traded 
corporation. These business opportunities may be complex and could subject us to a number of risks. The time and costs 
required to select and evaluate a target business and to structure and complete a business combination cannot presently be 
ascertained. We may not have sufficient resources to consummate a business combination. It is also impossible to predict the 
manner in which the Company may participate in a business opportunity. Potentially available business combinations may 
occur in many different industries and at various stages of development, all of which will make the task of comparative 
investigation and analysis of such business opportunities difficult and complex. There can be no assurance that an attractive 
business opportunity will be identified, be available on acceptable terms, that financing will be available to consummate any 
transaction or that it would result in profitable operations, generation of cash flow, or preserve the value of our NOLs. 
 
Our public shareholders may not be afforded an opportunity to vote on a proposed business combination. 
 
We may choose not to hold a shareholder vote to approve a business combination if the business combination would not require 
shareholder approval under applicable law or stock exchange listing requirement. For instance, if we were seeking to acquire 
a target business where the consideration we were paying in the transaction was all cash, we would typically not be required to 
seek shareholder approval to complete such a transaction. Except as required by applicable law or stock exchange requirement, 
the decision as to whether we will seek shareholder approval of a proposed business combination or will allow shareholders to 
sell their shares to us in a tender offer will be made by us, solely in our discretion, and will be based on a variety of factors, 
such as the timing of the transaction and whether the terms of the transaction would otherwise require us to seek shareholder 
approval. 
 
Despite having emerged from bankruptcy, we continue to be subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with residual 
Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. 
 
We emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy on March 14, 2024. However, we may be subject to residual risks and uncertainties 
associated with Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings. The ultimate impact of events that occurred during, or that may occur 
subsequent to, the Chapter 11 Cases will have on our business, financial condition and results of operations cannot be accurately 
predicted or quantified. We cannot assure you that having been subject to bankruptcy protection will not adversely affect our 
operations going forward. 
 
Cyber incidents or attacks directed at us or disruptions to our information systems could result in information theft, data 
corruption, operational disruption, financial loss and/or reputational damage. 
 
The risk of a security breach, incident, compromise, or disruption, particularly through cyber attack or cyber intrusion, including 
by computer hackers, foreign governments and cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and 
sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Though we do not anticipate collecting 
or storing any significant confidential information related to customers, consumers, employees or vendors, we may be at 
increased risk of disruptions, cyberattacks or security breaches. We depend on digital technologies, including information 
systems, infrastructure and cloud applications and services, including those of third parties with which we may deal. 
Sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security breaches in, our systems or infrastructure, or the systems or infrastructure 
of third parties or the cloud, could lead to corruption or misappropriation of our assets, proprietary information and sensitive 
or confidential data. Since emerging from bankruptcy, our operations have been limited to resolving substantial litigation, 
claims reconciliation and financial reporting. Therefore, we have not adopted any cybersecurity risk management program or 
formal processes for assessing risk, which may make us susceptible to heightened cybersecurity risks. We also depend on third 
parties to provide certain services, and any sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security breaches in, systems or 
infrastructure that we utilize, including those of third parties, could lead to the corruption or misappropriation of our 
information. Because we expect to continue to rely on third parties, we will also depend upon the personnel and the processes 
of third parties to protect against cybersecurity threats, and we will have no personnel or processes of our own for this purpose. 
We may not have sufficient resources to adequately protect against, or to investigate and remediate any vulnerability to, cyber 
incidents. In addition, because we have not adopted any cybersecurity risk management program or formal processes for 
assessing risk, we may be susceptible to heightened cybersecurity risks. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a 
combination of them, could have adverse consequences on our business and lead to financial loss and damage to our reputation. 
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Risks Relating to Claims, Regulation and External Events 
 
The expenses and awards, if any, attributable to the Foxconn Litigation is uncertain, and no assurances can be provided 
that our claims against Foxconn will be successful or that we will recover any damages as a result thereof. 
 
On June 27, 2023, the Company filed the Foxconn Litigation against Foxconn in the Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for 
contractual breaches and fraudulent and tortious actions that the Company believes were committed by Foxconn, which have 
caused substantial harm to our operations and prospects and significant damages. The Foxconn Litigation involves allegations 
of wrongful conduct by Foxconn, which induced the Company to enter into a series of agreements, including the Agreement 
in Principle, the Foxconn APA, the CMA and the Investment Agreement. Pursuant to the Plan, the Foxconn Litigation and 
other causes of action were preserved and continue. No assurances can be provided that our claims against Foxconn will be 
successful or that we will recover any damages as a result thereof or that Foxconn will not assert counterclaims. Furthermore, 
the Company will incur significant costs to pursue the Foxconn Litigation and no assurances can be provided as to the Company 
having sufficient resources to pursue the Foxconn Litigation, the outcome or recoveries, if any. See Note 9 - Commitments and 
Contingencies - Foxconn Litigation for additional information. 
 
Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation and regulatory proceedings, we cannot accurately predict the ultimate outcome 
of the Foxconn Litigation. An unfavorable outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. Regardless of the outcome of the Foxconn Litigation, it is likely to result in substantial expenses and 
require us to devote substantial resources, including management’s time, to it. No assurances can be provided as to the Company 
having sufficient resources to pursue the Foxconn Litigation, the outcome or the timing or amount of recoveries, if any. 
 
We face risks and uncertainties related to ongoing and potential future litigation and claims, as well as regulatory actions 
and government investigations and inquiries, for which we will continue to incur significant legal costs and may be subject 
to significant uninsured losses. 
 
Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, a significant amount of our cash on hand is being used to settle outstanding claims against 
the Company, including litigation claims. We are and have been subject to extensive litigation, including securities class action 
litigation, shareholder derivative suits, a stockholder class action, and an SEC investigation, among other disputes. However, 
we, or our indemnified directors and officers, may be subject to additional litigation and claims in connection with the Chapter 
11 Cases or for claims that were not discharged in the Chapter 11 Cases that may be asserted after our emergence from 
bankruptcy and that may be currently unknown to us and for which we do not have the resources to adequately defend or 
dispute such claims, including, but not limited to those proofs of claim filed as unliquidated. We may in the future be subject 
to, or become a party to, additional litigation, claims, regulatory actions, and government investigations and inquiries, as we 
may be subject to claims by customers, suppliers, vendors, contractors, competitors, government agencies, stockholders or 
other parties regarding our products, development, accidents, advertising, securities, contract and corporate matter disputes, 
intellectual property infringement matters and employee claims against us based on, among other things, discrimination, 
harassment, wrongful termination, disability or violation of wage and labor laws. These proceedings and incidents include 
claims for which we have no or limited insurance coverage. The Company has potential indemnification obligations with 
respect to the current and former directors named in various lawsuits that have been or may be filed, which obligations may 
not be covered by the Company’s applicable directors’ and officers’ insurance. See Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies. 
 
These claims have diverted and may in the future divert our financial and management resources that would otherwise be used 
to benefit our operations, increased our insurance costs and caused reputational harm. We have already incurred, and expect to 
continue to incur, significant legal expenses in defending against any claims not discharged in the Chapter 11 Cases. Further, 
the ongoing expense of lawsuits, investigations and any substantial settlement payment by us or damages award enforceable 
against us could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash 
flows and adversely affect our ability to successfully realize value for our remaining assets. 
 
We cannot provide any assurances as to what our total actual liabilities will be based on any such unliquidated or additional 
claims, and we cannot predict the future costs with respect to any additional claims that were not discharged in the Chapter 11 
Cases. If our actual liabilities or the costs associated with defending any such claims exceeds amounts reserved by us, it could 
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
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We have streamlined our operations following our emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases but legal expenses may remain 
high. 
 
Following our emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company expects to incur significant legal expenses to pursue 
retained causes of action. However, the Company has taken and may continue to take measures to further streamline its 
operations and seek to reduce its general and administrative expenses, which may include, among other things, reducing or no 
longer maintaining insurance coverage, scaling back our information technology systems and reducing our management 
infrastructure. Implementing these measures may adversely impact the Company’s operations and increase liability exposure 
and our susceptibility to other risks inherent to operating the Company with significantly limited resources and personnel. 
 
Changes in our operations following our emergence from bankruptcy have reduced our need to maintain insurance 
coverage at previous levels or to carry certain insurance policies, which could make us subject to potential losses and 
unexpected liabilities if there were to be a material loss or an adverse judgment or settlement in any one or more of our 
ongoing legal matters that are not insured which could significantly exceed our ability to pay, which could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company. 
 
Changes in our operations following our emergence from bankruptcy have reduced our need to maintain insurance coverage at 
previous levels or to carry certain insurance policies. We have, and may continue to seek to reduce or eliminate our insurance 
coverage or certain policies in the future. The Company currently carries directors’ and officers’ insurance. Beyond this 
coverage, we do not maintain any insurance coverage due to our limited operations and the cost of insurance or insurers being 
unwilling to provide coverage at all. Insurance we presently have may expire and we may not be able to obtain replacement 
policies or such policies may require substantially higher cost or have materially lower coverage amounts, or both. If we reduce 
or no longer maintain insurance coverage, we may be subject to potential losses and unexpected liabilities, and if we are not 
able to obtain replacement coverage, the lack of such insurance could have a material adverse effect on the Company if there 
were to be a material loss. 
 
Estimating probable losses requires the analysis of multiple forecasted factors that often depend on judgments and potential 
actions by third parties. Legal fees and costs of litigation or an adverse judgment or settlement in any one or more of our 
ongoing legal matters that are not insured could significantly exceed our ability to pay. This would have a material adverse 
effect on our financial position and results of operations. 
 
The amount of allowed claims could exceed our estimates, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. 
 
The Company is subject to significant contingent liabilities, including the settled Ohio Securities Class Action in which the 
Company is to distribute up to $7 million to stockholders when received, in accordance with the terms of that settlement. See 
Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies for additional information. Although we intend to pay all allowed claims, including 
general unsecured claims, in full with interest as provided by the Plan, there can be no assurance that the Claims Reserve, our 
other assets, or our remaining cash will be sufficient to do so given the uncertainties and risks of the claims dispute and 
settlement process. If the amount of allowed claims exceeds our estimates, this could have a material adverse effect on our 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
 
Changes in laws or regulations, or a failure to comply with any laws and regulations, or any litigation that we may be subject 
to or involved in may adversely affect our business, prospects and results of operations. 
 
We are subject to laws, regulations and rules enacted by national, regional and local governments. In particular, we are required 
to comply with certain SEC and other legal and regulatory requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws, 
regulations and rules may be difficult, time-consuming and costly. 
 
Those laws, regulations and rules and their interpretation and application may also change from time to time and those changes 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects and results of operations. It is difficult to predict what impact, 
if any, changes in federal laws and policies will have on our business and industry or the economy as a whole. The failure to 
comply with applicable laws, regulations or rules, as interpreted and applied, could have a material adverse effect on our 
business and results of operations. 
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We are subject to risks related to health epidemics and pandemics, and natural and man-made disasters, which have and 
may in the future adversely affect our business and financial condition. 
 
We face various risks related to public health issues, including epidemics, pandemics and other outbreaks, including the 
ongoing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as natural disasters, such as earthquakes, floods, snowstorms, typhoon, or 
fires, and the occurrence of geopolitical events such as war, terrorism, civil unrest, political instability, environmental or 
climatic factors. The effects and potential effects of such events, including, but not limited to, their impacts on general economic 
conditions, trade and financing markets and continuity in business operations, create significant uncertainty. 
 
Risks Related to Our Securities and Being a Public Company 
 
Our Class A common stock trades on an over-the-counter market. 
 
On August 6, 2023, our Class A common stock was delisted from Nasdaq. Our Class A common stock currently trades on the 
OTC Pink Marketplace under the symbol “NRDE”, which is currently the only trading market for our Class A common stock, 
which subjects the Company and our stockholders to certain significant risks including: 
   

● limited availability of market quotations for our securities; 
   
● reduced liquidity for our securities; 
   
● limited amount of news and analyst coverage or no coverage at all; 
   
● decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future; and 
   
● our securities are no longer “covered securities” under the National Securities Markets Improvement Act of 1996, and 

therefore subject to regulation in each state in which we offer securities. 
 

We can provide no assurance that our Class A common stock will continue to trade on this market or any other market, whether 
broker-dealers will continue to provide public quotes of our Class A common stock on this market, whether the trading volume 
of our Class A common stock will be sufficient to provide for an efficient trading market or whether quotes for our Class A 
common stock will continue on this market in the future, which could result in significantly lower trading volumes and reduced 
liquidity for investors seeking to buy or sell our Class A common stock. The ability of our investors to access the capital markets 
may be severely limited or eliminated. Furthermore, because of the limited market and generally low volume of trading in our 
Class A common stock, the price of our Class A common stock is likely to be volatile. 
 
Trading in our Class A common stock is highly speculative and poses substantial risks. 
 
Our capital structure upon our emergence from bankruptcy remained the same as the capital structure upon filing the Chapter 
11 Cases, with our shares Class A common stock, warrants to purchase Class A common stock and Preferred Stock remaining 
outstanding. Existing holders of our Class A common stock may find that their shares have little or no value and the exercise 
price of outstanding warrants is significantly above the current market price of our Class A common stock. Any trading in our 
Class A common stock may be very limited. 
 
The value that may be available to our various stakeholders, including our creditors and stockholders, is uncertain and our 
ability to generate value for stakeholders, if any, will be subject to risks and uncertainties, including, among others, those 
described elsewhere in this report and subsequent filings that we make with the SEC. Accordingly, the Company urges extreme 
caution with respect to existing and future investments in its Class A common stock. 
 
In order to protect our ability to utilize our NOLs, our charter includes certain transfer restrictions with respect to our stock, 
which may limit the liquidity of our Class A common stock. 
 
To reduce the risk of a potential adverse effect on our ability to use our NOLs for U.S. Federal income tax purposes, our charter 
contains, subject to certain exceptions, restrictions with respect to our stock involving any person or group of persons that is or 
as a result of such a transaction would become a substantial stockholder (i.e., would beneficially own, directly or indirectly, 
4.5% of all issued and outstanding shares of Class A common stock). Any transferee receiving shares of Class A common stock 
or Preferred Stock that would result in a violation of such restrictions will not be recognized as a stockholder of the Company 
or entitled to any rights of shareholders, including, without limitation, the right to vote and to receive dividends or distributions, 
whether liquidating or otherwise, in each case, with respect to the shares of stock causing the violation. The NOL restrictions 
may adversely affect the ability of certain holders of our Class A common stock to dispose of or acquire shares of our Class A 
common stock and may have an adverse impact on the liquidity of our stock generally.  

Case 23-10831-MFW    Doc 1592-1    Filed 11/06/25    Page 14 of 68



14 

Our Preferred Stock ranks senior to our Class A common stock, which may adversely affect holders of our Class A common 
stock. 
 
We have issued Preferred Stock to Foxconn that ranks senior to our Class A common stock in priority of distribution rights and 
rights upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, accrues dividends and is convertible into Class A common stock and 
provides associated corporate governance rights and rights with respect to subsequent transactions, which may adversely affect 
and/or limit the influence of holders of our Class A common stock. 
 
The Preferred Stock liquidation preference amount is equal to approximately $30 million, plus accrued dividends of 
approximately $5.5 million as of December 31, 2024. Pursuant to the Plan, the Preferred Stock remains outstanding and its 
rights with respect to its preferred equity, including with respect to any liquidation preference which has or may become due, 
are unimpaired. We would vigorously oppose any assertion of Foxconn’s entitlement to receive the liquidation preference, but 
if we are unsuccessful, it could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 
 
As long as Foxconn, subject to the outcome of the Foxconn Litigation, or another party or concentrated group owns or controls 
a significant percentage of our Preferred Stock or outstanding voting power, they have the ability to have a significant influence 
on our actions and operation of the Board and to influence certain corporate actions requiring stockholder approval, including 
the election of directors, any amendment of our charter and the approval of significant corporate transactions. On a pro forma 
basis, after giving effect to the conversion of its Preferred Stock and accrued dividends (but not the exercise of the Foxconn 
Warrants as they are currently substantially out of the money), Foxconn would hold shares of Class A common stock 
representing approximately 7% of our outstanding Class A common stock as of December 31, 2024. This concentration of 
voting power and other rights could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in management 
and would make the approval of certain transactions difficult or impossible without the support of these significant 
stockholders. Any of the foregoing could impact our ability to run our business and may adversely affect the influence of the 
holders and market price of our Class A common stock. 
 
We may issue additional shares of preferred stock or additional shares of Class A common stock, and sales of a substantial 
number of additional shares of our securities would dilute the interest of our stockholders and could cause the price of our 
Class A common stock to decline. 
 
Our charter provides for 462 million authorized shares of capital stock, consisting of (i) 450 million shares of Class A common 
stock and (ii) 12 million shares of preferred stock, of which 1 million shares has been designated as Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock. 
 
To raise capital, we may seek to sell additional shares of Class A common stock, preferred stock, convertible securities or other 
equity or equity-linked securities in one or more transactions. Such securities may be offered at a price per share that is less 
than the price per share paid by our current stockholders, and investors purchasing shares or other securities in the future could 
have rights superior to existing stockholders. Any such issuance: 
  

● may significantly dilute the equity interest of our then-current stockholders; 
   
● may subordinate the rights of holders of shares of Class A common stock if one or more classes of preferred stock are 

created, and such preferred shares are issued, with rights senior to those afforded to our Class A common stock; 
   
● may have covenants that restrict our financial and operating flexibility; 
   
● could cause a change of control if a substantial number of shares of Class A common stock are issued, which may 

affect, among other things, our ability to use our NOLs, if any, and could result in the resignation or removal of our 
present officers and directors; and 

   
● may adversely affect the prevailing market price for our Class A common stock. 
 

Our charter documents and Delaware law could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and could also 
reduce the market price of our stock. 
 
Our charter and bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change in control of us. These 
provisions could also make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. In addition to 
the matters identified in the risk factors above relating to the provisions of our charter, these provisions include: 
  

● a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms; 
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● limitations in our charter on acquisitions and dispositions of our Class A common stock designed to protect our NOLs 

and certain other tax attributes; and 
   
● authorization for blank check preferred stock, which could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights

superior to our common stock. 
 

These and other provisions in our charter and bylaws and under Delaware law could discourage potential takeover attempts, 
reduce the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of common stock and result in the market price 
of the common stock being lower than it would be without these provisions. 
 
We remain obligated to continue our SEC reporting, however our ability to meet these obligations timely or at all may be 
limited. 
 
We remain required to file periodic reports with the SEC following our emergence from Chapter 11. Further, continuing such 
filings facilitates trading of our Class A common stock, which currently trades on the OTC Pink Marketplace under the symbol 
“NRDE.” If we are unable to meet these obligations timely or at all, the amount of publicly available information concerning 
us and our Class A common stock may decrease substantially, which may limit the ability of our stockholders to sell their 
shares of Class A common stock, and the liquidity and trading prices of our Class A common stock could be further negatively 
impacted. 
 
Failure to maintain an effective internal control over financial reporting may cause our investors to lose confidence in our 
financial and other reports. 
 
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that the combined company file annual reports with respect to our business 
and financial condition. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we include a report of our 
management on our internal control over financial reporting. We are also required to include certifications of our management 
regarding the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures. If we cannot effectively maintain our controls and 
procedures, we could suffer material misstatements in our financial statements and other information it reports which would 
likely cause investors to lose confidence. This lack of confidence could lead to a decline in the trading price of our common 
stock. 
 
Rule 144 will not be available for the resale of our Class A common stock. 
 
Rule 144(i) provides that Rule 144 is not available for the resale of securities initially issued by an issuer that is a shell company 
as defined under Rule 144. As a shell company, the holders of our securities may not rely on Rule 144, a safe harbor on which 
holders of restricted securities may rely to resell securities, to resell their securities without registration or until we are no longer 
identified as a shell company under Rule 144. This will likely make it more difficult for investors to resell our Class A common 
stock. 
 
Securities or industry analysts will likely not publish research or reports about us, and the price and trading volume of our 
Class A common stock could be impaired as a result. 
 
The trading market for our Class A common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts 
may publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. We do not anticipate any analyst coverage, which will limit 
our visibility in the financial markets and could impair our stock price or trading volume. 
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 
 

None. 
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Item 1C. Cybersecurity 
 
Since emerging from bankruptcy, our operations have been limited to resolving substantial litigation, claims reconciliation and 
financial reporting. Therefore, we have not adopted any cybersecurity risk management program or formal processes for 
assessing risk, which may make us susceptible to heightened cybersecurity risks. We also depend on third parties to provide 
certain services, and any sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security breaches in, systems or infrastructure that we 
utilize, including those of third parties, could lead to the corruption or misappropriation of our information, though we do not 
anticipate collecting or storing any significant confidential information related to customers, consumers, employees, or vendors. 
Because we expect to continue to rely on third parties, we will also depend upon the personnel and the processes of third parties 
to protect against cybersecurity threats, and we will have no personnel or processes of our own for this purpose. Our Board is 
generally responsible for the oversight of risks from cybersecurity threats. In the event of a cybersecurity incident impacting 
us, our management team will inform our Board of Directors of the details of such incident as well as the measures taken in 
response to such incident. There can be no assurance that we will have sufficient resources to adequately protect against, or to 
investigate and remediate any vulnerability to, cyber incidents. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination of 
them, could have adverse consequences on our business and lead to financial loss. 
 
Item 2. Properties 
 
The Company does not own any properties. The Company leased space in Lordstown, Ohio from Foxconn under a lease 
agreement pursuant to which Lordstown EV had leased space for Lordstown EV’s Ohio-based employees (the “Lease 
Agreement”), and under two leases in Farmington Hills, Michigan and one lease in Irvine, California. The Lease Agreement, 
one of the Farmington Hills leases, and the Irvine lease were terminated on December 31, 2023, as part of the Chapter 11 Cases. 
The other lease in Farmington Hills was cancelled by its terms on October 31, 2023. 
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
 
For a description of our legal proceedings, see Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 
 

None. 
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PART II 
 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities 
 
Market Information 
 
The Company’s Class A common stock began trading exclusively on the over-the-counter market on July 7, 2023 under the 
symbol “RIDEQ.” On March 14, 2024, upon the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings, the ticker 
symbol changed to “NRDE”. Any over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-
down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions. 
 
Holders 
 
As of March 24, 2025, the shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding were held of record by approximately 52 
holders, which number does not include beneficial owners holding our Class A common stock through nominee names. 
 
Dividend Policy 
 
We have not paid any cash dividends on the Class A common stock to date and are prohibited from paying cash dividends with 
respect to the Class A common stock until we have paid in full any dividends that have accrued with respect to the Preferred 
Stock. We may retain future earnings, if any, for future operations and expansion and have no current plans to pay cash 
dividends for the foreseeable future. Any decision to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of 
the Board and will depend on, among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual 
restrictions and other factors that the Board of Directors may deem relevant. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be 
limited by covenants of any future outstanding indebtedness we or our subsidiaries incur or securities that we issue. 
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities 
 
On May 13, 2024, each of the Company’s directors was granted 52,747 restricted stock units that vest in quarterly increments 
through January 30, 2027 (the “RSU Awards”). Each restricted stock unit represents a contingent right to receive one share of 
the Company’s Class A common stock. The issuance of the RSU Awards was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 
4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. 
 
Purchase of Equity Securities 
 
We did not purchase any of our equity securities during the period covered by this Annual Report. 
 
Item 6. [Reserved] 
 
Item 7. Management’s Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in 
conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A 
are not guarantees of future performance and may involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those projected. Refer to the “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and Part I Item 1A. 
Risk Factors for a discussion of these risks and uncertainties, including without limitation, with respect to the Chapter 11 
Cases, our emergence from bankruptcy and our liquidity, capital resources and financial condition. 
 
On June 27, 2023, Lordstown Motors Corp. and its subsidiaries commenced voluntary proceedings under chapter 11 (the 
“Chapter 11 Cases”) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy 
Court”). On September 1, 2023, we filed with the Bankruptcy Court a plan of reorganization and related disclosure statement 
(as amended from time to time, the “Proposed Plan”). On November 1, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Disclosure 
Statement Order and, thereafter, we solicited votes from their creditors and shareholders for approval of the Proposed Plan. On 
January 31, 2024, we filed the as-approved Proposed Plan with the Bankruptcy Court. On March 5, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court 
entered a confirmation order confirming the Proposed Plan (as confirmed, the “Plan”). Following the entry of the confirmation 
order and all conditions to effectiveness of the Plan being satisfied, we emerged from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024 under the 
name “Nu Ride Inc.”  
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The Bankruptcy Court established October 10, 2023, as the general bar date for all creditors (except governmental entities) to 
file their proofs of claim or interest, and December 26, 2023, as the bar date for all governmental entities, which was extended 
until January 5, 2024, in the case of the SEC. The deadline to assert rejection damage claims and administrative expense claims 
has passed. 
 
Upon emergence: (i) the Foxconn Litigation and other retained causes of action of the Company were preserved and may be 
prosecuted; (ii) claims filed in the bankruptcy will continue to be resolved pursuant to the claims resolution process with 
allowed claims being treated in accordance with the Plan; (iii) distributions to holders of allowed claims and allowed Interests 
will be made subject to the provisions of the Plan of Reorganization, and (iv) we will continue to conduct business and may 
enter into transactions, including business combinations, or otherwise, that could permit the Company an opportunity to create 
value, including through use of the NOLs. 
 
Upon emergence, a new Board of Directors was appointed pursuant to the Plan and all remaining full-time employees, including 
the Company’s pre-emergence executive officers, were terminated. The Board of Directors oversees and directs the 
administration of the Company’s operations, in accordance with the Plan and the Company’s charter and by-laws. Some former 
employees continue to provide services to the Company as consultants. Our Chief Executive Officer, who is the sole executive 
officer, was elected by the new Board of Directors in accordance with the Plan, as of the date we emerged from bankruptcy. 
 
Our primary operations during the year ended December 31, 2024 have consisted of actions and related expenditures associated 
with completing the Chapter 11 Cases and emerging from bankruptcy, resolving substantial litigation, claims reconciliation, 
financial reporting and regulatory compliance. Our assets consist of cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, and 
restricted short-term investments. Additional potential assets, such as the Foxconn Litigation claims, claims the Company may 
have against other parties, and NOLs, are not reflected in the financial statements. 
 
In light of our emergence from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024, our results for the year ended December 31, 2024, reflect the 
accounting assumptions and treatment caused by the Chapter 11 Cases and the Plan and may not be representative of our 
operations and results going forward. See Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors for further discussion of the risks associated with our 
emergence from bankruptcy, our liquidity, capital resources and financial condition, and the use of estimates and resulting 
uncertainty in establishing our presented financial results, among other risks. 
 
Results of Operations 
 
Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2024 to December 31, 2023 
 
    (in thousands)   
              

    
For the year ended 
December 31, 2024     

For the year ended 
December 31, 2023   

Net sales ......................................................................................................................    $ —     $ 2,340  
Cost of sales ................................................................................................................      —       91,550  
Operating (income) expenses ......................................................................................                 

Selling, general and administrative expenses .........................................................     12,903       54,413  
Research and development expenses ......................................................................     —       33,343  
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net .............................................................     (6,033 )     —  
Reorganization items ..............................................................................................     4,022       31,206  
Impairment of property, plant, & equipment and intangibles .................................     —       140,726  

Total operating expense, net ...............................................................................    $ 10,892     $ 259,688  
Loss from operations ...................................................................................................      (10,892 )     (348,898) 

Other income (expense):                
Loss on sale of assets ..............................................................................................     —       (916) 
Other (expenses) income, net .................................................................................     (251 )     123  
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale .................................................     257       —  
Investment and interest income ..............................................................................     2,750       6,625  
Loss before income taxes ........................................................................................   $ (8,136 )   $ (343,066) 
Income tax expense (benefit) ..................................................................................     —       —  
Net loss ...................................................................................................................     (8,136 )     (343,066) 
Less accrued preferred stock dividend ....................................................................     2,700       2,494  
Net loss attributable to common shareholders ........................................................   $ (10,836 )   $ (345,560) 

 

Case 23-10831-MFW    Doc 1592-1    Filed 11/06/25    Page 19 of 68



19 

As a result of filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in June 2023 and the significant events that have transpired since 
then, the period-over-period comparisons of our results of operations are not indicative of consistent underlying business 
operations. 
 
Net Sales and Cost of Sales 
 
Upon emergence from bankruptcy as a shell company, there were no sales or cost of sales for the year ended December 31, 
2024. The Company completed homologation and testing and received required certifications enabling sales to begin in the 
fourth quarter of 2022. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, production of the Endurance ended in June 2023. A total of 35 
vehicles were sold in the first nine months of 2023. 
 
Cost of sales totaled $91.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, consisting of $7.6 million in costs associated with 
producing the Endurance, including direct materials net of an adjustment to inventory to reflect its NRV, product warranty 
accruals and other costs related to selling and delivering the vehicles. The Company recorded $54.3 million in manufacturing 
depreciation, a $25.8 million charge to reduce the carrying value of inventory to NRV, and a $4.1 million reserve for potential 
claims from suppliers regarding costs incurred or otherwise that may be owed as a result of the bankruptcy claim reconciliation 
process. 
 
See Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 4 - Property, Plant and Equipment and Assets Held for 
Sale regarding depreciation and inventory charges. 
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expense 
 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) totaled $12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared 
to $54.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. With the Chapter 11 Cases commencing in June 2023, the composition 
of the Company’s SG&A expense is not comparable on a year-over-year basis. 
 
SG&A for the year ended December 31, 2024 consisted primarily of $9.3 million in personnel and professional fees, inclusive 
of $3.4 million in accelerated stock compensation expense, insurance premium amortization of $3.1 million, as well as bad 
debt expense of $0.5 million. 
 
SG&A for the year ended December 31, 2023 consisted primarily of $23.6 million in personnel and professional fees, $8.1 
million in non-reorganization related legal fees and expenses, net litigation settlement related expense of $11.8 million, 
insurance premium amortization of $5.9 million and sales, marketing and overhead costs of $5.0 million. As part of the 
bankruptcy proceedings, the Debtors received authorization from the Bankruptcy Court to repurchase all vehicles that were in 
the possession of our customers. We have repurchased all but two of the vehicles that we sold. The vehicles were sold to an 
automobile recycling company in 2023. The buyer agreed to dismantle the vehicles and sell them for parts or scrap. The 
repurchase of the vehicles and related reversal of the accrued warranty accrual was recognized in SG&A, as a net bankruptcy 
claim settlement credit of approximately $0.5 million. 
 
Research and Development Expense 
 
As a result of the actions taken in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases, there were no research and development (“R&D”) 
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, R&D costs consisted primarily of $24.4 million in personnel costs, $3.2 million in 
outside engineering and consulting services, and $4.5 million in prototype components and other engineering costs incurred 
prior to our filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. 
 
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net 
 
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net totaling $6.0 million represents adjustments to accrued liabilities subject to 
compromise from claims as a result of the final settlement of claims. Given that claims began to be settled in 2024, no legal 
settlement and litigation benefit, net was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2023. 
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Reorganization Items 
 
Reorganization items represent the expenses directly and incrementally resulting from the Chapter 11 Cases filed on June 27, 
2023. For the year ended December 31, 2024, reorganization items consisted of $3.1 million in legal fees and $0.9 million in 
consulting fees. The reorganization items include costs incurred by us as well as those incurred by the official Unsecured 
Creditors Committee and official Equity Committee, for which we are responsible. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, reorganization items consisted of $16.2 million in legal fees, $7.3 million in consulting 
fees and $7.7 million in potential bankruptcy claims and settlements. 
 
Impairment of property, plant, and equipment, prepaid expenses, and other intangibles 
 
As of December 31, 2023, property, plant and equipment and other intangibles were reviewed for potential impairment for 
recoverability. In prior periods, fair value of the Company’s property, plant, and equipment was derived from the Company’s 
enterprise value at the time of impairment as the Company believed it represented the most appropriate fair value of the asset 
group in accordance with accounting guidance. In light of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company valued its property, plant and 
equipment based on its estimate of residual and salvage values, resulting in an impairment charge of $134.7 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2023. See Note 4 - Property, Plant and Equipment and Assets Held For Sale for additional details 
regarding our impairment. Additionally, for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized an impairment of 
$6.0 million related to other intangible assets. 
 
No such impairment charges were incurred for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $23.1 million, short-term investments of approximately $6.4 
million, excluding restricted short-term investments of approximately $23.4 million, an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion at 
December 31, 2024, and a net loss of $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Our liquidity and ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon, among other things: (i) the resolution of significant 
contingent and other claims, liabilities (see Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies) and (ii) the outcome of our efforts to 
realize value, if any, from the Company’s retained causes of action, including the Foxconn Litigation, and other remaining 
assets. 
 
We have incurred significant professional fees and other costs in connection with preparation for and prosecution of the Chapter 
11 Cases and expect to continue to incur significant professional fees and costs. In addition, we are subject to significant 
contingent unliquidated liabilities, the full scope of which is uncertain at this time (see Note 9 - Commitments and 
Contingencies). Furthermore, under the Plan, we are conducting a process to reconcile the claims asserted that has resulted in 
approximately $23.4 million of the Company’s short-term investments being restricted for settling outstanding claims against 
the Company, including litigation and indemnification claims. Pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, the Company is first required 
to pay all administrative claims in full. Under the Plan, the Company established an escrow for the payment of certain 
professional fees incurred in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases (“Professional Fee Escrow”), which was fully paid out as 
of September 30, 2024. The Professional Fee Escrow was established based upon estimates and assumptions as of the date the 
Company emerged from bankruptcy. The Plan also required the Company to establish a $45 million reserve for allowed and 
disputed claims of general unsecured creditors (the “Claims Reserve”), including interest (although there can be no assurance 
the Company will be able to pay such claims in full, with interest). As of December 31, 2024, $22.6 million was included in 
short-term investments, which represents the initial Claims Reserve of $45 million, less $22.4 million which was released from 
the Claims Reserve related to the claims reconciliation process including $13.8 million of payments to creditors in connection 
with the Plan and $8.6 million released from the Claims Reserve as a result of claim settlements that were less than the Claims 
Reserve. Pursuant to the Plan (which includes certain exceptions), upon emergence (i) the Claims Ombudsman was appointed 
to oversee the administration of claims asserted against the Company by general unsecured creditors and (ii) a trustee was 
appointed to oversee the litigation claims held by the trust, which may be funded with certain retained causes of action of the 
Company, as determined by the Board. Holders of certain unsecured claims are expected to be entitled to receive post-petition 
interest on their claim amount as of the later of the date the claim was due to be paid, or the petition date. Therefore, if the 
claims resolution process takes longer than anticipated, the total liability to settle claims will increase to reflect the increased 
interest expense. 
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The amount of the Claims Reserve is subject to change and could increase materially if amounts paid in respect of unliquidated 
claims are greater than anticipated. The Claims Reserve is adjusted downward as payments are made for allowed claims, and 
may also be adjusted downward as claims are resolved or otherwise as a result of the claims resolution process. There is also 
risk of additional litigation and claims that may be asserted after the Chapter 11 Cases against the Company or its indemnified 
directors and officers that may be known or unknown and the Company may not have the resources to adequately defend or 
dispute such claims due to the Chapter 11 Cases. The Company cannot provide any assurances as to what the Company’s total 
actual liabilities will be based on any such claims. To the extent that the Claims Reserve is insufficient to pay general unsecured 
creditors in full with interest, such deficiency will be payable from certain other assets of the Company, as set forth in the Plan. 
 
Our assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, the Foxconn Litigation claims, claims the Company 
may have against other parties and NOLs. 
 
See Risk Factors under Part I - Item 1A above for further discussion of the risks associated with our limited capital resources 
and loss exposures, among other risks. 
 
Summary of Cash Flows 
 
The following table provides a summary of the Company’s cash flow data for the period indicated: 
 

    
Year ended 

December 31, 2024     
Year ended 

December 31, 2023   
Net cash used in operating activities ...........................................................................    $ (35,077 )   $ (137,166) 
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities .....................................................    $ (28,818 )   $ 102,904  
Net cash used in financing activities ...........................................................................    $ (106 )   $ —  
 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 
 
Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $102.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 2023. 
The decrease of cash used in operating activities, was principally due to the cessation of operations as a result of the Chapter 
11 Cases. The Company’s net loss, as adjusted to reconcile cash used by operating activities was $343.1 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2023, compared to $8.1 million for same period of 2024. The net loss, as adjusted to reconcile cash used 
by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 included non-cash impairment charges of $140.7 million, $24.1 
million related to the write down of inventory and prepaid inventory, $0.9 million for the loss on disposal of fixed assets, $7.4 
million of stock-based compensation, and $54.4 million in depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, 
partially offset by $2.2 million of other non-cash charges. The $35.1 million of cash used in operating activities for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 was comprised of the $8.1 million net loss for the period, a $34.9 million increase in accounts 
payable and accrued expenses, and $0.3 million realized gain on debt securities available for sale, partially offset by stock-
based compensation of $3.5 million and a decrease in prepaid expenses of $4.7 million. 
 
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities 
 
Cash used for investing activities was $28.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to cash provided by 
investing activities of $102.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase of cash used in investing activities 
included $38.8 million in the purchase of short-term investments, offset by $10.0 million in maturities of short-term investments 
for the year ended December 31, 2024. Investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023, included $134.2 million in 
maturities of short-term investments, offset by $32.1 million in purchases of short-term investments and $10.2 million in 
purchases of property, plant, and equipment. 
 
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2024, financing activities were limited to tax withholding payments related to net-settled 
restricted stock compensation associated with the Company’s 2020 Plan. The Company did not engage in any financing 
activities during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company has no obligations, assets or liabilities, which would be considered off-balance sheet arrangements as of 
December 31, 2024. The Company does not participate in transactions that create relationships with unconsolidated entities or 
financial partnerships, often referred to as variable interest entities, which would have been established for the purpose of 
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements. The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet financing arrangements, 
established any special purpose entities, guaranteed any debt or commitments of other entities, or purchased any non-financial 
assets. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise 
 
Since filing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company has operated as a debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy 
Court and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. In the accompanying Balance Sheet, the 
“Liabilities subject to compromise” line is reflective of expected allowed claim amounts in accordance with ASC 852-10 and 
are subject to change materially based on the proceedings and continued consideration of claims that may be modified, allowed, 
or disallowed. Refer to Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies for further detail. 
 
Recent Accounting Standards 
 
See Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated Financial Statements for more information about 
recent accounting pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and management’s assessment, to the extent they have made 
one, of their potential impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 
 
On December 31, 2024, we had cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, and restricted short-term investments of 
approximately $52.8 million. We believe that a 10 basis point change in interest rates is reasonably possible in the near term. 
Based on our current level of investment, an increase or decrease of 10 basis points in interest rates would not have a material 
impact to our cash balances. 
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
 

Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
 
Nu Ride, Inc. 
 
New York, New York 
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Nu Ride, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024, 
the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company at December 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered 
with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with 
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal 
control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
 
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on 
a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 
Critical Audit Matter 
 
Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were 
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are 
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. 
We determined that there are no critical audit matters. 
 
(Signed BDO USA, P.C.) 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2024. 
 
Detroit, MI 
 
March 28, 2025 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
 
Nu Ride, Inc. 
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Nu Ride Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 
31, 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
 
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for Segment 
Reporting as of January 1, 2024 due to the adoption of ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to 
Reportable Segment Disclosures. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such 
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 
 

/s/ KPMG LLP 
 

We have served as the Company’s auditor from 2020 to 2024. 
 
San Francisco, CA 
 
February 28, 2024, except as it relates to the adoption of Topic 280 as described in Note 2, as to which the date is March 28, 
2025 
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Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

 
(in thousands except for per share data) 

  
    December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023   

ASSETS                
Current assets:                

Cash and cash equivalents ......................................................................................   $ 23,095     $ 87,096  
Short-term investments ...........................................................................................     6,371       —  
Short-term investments, restricted ..........................................................................     23,370       —  
Prepaid insurance ....................................................................................................     208       2,825  
Other current assets .................................................................................................     139       2,218  

Total current assets .............................................................................................    $ 53,183     $ 92,139  
Other noncurrent assets ...............................................................................................      —       30  

Total assets .........................................................................................................    $ 53,183     $ 92,169  
                 
LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY                

                 
Current liabilities:                

Accounts payable ....................................................................................................   $ 136     $ 933  
Accrued legal and professional ...............................................................................     721       12,815  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities .......................................................     207       1,650  

Total current liabilities .......................................................................................    $ 1,064     $ 15,398  
Liabilities subject to compromise ...............................................................................      9,884       30,467  

Total liabilities ....................................................................................................    $ 10,948     $ 45,865  
                 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9):              
                 
Mezzanine equity                

Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 12,000,000 shares 
authorized; 300,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 
December 31, 2023 .................................................................................................   $ 35,455     $ 32,755  

Stockholders’ equity                
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 450,000,000 shares authorized; 
16,211,365 and 15,953,212 shares issued, 16,096,296 and 15,953,212 shares 
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively ........   $ 24     $ 24  
Additional paid in capital ........................................................................................     1,184,505       1,183,804  
Accumulated other comprehensive income ............................................................     666       —  
Accumulated deficit ................................................................................................     (1,178,415 )     (1,170,279) 
Total stockholders’ equity ......................................................................................   $ 6,780     $ 13,549  
Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and stockholders’ equity ..................................   $ 53,183     $ 92,169  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss 
 

(in thousands except for per share data) 
  

    
For the year ended 
December 31, 2024     

For the year ended 
December 31, 2023   

Net sales ......................................................................................................................    $ —     $ 2,340  
Cost of sales ................................................................................................................      —       91,550  
                 
Operating (income) expenses:                

Selling, general and administrative expenses .........................................................     12,903       54,413  
Research and development expenses ......................................................................     —       33,343  
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net .............................................................     (6,033 )     —  
Reorganization items ..............................................................................................     4,022       31,206  
Impairment of property, plant, & equipment and intangibles .................................     —       140,726  

Total operating expense, net ...............................................................................    $ 10,892     $ 259,688  
                 

Loss from operations ..........................................................................................    $ (10,892 )   $ (348,898) 
                 
Other income (expense):                

Loss on sale of assets ..............................................................................................     —       (916) 
Other (expenses) income, net .................................................................................     (251 )     123  
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale .................................................     257       —  
Investment and interest income ..............................................................................     2,750       6,625  

Loss before income taxes ............................................................................................    $ (8,136 )   $ (343,066) 
Income tax expense (benefit) ..................................................................................     —       —  

Net loss ...............................................................................................................      (8,136 )     (343,066) 
Less accrued preferred stock dividend ........................................................................      2,700       2,494  
Net loss attributable to common shareholders ............................................................    $ (10,836 )   $ (345,560) 
                 
Other comprehensive income:                

Unrealized gain on debt securities available for sale ..............................................     666       —  
                 
Total comprehensive loss ............................................................................................    $ (10,170 )   $ (345,560) 
                 
Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders                

Basic and diluted.....................................................................................................   $ (0.67 )   $ (21.67) 
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding                

Basic and diluted.....................................................................................................     16,067       15,945  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
 

(in thousands) 
 

    Preferred Stock     Common Stock     
Additional 

Paid-In      Accumulated     

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive    
Total 

Stockholders’   
    Shares    Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income    Equity   

Balance at January 1, 2023 ................      300    $ 30,261       15,928    $       24   $ 1,178,960     $ (827,213 )   $              —    $ 351,771   
Restricted stock vesting ...................      —      —       25      —     (65 )     —       —      (65 ) 
Stock-based compensation ...............      —      —       —      —     7,403       —       —      7,403   
Accrual of Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock dividends ................      —      2,494       —      —     (2,494 )     —       —      (2,494 ) 
Net loss ............................................      —      —       —      —     —       (343,066 )     —      (343,066 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2023 ...........      300      32,755       15,953    $ 24     1,183,804       (1,170,279 )   $ —      13,549   
Restricted stock vesting ...................      —      —       143      —     (106 )     —       —      (106 ) 
Stock-based compensation ...............      —      —       —      —     3,507       —       —      3,507   
Accrual of Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock dividends ................      —      2,700       —      —     (2,700 )     —       —      (2,700 ) 
Unrealized gain on available for 
sale debt securities ...........................      —      —       —      —     —       —       666      666   
Net loss ............................................      —      —       —      —     —       (8,136 )     —      (8,136 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2024 ...........      300    $ 35,455       16,096    $ 24   $ 1,184,505     $ (1,178,415 )   $ 666    $ 6,780   
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
 

(in thousands) 
  

    
Year ended 

December 31, 2024     
Year ended 

December 31, 2023   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                

Net loss ...................................................................................................................   $ (8,136 )   $ (343,066) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:                

Stock-based compensation .................................................................................      3,507       7,403  
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale .............................................      (257 )     —  
Loss on disposal of fixed assets .........................................................................      —       916  
Impairment of property plant and equipment and intangible assets ...................      —       140,726  
Depreciation of property plant and equipment ...................................................      —       54,407  
Write down of inventory and prepaid inventory ................................................      —       24,105  
Other non-cash changes .....................................................................................      —       (2,183) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:                
Accounts receivables ..........................................................................................      —       204  
Inventory ............................................................................................................      —       (10,537) 
Prepaid insurance and other assets .....................................................................      4,726       15,742  
Accounts payable ...............................................................................................      (797 )     (11,942) 
Accrued legal and professional ..........................................................................      (12,094 )     —  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities and liabilities subject to 
compromise ........................................................................................................      (22,026 )     (12,941) 

Net cash used in operating activities ..............................................................    $ (35,077 )   $ (137,166) 
                 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                

Purchase of property plant and equipment .............................................................   $ —     $ (10,152) 
Purchase of short-term investments ........................................................................     (38,818 )     (32,147) 
Maturities of short-term investments ......................................................................     10,000       134,203  
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets ....................................................................     —       11,000  

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ............................................    $ (28,818 )   $ 102,904  
                 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                

Tax withholding payments related to net settled restricted stock compensation ....   $ (106 )   $ —  
Net cash used in financing activities ..................................................................    $ (106 )   $ —  

                 
Cash and cash equivalents:                

Net change during the period .............................................................................    $ (64,001 )   $ (34,262) 
Balance, beginning of period..............................................................................      87,096       121,358  
Balance, end of period ........................................................................................    $ 23,095     $ 87,096  

                 
Supplemental cash flow information:                

Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized ..................................................   $ —     $ —  
Cash paid for income taxes .....................................................................................   $ —     $ —  
Cash paid for reorganization items .........................................................................   $ 30,620     $ —  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
NOTE 1 - DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
Description of Business 
 
Overview 
 
On June 27, 2023, Lordstown Motors Corp., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries (“Lordstown,” the 
“Company,” or the “Debtors”), filed voluntary petitions for relief (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) under Chapter 11 of the United 
States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the 
“Bankruptcy Court”). 
 
In connection with the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company ceased production and sales of its flagship vehicle, the Endurance, and 
new program development. Furthermore, the Company continued its cost-cutting actions that included significant personnel 
reductions. On September 29, 2023, the Company entered into the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement (as defined below) to sell 
specified assets related to the design, production and sale of electric light duty vehicles focused on the commercial fleet market 
free and clear of liens, claims, encumbrances, and other interests. The purchaser assumed certain specified liabilities of the 
Company for a total purchase price of $10.2 million in cash in a transaction that closed on October 27, 2023 (discussed below 
under “Sale of Certain Assets to LandX”). The Company’s remaining assets following the closing of the LandX Asset Purchase 
Agreement consist largely of cash on hand, the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation (as defined below), claims that the 
Company may have against other parties, as well as net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and other tax attributes. 
 
Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the near-term operations of the Company consist of (a) claims administration under the 
Second Modified First Amended Joint Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors (the “Plan”), (b) addressing 
the Foxconn Litigation, (c) prosecuting, pursuing, compromising, settling, or otherwise disposing of other retained causes of 
action, (d) defending the Company against any counterclaims and (e) filing Exchange Act reports and satisfying other 
regulatory requirements. 
 
In the future, the Company may explore potential business opportunities, including strategic alternatives or business 
combinations. No assurances can be made that the Company will be successful in prosecuting any claim or cause of action or 
that any strategic alternative or business combination will be identified and/or would result in profitable operations or the ability 
to preserve any value from the NOLs. The Company anticipates that the prosecution of claims and causes of action and the 
evaluation and pursuit of potential strategic alternatives will be costly, complex, and risky. As of the date of this report, the 
Company has neither entered into a definitive agreement with any party, nor has the Company engaged in any specific 
discussions with any potential business combination candidate regarding business opportunities. 
 
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all shares of the Company’s Class A common stock are presented after giving effect to 
the 1:15 reverse stock split of the outstanding Class A common stock, which became effective on May 24, 2023. 
 
Sale of Certain Assets to LandX 
 
On September 29, 2023, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “LandX Asset Purchase Agreement”) 
with LAS Capital LLC and Mr. Stephen S. Burns, an individual, as guarantor of certain obligations of LAS Capital under the 
LandX Asset Purchase Agreement. The LandX Asset Purchase Agreement was assigned to LAS Capital’s affiliate, LandX 
Motors Inc., a Delaware corporation (the assignee and “Purchaser”) and approved by the Bankruptcy Court on October 18, 
2023. The closing of the transactions contemplated by the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement occurred on October 27, 2023, at 
which time the Purchaser acquired certain assets held for sale related to the design, production and sale of electric light duty 
vehicles focused on the commercial fleet market free and clear of liens, claims, encumbrances, and other interests, and assumed 
certain specified liabilities for a total purchase price of $10.2 million in cash. Upon consummation of the sale, the Company’s 
investment banker became entitled to a transaction fee of $2.0 million after crediting certain other fees. The transaction fee was 
paid in January 2024, with no further amounts payable. 
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Nu Ride Inc. 
f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Emergence From Bankruptcy 
 
On September 1, 2023, the Debtors filed a Joint Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors and a related 
proposed disclosure statement, which were amended and modified on each of October 24, 2023, October 29, 2023, and October 
30, 2023. On January 31, 2024, the Debtors filed the Plan. The modifications to the Plan since the previously filed version 
incorporated, among other things, a settlement (the “Ohio Securities Litigation Settlement”) of claims against the Debtors and 
certain directors and officers of the Debtors that were serving in such roles as of December 12, 2023, asserted in, or on the 
same or similar basis as those claims asserted in, the securities class action captioned In re Lordstown Motors Corp. Securities 
Litigation (the “Ohio Securities Litigation”). The Plan also included, as a condition to confirmation of the Plan, that the SEC 
approve an offer of settlement submitted by the Debtors to resolve the SEC Claim (as defined below). 
 
On March 5, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered a confirmation order confirming the Plan. Following the entry of the 
confirmation order and all conditions to effectiveness of the Plan being satisfied, the Debtors emerged from bankruptcy on 
March 14, 2024 under the name “Nu Ride Inc.” Upon emergence, the SEC Claim was deemed withdrawn pursuant to the terms 
of the settlement with the SEC and the confirmation order. Upon emergence, a new Board of Directors was appointed pursuant 
to the Plan and all remaining full-time employees, including the Company’s pre-emergence executive officers, were terminated. 
Some of those employees continue to provide services to the Company as consultants. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, 
who is its sole executive officer, was elected by the new Board of Directors in accordance with the Plan, as of the Company’s 
emergence. 
 
Foxconn Litigation 
 
On June 27, 2023, the Company commenced an adversary proceeding against Foxconn (the “Foxconn Litigation”) in the 
Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for fraudulent and tortious conduct as well as breaches of the Investment Agreement (as 
defined below) and other agreements, the parties’ joint venture agreement, the Foxconn APA (as defined below), and the CMA 
(as defined below) that the Company believes were committed by Foxconn. As set forth in the complaint relating to the 
adversary proceeding, the Company believes Foxconn’s actions have caused substantial harm to the Company’s operations and 
prospects and caused significant damages. 
 
On September 29, 2023, Foxconn filed a motion to dismiss all counts of the Foxconn Litigation and brief in support of the 
same (the “Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss”), asserting that all of the Company’s claims are subject to binding 
arbitration provisions and that the Company has failed to state a claim for relief. The Company believes that the Foxconn 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss is without merit and, on November 6, 2023, the Company filed an opposition to Foxconn’s 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss. Foxconn filed a reply in support of the Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss on November 30, 
2023. On December 7, 2023, the Company and its equity committee (the “Equity Committee”) filed a notice of completion of 
briefing, which provided that the briefing of the Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss has been completed and such motion 
is ready for disposition. 
 
On August 1, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered an opinion and order partially denying and partially granting the Foxconn 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss, which was subsequently amended on October 1, 2024. Nine of the Company’s claims survived 
the motion to dismiss on the grounds that the Company pled viable claims against Foxconn and the claims were not subject to 
mandatory arbitration. The Court also dismissed two of the Company’s claims in favor of arbitration. The order is presently 
being appealed by Foxconn. The Bankruptcy Court has stayed litigation of the claims that it ruled were not subject to arbitration 
pending that appeal. The Court also allowed that the two dismissed claims should proceed to arbitration. The Company is 
vigorously pursuing this litigation. Any net proceeds from the Foxconn Litigation may enhance the recoveries for holders of 
claims and equity interests of shareholders (“Interests”), as set forth in the Plan. However, no assurances can be provided as to 
the Company having sufficient resources to pursue the Foxconn Litigation, the outcome or recoveries, if any. 
 
See Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies - Foxconn Litigation for additional information. 
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Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and its wholly owned 
subsidiary. All intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation. 
 
Liquidity 
 
The Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $23.1 million, short-term investments of approximately $6.4 
million, excluding restricted short-term investments of approximately $23.4 million, an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion at 
December 31, 2024, and a net loss of $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
The Company’s liquidity and ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon, among other things: (i) the resolution 
of significant contingent and other claims, liabilities and (ii) the outcome of the Company’s efforts to realize value, if any, from 
its retained causes of action, including the Foxconn Litigation, and other remaining assets. The Company intends to explore 
potential business opportunities, including strategic alternatives or business combinations, including those that would preserve 
the value of the Company’s NOLs. 
 
Based on the foregoing, management believes that the Company will have sufficient working capital to meet its needs through 
the date one year from this filing. Over this time period, the Company will be using its restricted short-term investments to pay 
for settled claims and both its cash and cash equivalents and unrestricted short-term investments for paying existing accrued 
expenses and legal and consulting fees expected to be incurred. 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Use of Estimates in Financial Statement Preparation 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP is based on the selection and application of 
accounting policies that require us to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements, and related disclosures in the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are periodically reviewed and the effects of changes are reflected 
in the consolidated financial statements in the period they are determined to be necessary. The Chapter 11 Cases may result in 
ongoing, additional changes in facts and circumstances that may cause the Company’s estimates and assumptions to change, 
potentially materially. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of the disclosures, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. 
 
Fresh Start Accounting 
 
Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company assessed the requirements of fresh start accounting as required in Accounting 
Standards Codification 852: Reorganizations (“ASC 852”). Based on the Company’s assessment, management concluded that 
the Company does not qualify for fresh start accounting under ASC 852 upon emergence from bankruptcy. Management’s 
conclusion was based on the fact that the total of all post-petition liabilities and reserve for allowed claims did not exceed the 
reorganization value, and the holders of existing voting shares immediately prior to confirmation did not lose control of the 
entity, as defined as receiving less than 50% of the emerging entity’s voting shares. Accordingly, the Company continued to 
apply GAAP in the ongoing preparation of its financial statements post emergence. 
 
Segment Information 
 
Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which discrete financial information is available for 
evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”) in deciding resource allocation and assessing performance. The 
Company has determined that its CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. 
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The Company operates as one operating segment with a focus on (a) claims administration under its Plan, (b) prosecuting, 
pursuing, compromising, settling, or otherwise disposing of litigation and other retained causes of action including the Foxconn 
litigation, (c) defending the Company against any counterclaims, (d) maintaining and managing the NOL and (e) filing SEC 
required reports and satisfying other regulatory requirements. 
 
The Company’s CODM manages and allocates resources to the operations of the Company on a consolidated basis. This enables 
the CODM to assess the Company’s overall level of available resources and determine how best to deploy these resources in 
line with the Company’s long-term company-wide strategic goals. Given the Company does not currently generate revenue, 
the CODM assesses performance of the Company’s single segment and allocation of resources based on consolidated net loss 
as well as total selling, general, and administrative expenses. The CODM utilizes these metrics in order to assess the Company’s 
cash burn. Total net loss as well as selling, general, and administrative expenses are used to monitor budget versus actual 
results. 
 
Significant segment expenses are consistent with those presented on the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss. The measure of segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance sheets as total assets. 
 
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short-term Investments, and Restricted Short-term Investments 
 
Cash includes cash equivalents which are highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash. The Company considers 
all liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. In general, investments with 
original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term 
investments. The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit and securities accounts that exceed federally insured limits. The 
Company has not experienced significant losses in such accounts and management believes it is not exposed to material credit 
risk. 
 
The Company’s short-term investments consist of U.S. treasury notes and bills and U.S. government and prime asset money 
market funds. The short-term investments are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. The market risk related to these 
investments is insignificant given that the short-term investments held are highly liquid investment-grade fixed-income 
securities. The Company records changes in allowance for expected credit loss in other income (expense). There has been no 
allowance for expected credit losses recorded during any of the periods presented. See Note 3 for further information. 
 
Restricted short-term investments balances represent the cash reserves as required by the Plan that have been invested in short-
term available for sale securities, which consist primarily of U.S. treasury notes and bills and U.S. government and prime asset 
money market funds. Under the Plan, the Company established an escrow for the payment of certain professional fees incurred 
in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases (“Professional Fee Escrow”). The Professional Fee Escrow was established based 
upon estimates and assumptions as of the date the Company emerged from bankruptcy. Therefore, the actual obligations may 
be more or less than the amount escrowed. To the extent the Professional Fee Escrow is insufficient, the Company will be 
required to use its available unrestricted cash to settle its obligations. In the event the Professional Fee Escrow exceeds the 
Company’s obligations, funds will be returned to the Company and become unrestricted. The obligations were fully paid in 
August 2024 and the remainder of the Professional Fee Escrow was released from restriction. The Plan also required the 
Company to establish a $45 million reserve for allowed and disputed claims of general unsecured creditors (the “Claims 
Reserve”), including interest (although there can be no assurance the Company will be able to pay such claims in full, with 
interest). As of December 31, 2024, $22.6 million was included in restricted short-term investments, which represents the initial 
Claims Reserve of $45 million, less $22.4 million which was released from the Claims Reserve related to the claims 
reconciliation process. 
 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise 
 
In the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, the “Liabilities subject to compromise” line is reflective of expected allowed 
claim amounts in accordance with ASC 852-10 and are subject to change materially based on the continued consideration of 
claims that may be modified, allowed, or disallowed. Refer to Note 9 - Commitments and Contingencies for further detail. 
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Inventory and Inventory Valuation 
 
Substantially all the Company’s inventory was specific to the production of the Endurance. The Company ceased production 
of the Endurance in June 2023. All of our Endurance inventory was sold pursuant to closing the LandX Asset Purchase 
Agreement in the fourth quarter of 2023. 
 
The Company’s inventory was stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (“NRV”). In addition to the NRV analysis, the 
Company recognized an excess inventory reserve to adjust for inventory quantities that were in excess of anticipated Endurance 
production, which totaled $24.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. NRV and excess inventory charges are recorded 
within Cost of Sales in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. No such charges were recognized for the year 
ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment were stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation was 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives and residual values of the related assets. Maintenance 
and repair expenditures were expensed as incurred, while major improvements that increase functionality of the asset are 
capitalized and depreciated ratably to expense over the identified useful life. 
 
Substantially all our property, plant and equipment were sold pursuant to closing the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement in the 
fourth quarter of 2023. 
 
Valuation of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets 
 
Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, were reviewed for potential impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Asset impairment 
calculations required us to apply judgment in estimating asset group fair values and future cash flows, including periods of 
operation, projections of product pricing, production levels, product costs, market supply and demand, inflation, projected 
capital spending and, specifically for fixed assets acquired, assigned useful lives, residual values, functional obsolescence, asset 
condition and discount rates. When performing impairment tests, we estimated the fair values of the assets using management’s 
best assumptions, which we believe would be consistent with the assumptions that a hypothetical marketplace participant would 
use. Estimates and assumptions used in these tests are evaluated and updated as appropriate. The assessment of whether an 
asset group should be classified as held and used or held for sale requires us to apply judgment in estimating the probable 
timing of the sale, and in testing for impairment loss, judgment is required in estimating the net proceeds from the sale. Actual 
asset impairment losses could vary considerably from estimated impairment losses if actual results are not consistent with the 
assumptions and judgments used in estimating future cash flows and asset fair values. Changes in these estimates and 
assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value and any impairment charge. 
 
For assets to be held and used, including identifiable intangible assets and long-lived assets subject to amortization, we initiated 
our review whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be 
recoverable. The recoverability of a long-lived asset subject to amortization is measured by comparison of its carrying amount 
to the expected future undiscounted cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. Any impairment recognized was measured 
by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeded its fair value. Significant management judgment is required 
in this process. 
 
The Company recognized an impairment charge of $140.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. No such charge was 
recognized for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Warrants 
 
The Company accounted for the warrants it has issued in accordance with the guidance contained in Accounting Standards 
Codification 815: Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”) 815-40-15-7D and 7F under which the warrants did not meet the 
criteria for equity treatment and were recorded as liabilities at their fair value at each reporting period. Any change in fair value 
was recognized in the statement of operations. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the fair value of the Company’s warrants 
was deemed to be zero and adjusted accordingly during the year ended December 31, 2023. The fair value of the Company’s 
warrants is currently deemed to be zero as of December 31, 2024.  
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Revenue Recognition 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, revenue was recognized when control of a promised good or service was transferred 
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for the good or service. 
Our performance obligations were satisfied at a point in time. The Company recognized revenue when the customer confirmed 
acceptance of vehicle possession. Costs related to shipping and handling activities are a part of fulfillment costs and are 
therefore recognized under cost of sales. The Company’s sales are final and do not have a right of return clause. There were 
limited instances of sales incentives offered to fleet management companies. The incentives offered were of an immaterial 
amount per vehicle, and there were no sales incentives recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
The Company did not offer financing options therefore there is no impact on the collectability of revenue. 
 
As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors received authorization from the Bankruptcy Court to repurchase all vehicles 
that were in the possession of our customers. The Company has repurchased all but two of the vehicles that we sold. The 
repurchase of the vehicles was recognized in SG&A during the year ended December 31, 2023 as a bankruptcy claim settlement. 
 
The Company did not generate any revenue from operations during the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Product Warranty 
 
The estimated costs related to product warranties were accrued at the time products were sold and are charged to cost of sales 
which included our best estimate of the projected costs to repair or replace items under warranties and recalls if identified. As 
a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors received authorization from the Bankruptcy Court to repurchase all vehicles that 
were in the possession of our customers. The Company has repurchased all but two of the vehicles that we sold. The balance 
of the Company’s outstanding warranty accrual as of the date of purchase was recognized in SG&A, as an offset to the 
bankruptcy claim settlement expense, during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
No product warranties existed for the Company during the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Research and Development Costs 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company expensed research and development costs as they were incurred. Research 
and development costs consisted primarily of personnel costs for engineering, testing and manufacturing costs, along with 
expenditures for prototype manufacturing, testing, validation, certification, contract and other professional services and costs. 
 
The Company did not incur any research and development costs during the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 
 
The Company records stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Accounting for Stock-Based 
Compensation (“ASC Topic 718”), which establishes a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based compensation 
plans. In accordance with ASC Topic 718, the cost of stock-based awards issued to employees and non-employees over the 
awards vesting period is measured on the grant date based on the fair value. For options, the fair value is determined using the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, which incorporates assumptions regarding the expected volatility, expected option life 
and risk-free interest rate. The resulting amount is charged to expense on the straight-line basis over the period in which the 
Company expects to receive the benefit, which is generally the vesting period. Further, pursuant to ASU 2016-09 - 
Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718), the Company has elected to account for forfeitures as they occur. See Note 
7 - Stock Based Compensation. 
 
Reorganization Items 
 
Reorganization items of $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 represent the expenses directly and incrementally 
resulting from the Chapter 11 Cases and are separately reported as Reorganization items in the consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss. 
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Income Taxes 
 
Income taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (ASC Topic 740). Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on the difference between the consolidated financial statement and tax bases of assets and 
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances 
are provided, if based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets 
will not be realized. The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets. 
 
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 740. When uncertain tax 
positions exist, the Company recognizes the tax benefit of tax positions to the extent that the benefit would more likely than 
not be realized assuming examination by the taxing authority. The determination as to whether the tax benefit will more likely 
than not be realized is based upon the technical merits of the tax position as well as consideration of the available facts and 
circumstances. The Company recognizes any interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax 
expense. 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain reclassifications have been made in the presentation of the prior period balance sheet related to prepaid expenses, 
prepaid insurance, and other current assets as well as to the prior period statement of cash flows related to accrued legal and 
professional and accrued expenses and other liabilities to conform with the December 31, 2024 presentation. 
 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards Adopted 
 
In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 
280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosure, which is intended to improve reportable segment disclosure 
requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expense categories that are regularly provided 
to the chief operating decision maker and included in each reported measure of a segment’s profit or loss. The update also 
requires all annual disclosures about a reportable segment’s profit or loss and assets to be provided in interim periods and for 
entities with a single reportable segment to provide all the disclosures required by ASC 280, Segment Reporting, including the 
significant segment expense disclosures. The Company adopted ASU 2023-07 beginning January 1, 2024 and determined there 
was no material impact on its financial statements. 
 
Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted 
 
In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. 
This ASU requires that reporting entities disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation as well as 
information about income taxes paid. The authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this new guidance on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40). This ASU requires public business entities to provide disclosure of additional 
information about certain identified costs and expenses on both an interim and annual basis. In January 2025, the FASB issued 
ASU 2025-01, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-
40); Clarifying the Effective Date. This ASU provided clarification regarding the effective dates of annual and interim 
disclosure requirements presented in ASU 2024-03. Upon consideration of the clarification in ASU 2025-01, the guidance in 
ASU 2024-03 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning 
within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this 
new guidance on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
Recurring Fair Value Measurements 
 
The Company follows the accounting guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements (ASC Topic 820) for its fair 
value measurements of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is defined as an 
exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be 
determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. The three-tiered fair value 
hierarchy, which prioritizes when inputs should be used in measuring fair value, is comprised of: (Level I) observable inputs 
such as quoted prices in active markets; (Level II) inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either 
directly or indirectly and (Level III) unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data. The fair value hierarchy 
requires the use of observable market data when available in determining fair value. 
 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had no short-term investments. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had short-
term investments which were U.S. treasury bills and notes that are classified as Level I. The valuation inputs for the short-term 
investments are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable 
in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets. 
 
Simultaneously with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Sponsor and the anchor investor purchased warrants (the 
“Private Placement Warrants”), which will expire on October 23, 2025. In connection with the Foxconn Transactions and the 
closing of the Asset Purchase Agreement, the Company issued warrants to Foxconn that are exercisable until May 11, 2025 
(the “Foxconn Warrants”). 
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, following the Reverse Stock Split, the Company had 0.113 million Foxconn Warrants 
with an exercise price of $157.50 and 0.153 million Private Placement Warrants with a strike price of $172.50. The fair value 
of the Foxconn Warrants was $0.3 million at issuance. The Private Placement Warrants and the Foxconn Warrants were 
classified as a liability with any changes in the fair value recognized immediately in our consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive loss. As a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the fair value of the Company’s warrants was deemed to be zero 
and adjusted accordingly during the year ended December 31, 2023. 
 
The following tables summarizes the valuation of our financial instruments (in thousands): 
  

    Total     

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

(Level 1)     

Prices with 
observable inputs 

(Level 2)     

Prices with 
unobservable 

inputs (Level 3)   
December 31, 2024                                                    
Cash and cash equivalents .............................    $ 23,095     $ 23,095     $ —     $ —   
United States government treasury bills........      29,741       29,741       —       —   
  

    Total     

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

(Level 1)     

Prices with 
observable inputs 

(Level 2)     

Prices with 
unobservable 

inputs (Level 3)   
December 31, 2023                                                       
Cash and cash equivalents .............................    $ 87,096     $ 87,096     $ —     $ —   
 
The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities (in thousands): 
 

    
Amortized 
cost basis     

Aggregate fair 
value     

Allowance for 
credit losses     

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)     Maturity Date Range 
December 31, 2024                                    
United States government 
treasury bills ...........................    $ 29,751     $ 29,741     $ —     $ 666    February 15, 2025 – May 15, 2025 
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Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements 
 
At December 31, 2023, the Company had assets held for sale that were adjusted to their fair value as the carrying value exceeded 
the estimated fair value. There was no further impairment loss related to the valuation of assets held for sale for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. However, for the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $140.7 
million to adjust the carrying value of its right of use assets. The categorization of the framework used to value the assets is 
Level 3 given the significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair value. Refer to Note 4 - Property, Plant and Equipment 
and Assets Held for Sale for further detail. 
 
NOTE 4 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
 
The Company determined that its property, plant, and equipment represent one asset group which is the lowest level for which 
identifiable cash flows are available. Historically, fair value of the Company’s property, plant, and equipment was derived from 
the Company’s enterprise value at the time of impairment as the Company believed it represented the most appropriate fair 
value of the asset group in accordance with accounting guidance. In light of the Chapter 11 Cases, as discussed above, the 
Company valued its property, plant and equipment based on their estimated residual value as of June 30, 2023, which was 
estimated at zero. As a result, the Company recognized property, plant and equipment impairment and right of use asset 
impairment charges of $133.5 million and $1.3 million, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2023. Accordingly, 
there was no property, plant and equipment or assets held for sale impairment charge recognized for the year ended December 
31, 2024. 
 
NOTE 5 - SERIES A CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK 
 
On November 7, 2022, the Company issued 0.3 million shares of Preferred Stock for $100 per share to Foxconn, resulting in 
gross proceeds of $30 million. 
 
In addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program (as defined in the Investment Agreement) budget and the EV 
Program milestones and satisfaction of those EV Program milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment 
Agreement, Foxconn was to purchase in two tranches, a total of 0.7 million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase 
price of $100 per share for aggregate proceeds of $70 million. The first tranche was to be in an amount equal to 0.3 million 
shares for an aggregate purchase price of $30 million; the second tranche was to be in an amount equal to 0.4 million shares 
for an aggregate purchase price of $40 million. The parties agreed to use commercially reasonable efforts to agree upon the EV 
Program budget and EV Program milestones no later than May 7, 2023. 
 
The completion of the Subsequent Preferred Funding would have provided critical liquidity for the Company’s operations. 
Since April 21, 2023, Foxconn has disputed its obligations under the Investment Agreement to consummate the Subsequent 
Common Closing and to use necessary efforts to agree upon the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones to facilitate 
the Subsequent Preferred Funding (each as defined in the Investment Agreement). Foxconn initially asserted that the Company 
was in breach of the Investment Agreement due to the Company’s previously disclosed receipt of the Nasdaq Notice regarding 
the Bid Price Requirement. As previously disclosed, Foxconn purported to terminate the Investment Agreement if that 
purported breach was not cured within 30 days. 
 
The Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and that Foxconn was obligated 
to complete the Subsequent Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. Despite the Company taking action to satisfy the Bid 
Price Requirement as of June 7, 2023, and discussions between the parties to seek a resolution regarding the Investment 
Agreement, Foxconn did not proceed with the Subsequent Common Closing or any Subsequent Preferred Funding. As a result 
of Foxconn’s actions, the Company was deprived of critical funding necessary for its operations. 
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On June 27, 2023, the Company filed its Chapter 11 Cases and on that same date the Company commenced the Foxconn 
Litigation in the Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for fraudulent and tortious conduct as well as breaches of the Investment 
Agreement and other agreements, the parties’ joint venture agreement, the Foxconn APA, and the CMA that the Company 
believes were committed by Foxconn. As set forth in the complaint relating to the adversary proceeding, Foxconn’s actions 
have caused substantial harm to the Company’s operations and prospects and significant damages. See Note 9 – Commitments 
and Contingencies for additional information. The Foxconn Litigation is Adversary Case No. 23-50414. The descriptions herein 
with respect to the Preferred Stock and any rights thereunder do not account for the potential effects of the Chapter 11 Cases 
or the Foxconn Litigation on the Preferred Stock or any rights thereunder. The Company reserves all claims, defenses, and 
rights with respect to the Chapter 11 Cases, the Foxconn Litigation, the Preferred Stock, and any treatment of Preferred Stock 
or other interests held by Foxconn or any other party and the descriptions below do not account for the impact of any relief 
should it be granted. 
 
The Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights, rights on the distribution of assets on any liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up of the affairs of the Company and redemption rights, ranks: (a) on a parity basis with each other class or series of 
any equity interests (“Capital Stock”) of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of which expressly provide that such 
class or series ranks on a parity basis with the Preferred Stock as to such matters (such Capital Stock, “Parity Stock”); (b) junior 
to each other class or series of Capital Stock of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of which expressly provide 
that such class or series ranks senior to the Preferred Stock as to such matters (such Capital Stock, “Senior Stock”); and (c) 
senior to the Class A common stock and each other class or series of Capital Stock of the Company now or hereafter existing, 
the terms of which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks on a parity basis with, or senior to, the Preferred 
Stock as to such matters (such Capital Stock, “Junior Stock”). While Foxconn’s beneficial ownership of our Class A common 
stock meets the 25% Ownership Requirement (defined below), Parity Stock and Senior Stock can only be issued with Foxconn’s 
consent. 
 
The Certificate of Designation provides that, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the 
Company, the holders of Preferred Stock are entitled, out of assets legally available therefor, before any distribution or payment 
to the holders of any Junior Stock, and subject to the rights of the holders of any Senior Stock or Parity Stock and the rights of 
the Company’s existing and future creditors, to receive in full a liquidating distribution in cash and in the amount per share of 
Preferred Stock equal to the greater of (1) the sum of $100 per share plus the accrued unpaid dividends with respect to such 
share, and (2) the amount the holder would have received had it converted such share into Class A common stock immediately 
prior to the date of such event. 
 
All holders of shares of Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of Class A common stock on all matters submitted 
to a vote of stockholders of the Company as a single class with each share of Preferred Stock entitled to a number of votes 
equal to the number of shares of Class A common stock into which such share could then be converted; provided, that no holder 
of shares of Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote to the extent that such holder would have the right to a number of votes in 
respect of such holder’s shares of Class A common stock, Preferred Stock or other capital stock that would exceed the 
limitations set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) of the definition of Ownership Limitations. 
 
The Certificate of Designation provides that, commencing on November 7, 2023 (the “Conversion Right Date”), and subject 
to the Ownership Limitations, the Preferred Stock became convertible at the option of the holder into a number of shares of 
Class A common stock obtained by dividing the sum of the liquidation preference (i.e., $100 per share) and all accrued but 
unpaid dividends with respect to such share as of the applicable conversion date by the conversion price as of the applicable 
conversion date. The conversion price currently is $29.04 per share and it is subject to customary adjustments. At any time 
following the third anniversary of the date of issuance, the Company can cause the Preferred Stock to be converted if the 
volume-weighted average price of the Class A common stock exceeds 200% of the Conversion Price for a period of at least 
twenty trading days in any period of thirty consecutive trading days. Foxconn’s ability to convert is limited by clauses (i) and 
(ii) of the definition of the Ownership Limitations. 
 
Upon a change of control (as defined in the Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock filed by the Company with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Certificate of Designations”)), 
Foxconn can cause the Company to purchase any or all of its Preferred Stock at a purchase price equal to the greater of its 
liquidation preference (including any unpaid accrued dividends) and the amount of cash and other property that it would have 
received had it converted its Preferred Stock prior to the change of control transaction (the “Change of Control Put”). 
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The terms of the Company’s Preferred Stock do not specify an unconditional obligation of the Company to redeem the Preferred 
Stock on a specific or determinable date, or upon an event certain to occur. The Company notes the existence of the Change of 
Control Put. However, the ability to execute this put right is contingent on the occurrence of the change of control event, which 
is not a known or determinable event at time of issuance. Therefore, the Preferred Stock is not considered to be mandatorily 
redeemable. The conversion of the Preferred Stock is based on fixed conversion price rather than a fixed conversion amount. 
The value of the Preferred Stock obligation would not vary based on something other than the fair value of the Company’s 
equity shares or change inversely in relation to the fair value of the Company’s equity shares. Based on these factors, Preferred 
Stock does not require classification as a liability in accordance with the provisions in ASC 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities 
from Equity”. 
 
The Preferred Stock is not redeemable at a fixed or determinable date or at the option of the holder. However, the Preferred 
Stock does include the Change of Control Put, which could allow the holder to redeem the Preferred Stock upon the occurrence 
of an event. As the Company cannot assert control over any potential event which would qualify as a change of control, the 
event is not considered to be solely within the control of the issuer, and would require classification in temporary equity (as 
per ASC 480-10-S99-3A(4)). Accordingly, the Preferred Stock is classified as temporary equity and is separated from 
permanent equity on the Company’s Balance Sheet. 
 
The Company believes that the transaction price associated with the sale of the Preferred Stock to Foxconn was representative 
of fair value and serves as the basis for initial measurement. The Preferred Stock issued by the Company accrues dividends at 
the rate of 8% per annum whether or not declared and/or paid by the Company (cumulative dividends). In addition, the 
dividends will compound on a quarterly basis (upon each Preferred Dividend Payment Date (as defined in the Certificate of 
Designations)) to the extent they are not paid by the Company. The Company records the dividends (effective PIK dividends) 
as they are earned, based on the fair value of the Preferred Stock at the date they are earned. In addition, the holders of the 
Preferred Stock participate with any dividends payable in respect of any Junior Stock or Parity Stock. The Company accrued 
$2.7 and $2.5 million in dividends for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and had accrued $5.5 and 
$2.8 million in aggregate dividends as of such date, which represented the estimated fair value to Preferred Stock with a 
corresponding adjustment to additional-paid-in-capital common stock in the absence of retained earnings. 
 
Upon emergence from bankruptcy, and as of the date of this report, the Preferred Stock remains outstanding and unimpaired. 
Upon a change of control (as defined in the Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Series A Convertible 
Preferred Stock filed by the Company with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware), Foxconn can cause the Company 
to purchase any or all of its Preferred Stock at a purchase price equal to the greater of its $30.0 million liquidation preference, 
plus any unpaid accrued dividends, and the amount of cash and other property that it would have received had it converted its 
Preferred Stock prior to the change of control transaction (the “Change of Control Put”). The liquidation preference, plus 
accrued dividends is presented as Mezzanine Equity within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of December 31, 
2024 and 2023, the Company did not consider a change of control to be probable, however the Company notes that there is 
significant uncertainty regarding the outcome of the Foxconn Litigation which may impact the foregoing, and the Company 
can provide no assurance regarding such determination. 
 
NOTE 6 - CAPITAL STOCK AND INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE 
 
The Company has authorized shares of capital stock totaling 462 million shares, consisting of (i) 450 million shares of Class 
A common stock and (ii) 12 million shares of preferred stock, each with a par value of $0.0001. 
 
At the 2023 Annual Meeting, the stockholders of the Company approved a proposal to amend the Charter to effect a reverse 
split of the Company’s outstanding shares of Class A common stock at a ratio within a range of between 1:3 and 1:15, with the 
timing and the exact ratio of the reverse split to be determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The Board authorized the 
Reverse Stock Split at a 1:15 ratio, which became effective as of May 24, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). 
 
The Company filed an Amendment to the Charter on May 22, 2023, which provided that, at the Effective Date, every 15 shares 
of the issued and outstanding Class A common stock would automatically be combined into one issued and outstanding share 
of Class A common stock. 
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FASB ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, requires the presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic 
EPS is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive EPS is calculated to 
include any dilutive effect of our share equivalents. 
 
The following outstanding potentially dilutive common stock equivalents have been excluded from the computation of diluted 
net loss per share attributable to common shareholders for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, due to 
their anti-dilutive effect (in thousands): 
  
    December 31, 2024     December 31, 2023   
Foxconn Preferred Stock .............................................................................................      1,221       1,128  
Foxconn Warrants1 ......................................................................................................      113       113  
Private Placement Warrants2 .......................................................................................      154       154  
Total ............................................................................................................................      1,488       1,395  
 
1)  Foxconn Warrants are due to expire on May 11, 2025. 
2)  Private Placement Warrants are due to expire on October 23, 2025. 
 
NOTE 7 - STOCK BASED COMPENSATION 
 
The vesting and settlement of any unvested equity awards was suspended during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases. Upon 
emergence, the suspended awards were settled if the vesting conditions had been satisfied. All vested options to purchase Class 
A common stock that remain outstanding as of the date the Company emerged remain outstanding in accordance with their 
terms and the terms of the Plan and any options not exercised within three months of an officer’s termination of employment 
or a director’s termination of board service with the Company will be forfeited. 
 
Prior to emergence, the Company and each of its Named Executive Officers (“NEO’s) were parties to employment agreements 
that provided for certain payments, including the accelerated vesting of equity awards, to the NEO upon the NEO’s termination 
of employment by the Company without “Cause” or by the NEO’s choice with “Good Reason”. Accordingly, upon emergence, 
the Company issued 101,947 shares of Class A common stock to satisfy equity awards that vested during the pendency of the 
Chapter 11 Cases, and 102,889 shares of Class A common stock related to the accelerated vesting of the NEO awards. The 
accelerated vesting of the NEO awards resulted in the recognition of $2.6 million of stock compensation expense during the 
first quarter of 2024. The remaining $0.8 million of stock compensation expense during the first quarter of 2024 related to non-
accelerated stock-based compensation for other employees prior to emergence. 
 
In accordance with the Plan, on March 14, 2024, the Board of Directors approved, adopted and ratified an amendment to the 
Company’s 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended to increase the number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for 
issuance thereunder to an aggregate of 3,000,000 shares. 
 
On May 13, 2024, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a modified director 
compensation plan for the five outside directors that constitute the Board of Directors. The director compensation plan includes 
a three-year grant under the Company’s 2020 Equity Compensation Plan of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with a fair market 
value of $8.0 thousand per director per quarter ($96.0 thousand per director in the aggregate), based on the closing price per 
share of the Company’s common stock on May 13, 2024. The RSUs granted cover service on the Board through the first quarter 
of 2027 and vest quarterly through January 30, 2027, subject to acceleration on the occurrence of certain events. 
 
During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized $3.5 million and $7.4 million of stock-based 
compensation expense, respectively, which was included in selling, general, and administrative expense on the consolidated 
financial statements. As of December 31, 2024, there was $0.4 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation related to 
non-vested awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.1 years. 
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NOTE 8 - INCOME TAXES 
 
The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax with the provision for incomes taxes is as follows at December 31 (in 
thousands): 
  
    2024     Rate     2023     Rate   
Fed tax benefits at statutory rates ..........................    $ (1,709 )     21.0 %   $ (72,044)     21.0 % 
Equity compensation .............................................      736       (9.1 )%    4,073      (1.2 )% 
Other permanent differences .................................      —       — %     57      — % 
Return to provision adjustments ............................      (13,165 )     161.8 %     —      — % 
Other ......................................................................      —       — %     (4,515)     1.3 % 
Rate difference ......................................................      7,383       (90.7 )%    (8,250)     2.4 % 
State Tax Expense/(Benefit) .................................      —       — %     (15,936)     4.6 % 
Change in valuation allowance .............................      6,755       (83.0 )%    96,615      (28.2 )% 
Total tax benefit ....................................................    $ —       — %   $ —      — % 
 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. A valuation allowance is provided against 
deferred tax assets when, based on all available evidence, it is considered more likely than not that some portion or all of the 
recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods. The Company cannot be certain that future taxable income 
will be sufficient to realize its deferred tax assets, and accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been provided on its deferred 
tax assets. 
 
Components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows at December 31 (in thousands): 
  
    2024     2023   
Share-based compensation ..........................................................................................    $ —     $ 1,391  
Other reserves .............................................................................................................      —       11,059  
Capitalized R&D expenses .........................................................................................      12,249       20,271  
Others ..........................................................................................................................      2,228       9,914  
Net operating losses ....................................................................................................      268,405       233,493  
Total deferred tax assets ...........................................................................................      282,882       276,128  
Valuation allowance ....................................................................................................      (282,882 )     (276,128) 
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance.............................................    $ —     $ —  
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, the Company had $1.1 billion and $993.2 million of federal net operating losses 
that carry forward indefinitely. State and local net operating losses totaled $843.4 million and $880.3 million for 2024 and 
2023, respectively. Of the total net operating loss balances at December 31, 2024, the full federal net operating loss as well as 
state net operating losses totaling $336 million do not expire. The remaining state and local net operating losses carry forward 
for up to 20 years. No federal, state or local income taxes were paid during 2024 or 2023. 
 
NOTE 9 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
Voluntary Chapter 11 Proceedings, Liabilities Subject to Compromise and Other Potential Claims 
 
On June 27, 2023, the Company and its subsidiaries commenced the Chapter 11 Cases in the Bankruptcy Court. See Note 1 - 
Description of Organization and Business Operations for additional information. 
 
Since filing the Chapter 11 petitions, until our emergence from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024, the Company operated as 
debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the 
Bankruptcy Code. 
 
The Company received the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of its customary motions filed on June 27, 2023, which authorized 
the Company to conduct its business activities in the ordinary course, including among other things and subject to the terms 
and conditions of such orders: (i) pay employees’ wages and related obligations; (ii) pay certain taxes; (iii) pay critical vendors; 
(iv) continue to honor certain customer obligations; (v) maintain their insurance program; (vi) continue their cash management 
system; and (vii) establish certain procedures to protect any potential value of the Company’s NOLs.  
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On August 8, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved procedures for the Company to conduct a comprehensive marketing and 
sale process for some, all, or substantially all of their assets in order to maximize the value of those assets. The marketing 
process culminated in the Company entering into the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement on March 29, 2023, providing for the 
sale of specified assets of the Company related to the design, production and sale of electric light duty vehicles focused on the 
commercial fleet market free and clear of liens, claims, encumbrances, and other interests, and assume certain specified 
liabilities of the Company for a total purchase price of $10.2 million in cash. This transaction closed on October 27, 2023. See 
Note 1 - Description of Organization and Business Operations - Description of Business. 
 
The Company has been subject to extensive pending and threatened legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business 
and has already incurred, and expects to continue to incur, significant legal expenses in defending against these claims. The 
Company sought and achieved resolution of many of these matters as part of the Chapter 11 Cases and has and may in the 
future enter into further discussions regarding settlement of these matters and may enter into settlement agreements if it believes 
it is in the best interest of the Company’s stakeholders. The Company records a liability for loss contingencies in the 
consolidated financial statements when a loss is known or considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 
Legal fees and costs of litigation, settlement by the Company or adverse decisions with respect to the matters disclosed may 
result in a liability that is not insured or that is in excess of insurance coverage and could significantly exceed our current 
accrual and ability to pay and be, individually or in the aggregate, material to the Company’s consolidated results of operations, 
financial condition or cash flows, and diminish or eliminate any assets available for any distribution to creditors and Interest 
holders. 
 
The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases resulted in an initial automatic stay of legal proceedings against the Company, as further 
described below. On July 27, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court modified the automatic stay that was in effect at the time of filing 
the Chapter 11 Cases to allow the Karma Action (defined below) to proceed against the Company in the District Court (defined 
below) and that matter was settled, as further described below. 
 
With respect to the stockholder derivative suits filed on behalf of the Company against certain of its officers and directors and 
certain former DiamondPeak directors prior to the Chapter 11 Cases, the derivative claims asserted in those suits became the 
property of the Company pursuant to the Bankruptcy Court’s order confirming the Plan. The Company appointed an 
independent committee of directors to evaluate such claims with the assistance and advice of special litigation counsel, to make 
a recommendation as to the disposition of such claims, including, among other things, whether to pursue or release some or all 
of those claims against some or all of those officers and directors. Ultimately, such claims were retained by the Company and 
not released under the Plan. 
 
With respect to the Ohio Securities Class Action opt-out claims (discussed below), the Post-Petition Securities Action and any 
other similar claims for damages arising from the purchase or sale of the Class A common stock, Section 510(b) the Bankruptcy 
Code treats such claims as subordinated to all claims or Interests that are senior to the Class A common stock and having the 
same priority as the Class A common stock. 
 
The Bankruptcy Court established October 10, 2023, as the general bar date for all creditors (except governmental entities) to 
file their proofs of claim or interest, and December 26, 2023, as the bar date for all governmental entities, which was extended 
until January 5, 2024, in the case of the SEC or that may arise due to our obligations under the Highway Safety Act of 1970 
(the “Safety Act”) administered by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (“NHTSA”) described under “NHTSA 
Matters” below. The deadline to assert rejection damage claims and administrative expense claims has passed. The ability of 
creditors to amend previously filed proofs of claim, both in terms of amount and nature of claim, will be governed in accordance 
with applicable law. Furthermore, proofs of claim have been filed asserting unliquidated damages or claims in respect of certain 
indemnifications or otherwise that we may not be able to estimate, or may be materially more than we estimate. The amount 
of such liability may diminish the assets available to satisfy general unsecured claims. There is substantial risk of litigation by 
and against the Company or its indemnified directors and officers with respect to such claims. 
 
In addition, the deadline for parties to file proofs of claim arising from the Company’s rejection of an executory contract or 
unexpired lease, and proofs of claim for administrative expense claims, was April 15, 2024. 
 
Several rejection damages and administrative expense claims were filed, all but one of which has been settled or withdrawn. 
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“Liabilities subject to compromise” are recorded at the expected or estimated amount of the total allowed claim, however, the 
ultimate settlement of these liabilities remains subject to analysis and negotiation, approval of the Bankruptcy Court and the 
other factors discussed above, and any unliquidated claims may be settled or resolved for materially different amounts. These 
amounts are also subject to adjustments if we make changes to our assumptions or estimates related to unliquidated claims as 
additional information becomes available to us. Such adjustments may be material, and the Company will continue to evaluate 
the amount and classification of its pre-petition liabilities. Any additional liabilities that are subject to compromise will be 
recognized accordingly, and the aggregate amount of “Liabilities subject to compromise” may change materially. 
 
Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company recorded $60.7 million in restricted cash as required by the Plan of 
Reorganization for bankruptcy and administrative claim settlements and pre-emergence bankruptcy professional fees. Post 
emergence the Company settled claims and pre-emergence bankruptcy professional fees totaling $37.3 million, resulting in a 
restricted short-term investments balance of $23.4 million as of December 31, 2024. In accordance with Plan, the Claims 
Ombudsman had until the end of the GUC Reserve Adjustment Period (as defined in the Plan) to request an increase in the 
reserve, if he believed the existing reserve would be insufficient to fund all allowed and disputed unsecured claims. The Claims 
Ombudsman made no such request, and the GUC Reserve Adjustment Period concluded in September 2024. 
 
Concurrently, the Company recorded a liability totaling $29.9 million upon emergence from bankruptcy within liabilities 
subject to compromise, which was reflective of the expected allowed claims amounts in accordance with ASC 852-10. After 
emerging from bankruptcy, the Company settled liabilities subject to compromise since emergence from bankruptcy in the 
amount totaling $20.0 million, resulting in a liabilities subject to compromise balance of $9.9 million as of December 31, 2024. 
This balance reflects both undisputed and partially disputed amounts the Company may owe. 
 
The Company had accruals of $0 million and $6.5 million, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, for certain of its 
outstanding legal proceedings and potential related obligations within “liabilities subject to compromise” and “accrued and 
other current liabilities” on its consolidated balance sheets. The Company’s liabilities for legal proceedings and potential related 
obligations may include amounts for the securities litigation, government claims and indemnification obligations described in 
more detail below or other claims that may be asserted against the Company and may or may not be offset by insurance. 
Changes in the Company’s operations in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases reduced the Company’s need to maintain 
insurance coverage at previous levels or to carry certain insurance policies. The amount accrued as of December 31, 2024 was 
estimated based on available information and legal advice, the potential resolution of these matters in light of historical 
negotiations with the parties, and the potential impact of the outcome of one or more claims on related matters, but does not 
take into account the impact of the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, the terms of the Plan, ongoing discussions 
with the parties thereto and other stakeholders or actual amounts that may be asserted in Claims submitted in the Chapter 11 
Cases or for indemnification as these factors cannot yet be determined and are subject to substantial uncertainty. Accordingly, 
the accrued amount may be adjusted in the future based on new developments and it does not reflect a full range of possible 
outcomes for these proceedings, or the full amount of any damages alleged, which are significantly higher. 
 
Insurance Matters 
 
The Company was notified by its primary insurer under its post-merger directors and officers insurance policy that the insurer 
is taking the position that no coverage is available for the Ohio Securities Class Action, various shareholder derivative actions, 
the consolidated stockholder class action, various demands for inspection of books and records, the SEC investigation, and the 
investigation by the United States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York described below, and certain 
indemnification obligations, under an exclusion to the policy called the “retroactive date exclusion.” The insurer has identified 
other potential coverage issues as well. Excess coverage attaches only after the underlying insurance has been exhausted, and 
generally applies in conformance with the terms of the underlying insurance. As a result of the denial of coverage, no or limited 
insurance may be available to us to reimburse our expenses or cover any potential losses for these matters, which could be 
significant. The insurers in our Side A directors and officers (“D&O”) insurance program, providing coverage for individual 
directors and officers in derivative actions and certain other situations, have issued a reservation of rights letter which, while 
not denying coverage, has cast doubt on the availability of coverage for at least some individuals and/or claims. The Company 
continues to analyze the insurer’s position and intends to pursue any available coverage under this policy and other insurance. 
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On October 25, 2024, the Company filed a complaint in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware seeking 
a declaration that the Company is entitled to coverage from the 2020-2022 primary layer D&O liability insurance company for 
costs to defend certain lawsuits and respond to certain SEC and DOJ investigations. The primary policy had a face limit of $5 
million. The Company filed a memorandum of law in support of its motion for summary judgment with the Court on November 
4, 2024. In response, the primary layer insurer moved to dismiss and filed a competing lawsuit in New York State court seeking 
a declaration that there is no coverage for the same lawsuits and SEC and DOJ investigations. No damages are sought against 
the Company. The motion to dismiss is pending. 
 
Ohio Securities Class Action 
 
Six related putative securities class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and certain of its current and former officers 
and directors and former DiamondPeak directors between March 18, 2021 and May 14, 2021 in the U.S. District Court for the 
Northern District of Ohio (Rico v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Palumbo v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Zuod v. 
Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Brury v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Romano v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; and FNY 
Managed Accounts LLC v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.). The matters have been consolidated and the Court appointed 
George Troicky as lead plaintiff and Labaton Sucharow LLP as lead plaintiff’s counsel (the “Ohio Securities Class Action”). 
On March 10, 2021, lead plaintiff and several additional named plaintiffs filed their consolidated amended complaint, asserting 
violations of federal securities laws under Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a), and Section 20A of the Exchange Act 
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder against the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors. The complaint 
generally alleges that the Company and individual defendants made materially false and misleading statements relating to 
vehicle pre-orders and production timeline. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss, which is fully briefed as of March 3, 2023. 
The Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy on June 28, 2023, and filed an amended suggestion of bankruptcy on July 11, 
2023, which notified the court of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and resulting automatic stay. On August 28, 2023, the court 
denied the pending motion to dismiss, without prejudice, given the notice of the automatic stay, subject to potential re-filing 
by the Defendants following the lifting of the stay. 
 
The Plan settled the Ohio Securities Class Action, with the lead plaintiff receiving (i) $3 million in cash and (ii) up to an 
additional $7 million, consisting of (a) 25% of all net litigation proceeds received by the Company on Retained Causes of 
Action (if any); and (b) the lesser of (x) 16% of any distribution made by the Company on account of Foxconn’s preferred 
stock liquidation preference, and (y) $5 million, on behalf of the Ohio Settlement Class (as defined in the Plan). 
 
Derivative Litigation 
 
Four related stockholder derivative lawsuits were filed against certain Company officers and directors, former DiamondPeak 
directors, and against the Company as a nominal defendant between April 28, 2021 and July 9, 2021 in the U.S. District Court 
for the District of Delaware (Cohen, et al. v. Burns, et al.; Kelley, et al. v. Burns, et al.; Patterson, et al. v. Burns, et al.; and 
Sarabia v. Burns, et al.). The derivative actions in the District Court of Delaware have been consolidated. On August 27, 2021, 
plaintiffs filed a consolidated amended complaint, asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a) and 
Section 21D of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, breach of fiduciary duties, insider selling, and unjust enrichment, 
all relating to vehicle pre-orders, production timeline, and the merger with DiamondPeak. On October 11, 2021, defendants 
filed a motion to stay this consolidated derivative action pending resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated 
securities class action. On March 7, 2023, the court granted in part defendants’ motion to stay, staying the action until the 
resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action, but requiring the parties to submit a status report 
if the motion to dismiss was not resolved by March 3, 2023. The court further determined to dismiss without a motion, on the 
grounds that the claim was premature, plaintiffs’ claim for contribution for violations of Sections 10(b) and 21D of the 
Exchange Act without prejudice. The parties filed a joint status report as required because the motion to dismiss in the 
consolidated securities class action was not resolved as of March 3, 2023. The parties filed additional court-ordered joint status 
reports on October 28, 2022, January 6, 2023 and April 3, 2023. On April 4, 2023, the Court ordered the parties to submit a 
letter brief addressing whether the Court should lift the stay. On April 14, 2023, the parties submitted a joint letter requesting 
that the Court not lift the stay. On April 17, 2023, the court lifted the stay and ordered the parties to meet and confer by May 
8, 2023 and submit a proposed case-management plan. On May 9, 2023, the court reinstated the stay and ordered the parties to 
advise the court of any developments in the consolidated securities class action or material changes to Lordstown’s condition. 
The Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy on June 27, 2023, which notified the court of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases 
and resulting automatic stay. The court entered an order acknowledging the effect of the automatic stay on June 28, 2023. An 
independent committee of directors evaluated the derivative claims with the assistance and advice of special litigation counsel 
to make a recommendation as to the disposition of such claims. Ultimately, such claims were retained by the Company and not 
released under the Plan. The proceedings are subject to uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.  
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Another related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio on June 30, 
2021 (Thai v. Burns, et al.), asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a) and Section 21D of the Exchange 
Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, breach of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, and 
waste, based on similar facts as the consolidated derivative action in the District Court of Delaware. On October 21, 2021, the 
court in the Northern District of Ohio derivative action entered a stipulated stay of the action and scheduling order relating to 
defendants’ anticipated motion to dismiss and/or subsequent motion to stay that is similarly conditioned on the resolution of 
the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action. The Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy on June 28, 
2023, and filed an amended suggestion of bankruptcy on July 19, 2023, which notified the court of the filing of the Chapter 11 
Cases and resulting automatic stay. An independent committee of directors evaluated the derivative claims with the assistance 
and advice of special litigation counsel to make a recommendation as to the disposition of such claims. Ultimately, such claims 
were retained by the Company and not released under the Plan. The proceedings are subject to uncertainties inherent in the 
litigation process. 
 
Another related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery on December 2, 2021 (Cormier v. 
Burns, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1049)), asserting breach of fiduciary duties, insider selling, and unjust enrichment, based on similar 
facts as the federal derivative actions. An additional related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of 
Chancery on February 18, 2023 (Jackson v. Burns, et al. (C.A. No. 2023-0164)), also asserting breach of fiduciary duties, unjust 
enrichment, and insider selling, based on similar facts as the federal derivative actions. On April 19, 2023, the parties in Cormier 
and Jackson filed a stipulation and proposed order consolidating the two actions, staying the litigation until the resolution of 
the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action and appointing Schubert Jonckheer & Kolbe LLP and Lifshitz 
Law PLLC as Co-Lead Counsel. On May 10, 2023, the court granted the parties’ proposed stipulation and order to consolidate 
the actions, and to stay the consolidated action pending the resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities 
class action. While the action remains stayed, on June 24, 2023, the plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint asserting similar 
claims, and substituting a new plaintiff (Ed Lomont) for Cormier, who no longer appears to be a named plaintiff in the 
consolidated action. On June 27, 2023, the Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy, which notified the court of the filing of 
the Chapter 11 Cases and resulting automatic stay. An independent committee of directors evaluated the derivative claims with 
the assistance and advice of special litigation counsel to make a recommendation as to the disposition of such claims. 
Ultimately, such claims were retained by the Company and not released under the Plan. The proceedings are subject to 
uncertainties inherent in the litigation process. 
 
DiamondPeak Delaware Class Action Litigation 
 
Two putative class action lawsuits were filed against former DiamondPeak directors and DiamondPeak Sponsor LLC on 
December 8 and 13, 2021 in the Delaware Court of Chancery (Hebert v. Hamamoto, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1066); and Amin v 
Hamamoto, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1085)) (collectively, the “Delaware Class Action Litigation”). The plaintiffs purport to 
represent a class of investors in DiamondPeak and assert breach of fiduciary duty claims based on allegations that the defendants 
made or failed to prevent alleged misrepresentations regarding vehicle pre-orders and production timeline, and that but for 
those allegedly false and misleading disclosures, the plaintiffs would have exercised a right to redeem their shares prior to the 
de-SPAC transaction. On February 9, 2023, the parties filed a stipulation and proposed order consolidating the two putative 
class action lawsuits, appointing Hebert and Amin as co-lead plaintiffs, appointing Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann 
LLP and Pomerantz LLP as co-lead counsel and setting a briefing schedule for the motions to dismiss and motions to stay. The 
motions to stay were fully briefed as of February 23, 2023 and the court held oral argument on February 28, 2023. On March 
7, 2023, the court denied the motion to stay. On March 10, 2023, defendants filed their brief in support of their motion to 
dismiss. The motion to dismiss was fully briefed on April 27, 2023, and was scheduled for oral argument on May 10, 2023. On 
May 6, 2023, defendants withdrew the motion to dismiss without prejudice. On July 22, 2023, co-lead plaintiffs filed an 
amended class action complaint asserting similar claims. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the amended class action 
complaint on October 14, 2023. Plaintiffs’ answering brief and Defendants’ reply brief were due on November 18 and 
December 9, 2023, respectively. Oral argument on the motion to dismiss was scheduled for January 6, 2023. On January 5, 
2023, the defendants withdrew their motion to dismiss. On February 2, 2023, the court issued a case scheduling order setting 
forth pre-trial deadlines and a date for trial in March 2024. On February 3, 2023, defendants filed their answer to plaintiffs’ 
amended class action complaint. On February 7, 2023, plaintiffs served the Company, as a non-party, with a subpoena for 
certain information, which the Company responded to on February 21, 2023. 
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On June 9, 2023, the court granted in part and denied in part the plaintiffs’ motion to compel regarding the appropriate scope 
of the Company’s response to the subpoena. On July 5, 2023, in the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company filed (i) an adversary 
complaint seeking injunctive relief to extend the automatic stay to the plaintiffs in the Delaware Class Action Litigation, 
initiating the adversary proceeding captioned Lordstown Motors Corp. v. Amin, Adv. Proc. No. 23-50428 (Bankr. D. Del.) and 
(ii) a motion and brief in support thereof, seeking a preliminary injunction extending the automatic stay to the Delaware Class 
Action Litigation. On August 3, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court denied the Company’s preliminary injunction motion. On July 21, 
2023, plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification in the Delaware Class Action Litigation. The parties have advised the 
Company that they have reached an agreement to resolve this matter, and the former DiamondPeak directors are seeking 
indemnification from the Company with respect to a portion of the settlement amount. The Company believes it has defenses 
to such indemnification claims, including that such indemnification claims are subject to subordination pursuant to applicable 
law, and, if allowed, should receive the treatment set forth in Article III B.8 of the Plan. The proceedings remain subject to 
uncertainties inherent in the litigation process. 
 
On September 8, 2024, the Company and the former DiamondPeak directors entered into a settlement agreement pursuant to 
which, among other things, such former directors’ claims against the Company were settled. 
 
SEC Claim 
 
The Company received two subpoenas from the SEC for the production of documents and information, including relating to 
the merger between DiamondPeak and Legacy Lordstown and pre-orders of vehicles, and the Company was informed by the 
U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York that it is investigating these matters. The Company cooperated, 
and will continue to cooperate, with these and any other regulatory or governmental investigations and inquiries. Ultimately, 
the SEC filed a claim against the Company for $45.0 million (the “SEC Claim”). The Company settled the SEC Claim by (i) 
settling the Ohio Securities Class Action and (ii) making an offer of settlement to the SEC, which was approved by the SEC 
on February 29, 2024. Upon the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy, the SEC Claim was deemed withdrawn pursuant to 
the terms of the offer of settlement and the Plan. See the section in this Note 9 titled “Ohio Securities Class Action” for 
additional information regarding the Company’s continuing contingent obligations related to the Ohio Securities Class Action 
settlement. No amounts attributable to the Company’s settlement of the SEC Claim were paid or are payable to the SEC. 
 
Indemnification Obligations 
 
The Company may have potential indemnification obligations with respect to the current and former directors named in the 
above-referenced actions, which obligations may be significant and may not be covered by the Company’s applicable directors 
and officers insurance. The Company believes it has defenses to certain of these potential indemnification obligations, including 
that such claims for indemnification are subject to subordination pursuant to applicable law, and, if allowed, should receive the 
treatment set forth in Article III.B.8 of the Plan. 
 
Foxconn Transactions 
 
The Company entered into a series of transactions with affiliates of Foxconn, beginning with the Agreement in Principle that 
was announced on September 30, 2021, pursuant to which the Company entered into definitive agreements to sell our 
manufacturing facility in Lordstown, Ohio under an asset purchase agreement (the “Foxconn APA”) and outsource 
manufacturing of the Endurance to Foxconn under a contract manufacturing agreement (the “CMA”). On November 7, 2022, 
the Company entered into an investment agreement with Foxconn under which Foxconn agreed to make additional equity 
investments in the Company (the “Investment Agreement”). The Investment Agreement superseded and replaced an earlier 
joint venture agreement. The Foxconn APA, the CMA and the Investment Agreement together are herein referred to as the 
“Foxconn Transactions.” 
 
On June 27, 2023, the Company commenced the Foxconn Litigation in the Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for breaches of the 
Investment Agreement, the Foxconn APA and the CMA and fraudulent and tortious actions that the Company believes were 
committed by Foxconn. See the following section and Note 1 - Description of Business - Foxconn Litigation for additional 
information. The Investment Agreement and the CMA were rejected pursuant to the Plan upon the Company’s emergence from 
bankruptcy. The Foxconn APA transaction was consummated before the Chapter 11 Cases. Refer to Note 5 - Series A 
Convertible Preferred Stock for additional details. 
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Foxconn Litigation 
 
On June 27, 2023, the Company commenced the Foxconn Litigation in the Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for breaches of the 
Investment Agreement and other agreements and fraudulent and tortious actions that the Company believes were committed 
by Foxconn, which have caused substantial harm to our operations and prospects and significant damages. On September 29, 
2023, Foxconn filed a motion to dismiss all counts of the Foxconn Litigation and brief in support of the same (the “Foxconn 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss”), asserting that all of the Company’s claims are subject to binding arbitration provisions and 
that the Company has failed to state a claim for relief. 
 
On August 1, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered an opinion and order partially denying and partially granting the Foxconn 
Adversary Motion to Dismiss, which was subsequently amended on October 1, 2024. Nine of the Company’s claims survived 
the motion to dismiss on the grounds that the Company pled viable claims against Foxconn and the claims were not subject to 
mandatory arbitration. The Court also dismissed two of the Company’s claims in favor of arbitration. The order is presently 
being appealed by Foxconn. The Bankruptcy Court has stayed litigation of the claims that it ruled were not subject to arbitration 
pending that appeal. The Court also allowed that the two dismissed claims should proceed to arbitration. 
 
In conjunction with the District Court proceedings, the Company and Foxconn engaged in a mediation effort. On January 15, 
2025, the Company informed the District Court that the mediation did not result in a resolution. 
 
On January 27, 2025, the Company moved the District Court to allow the appeal to be heard directly by the Court of Appeals 
for the Third Circuit. That motion is pending. 
 
The Company is vigorously pursuing the litigation. 
 
The Post-Petition Securities Action 
 
On July 26, 2023, a putative class action lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio by Bandol 
Lim (“Plaintiff Lim”), individually and on behalf of other stockholders asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 20(a) of 
the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder relating to the Company’s disclosure regarding its relationship with Foxconn and 
the Foxconn Transactions (the “Post-Petition Securities Action”). The lawsuit names Edward Hightower, Adam Kroll, and 
Daniel Ninivaggi as Defendants (“Defendants”) in their capacities as Company officers and/or directors. Defendants dispute 
the allegations and intend to vigorously defend against the suit. None of the Debtors is named as a Defendant in the Post-
Petition Securities Action. Plaintiff Lim and RIDE Investor Group each filed motions for appointment as lead plaintiff in the 
Post-Petition Securities Action. On September 30, 2024, the Post-Petition Securities Action was dismissed in full on the 
grounds that none of the allegations were actionable. Separately, each of the members of the RIDE Investor Group filed proofs 
of claim (the “RIDE Proofs of Claims”) against the Company, purportedly on behalf of themselves and the putative class in 
the Post-Petition Securities Action, in an unliquidated amount. The RIDE Investor Group has not sought authority from the 
Bankruptcy Court to file its purported class proofs of claim. The Plan constituted an objection to each of the RIDE Proofs of 
Claim, and on October 25, 2024, the Company filed additional objections to the RIDE Proofs of Claim on various grounds. 
Each of the RIDE Proofs of Claim was disallowed by Bankruptcy Court order, and the Company bears no liability for such 
claims. 
 
NHTSA Matters 
 
The Company’s obligations under the Safety Act administered by NHTSA for the vehicles it has manufactured and sold 
continued in force during the pendency of and following the Chapter 11 Cases. During the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company’s 
obligations were treated as a claim of the United States government against the Company. The Plan did not discharge the 
Company from claims arising after emergence from bankruptcy, nor did it preclude or enjoin the enforcement of any police or 
regulatory power. The Company has repurchased all but two of the vehicles that were sold (other than the vehicles sold to LAS 
Capital or its affiliates, for which it assumed warranty, product liability and recall liabilities). The Company cannot predict the 
extent of the liability that may arise from the Safety Act obligations for vehicles the Company has already manufactured and 
sold, or any claims that may be asserted by NHTSA. 
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NOTE 10 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Under the Investment Agreement, Foxconn made additional equity investments in the Company, whereby it became a related 
party under the Company’s Related Party Transaction Policy as a 5% or more beneficial owner of the Company’s Class A 
common stock. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company paid Foxconn approximately $0.3 million, primarily 
related to payments under the CMA and other manufacturing expenses. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company 
made no payments, and had no amounts payable, to Foxconn. 
 
William Gallagher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, is a principal of M3 Partners, LP (“M3 Partners”). M3 Partners 
served as the Equity Committee’s financial consultant during the bankruptcy proceedings. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, 
the Company engaged M3 Partners to provide executive management and support services pursuant to the terms of an 
engagement agreement (the “Engagement Agreement”). Mr. Gallagher has been, and will remain, employed by M3 Partners 
and will provide his services pursuant to the Engagement Agreement. Pursuant to the Engagement Agreement, M3 Partners’ 
fees are calculated on an hourly basis. The Company incurred approximately $1.5 million in fees payable to M3 Partners under 
the Engagement Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2024, which is included in selling, general, and administrative 
expenses within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 
Mr. Gallagher was not a related party. 
 
NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date up to the date that the 
financial statements were issued. Based upon this review, the Company did not identify any subsequent events that would have 
required adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 

None. 
 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 
 
Management’s Evaluation of our Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are controls and 
other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under 
the Exchange Act, are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and 
forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls, activities, and procedures designed to ensure 
that information required to be disclosed in company reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and 
communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
We do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. Disclosure 
controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that 
the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. The design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect 
the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits must be considered relative to their costs and the nature of operating 
activities. Internal control over financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper override. Because of the 
inherent limitations in all disclosure controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide 
absolute assurance that we have detected all our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure 
controls and procedures also is based partly on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no 
assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. As required by Rules 
13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer, who also serves as our Chief Financial Officer, 
carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of 
December 31, 2024. 
 
Based upon his evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective. 
 
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined 
in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and 
fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, (iii) 
provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors, and (iv) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. In 
addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
 
Under the supervision of the CEO and Board of Directors, the Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 
framework)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring organizations of the Treadway Commission in 2013. Based on this 
assessment, management has concluded that its internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024. 
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
 
In light of the limited nature of our operations, our controls primarily relate to financial reporting and payment of our expenses. 
As a result of eliminating personnel, including full-time employees, we have enhanced our oversight of accounting and payment 
processing with increased executive involvement and support from consultants and advisors to facilitate the presentation of 
information with respect to our operations that is accurate and complete. Our Chief Executive Officer also serves as our Chief 
Financial Officer. 
 
Item 9B. Other Information. 
 
During the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or executive officers adopted or terminated any Rule 
10b5-1 trading arrangements or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (in each case, as defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation 
S-K). 
 
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 
 
None. 
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PART III 
 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance 
 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
 
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial 
officer and principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. The Code of Business Conduct 
and Ethics is available on our website at www.nurideinc.com under the heading “Governance.” Any amendments to the Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics or any grant of a waiver from the provisions of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
requiring disclosure under applicable Securities and Exchange Commission rules will be disclosed on the Company’s website. 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to our definitive proxy statement or an 
amendment to this Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2024. 
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to our definitive proxy statement or an 
amendment to this Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2024. 
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to our definitive proxy statement or an 
amendment to this Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2024. 
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to our definitive proxy statement or an 
amendment to this Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2024. 
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant’s Fees and Services 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference to our definitive proxy statement or an 
amendment to this Form 10-K to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2024. 
 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 
 
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report: 
 

(1) Financial Statements 
 

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries are included in Item 8 of this 
Report: 

 
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
 

(2) Financial Statements Schedule. All financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or 
the amounts are immaterial and not required, or the required information is presented in the financial statements and 
notes thereto in is Item 15 of Part IV below.  
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(3) Exhibits. 
 

Exhibit Index 
 

Exhibit No.   Description 
2.1 

  
Third Modified First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on 
March 7, 2024) 

2.2+   Asset Purchase Agreement, dated September 29, 2023, among Lordstown Motors Corp., Lordstown EV 
Corporation, Lordstown EV Sales LLC, LAS Capital LLC and Stephen S. Burns (incorporated by reference to 
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 29, 2023) 

3.1   Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the 
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024). 

3.2   Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024). 

3.3   Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by 
reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 22, 2022) 

4.1*   Description of Class A Common Stock 
10.1#   Engagement Letter, dated March 15, 2024, between Nu Ride Inc. and M3 Partners LP. (incorporated by 

reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 
2024, filed with the SEC on May 14, 2024) 

10.2#   2020 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed 
with the SEC on May 19, 2022) 

10.3#   Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the 
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024, filed with the SEC on August 
13, 2024) 

10.4   Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2024, filed with the SEC 
on August 13, 2024) 

10.5# 

  

Form of Notice of Stock Option Award Granted Under the Lordstown Motors Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2020) 

10.6# 

  

Form of Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award Granted Under the Lordstown Motors Corp. 2020 Equity 
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2020) 

10.7# 

  

Form of Lordstown Motors Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan Outside Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the fiscal year ended December 
31, 2020) 

10.8# 
  

Form of Lordstown Motors Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan Performance Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated 
by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022) 

10.9 

  

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 10, 2021, between Lordstown Motors Corp. and Foxconn 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 10, 
2021) 

10.10 

  

Manufacturing Supply Agreement, dated May 11, 2022, between Lordstown EV Corporation and Foxconn EV 
System LLC (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on 
May 11, 2022) 

10.11 

  

Investment Agreement, dated November 7, 2022, between Lordstown Motors Corp. and Foxconn Ventures Pte. 
Ltd. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 
7, 2022) 

10.12 

  

Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 22, 2022, between Lordstown Motors Corp. and Foxconn 
Ventures Pte. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the 
SEC on November 22, 2022) 
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Exhibit No.   Description 
10.13 

  

Open Market Sales Agreement, dated November 7, 2022, between Lordstown Motors Corp. and Jefferies LLC 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q, filed with the SEC on November 
7, 2022) 

10.14 

  

Settlement Agreement, dated August 14, 2023, among Lordstown Motors Corp., Lordstown EV Corporation, 
Lordstown EV Sales LLC and Karma Automotive LLC (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 15, 2023) 

16.1 
  

Letter to the Securities and Exchange Commission from KPMG LLP, dated April 17, 2024 (incorporated by 
reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 18, 2024) 

19.1*   Nu Ride Inc. Insider Trading Policy 
21.1*   List of Subsidiaries  
24.1*   Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto) 
31.1* 

  
Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-
14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.1** 
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, 
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

97.1 
  

Lordstown Motors Corp. Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.1 to the Company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on February 29, 2024) 

99.1 

  

Order (I) Confirming Third Modified First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its 
Affiliated Debtors and (II) Granting Related Relief (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 7, 2024). 

101.INS 
  

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because 
its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document 

101.SCH*    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 
101.CAL*    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 
101.DEF*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 
101.LAB*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 
101.PRE*   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 
104* 

  
Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data 
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document 

 

+ The schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy 
of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request. 

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
* Filed herewith 
** Furnished herewith 

 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

 
Not applicable. 
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SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this 
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
  
  NU RIDE INC.  

   
Date: March 28, 2025 /s/ William Gallagher  

Name: William Gallagher  
Title: Chief Executive Officer, President, Secretary, and 

Treasurer 
 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 
 
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and 
appoints William Gallagher, his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, 
for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2024, and any and all amendments and supplements thereto and all other instruments necessary or 
desirable in connection therewith, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and 
perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully for all intents and purposes as he might or 
could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorney-in-fact and agents, or his substitute or 
substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons 
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
  

Signature   Title   Date 
          

/s/ William Gallagher 

  Chief Executive Officer, President, Secretary and Treasurer 
(Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and 
Principal Accounting Officer)  

  March 28, 2025 

William Gallagher         
          

/s/ Andrew L. Sole   Chairman   March 28, 2025  
Andrew L. Sole         

          
/s/ Alexander C. Matina   Director   March 28, 2025  

Alexander C. Matina         
          

/s/ Michael J. Wartell   Director   March 28, 2025  
Michael J. Wartell         

          
/s/ Neil Weiner   Director   March 28, 2025  

Neil Weiner         
          

/s/ Alexandre Zyngier   Director   March 28, 2025  
Alexandre Zyngier         
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Exhibit 4.1 
 

NU RIDE INC. 
DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES 

REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

 
Nu Ride Inc. (the “Company”) has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act 

of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”): our Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Class A common 
stock”). 

 
The Class A common stock began trading exclusively on the over-the-counter market on July 7, 2023 under the symbol 

“RIDEQ.” On March 14, 2024, upon the Company’s emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings, the ticker symbol 
changed to “NRDE”. 

 
DESCRIPTION OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK 

 
The following is a summary of the material terms of our Class A common stock. It is not intended to be a complete 

summary of the rights and preferences of our securities, and is qualified by reference to our Third Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (“Charter”) and Amended and Restated Bylaws (“Bylaws”) described herein, which 
are included as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit forms a part, and the applicable provisions 
of Delaware law. Defined terms used herein and not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this exhibit forms a part. 

 
Authorized and Outstanding Stock 
 
Class A Common Stock 
 

The Charter authorizes the issuance of 462,000,000 shares of capital stock, $0.0001 par value per share, consisting of 
450,000,000 shares of Class A common stock and 12,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock. The outstanding shares 
of Class A common stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. 
Voting Power 
 

Except as otherwise required by law or as otherwise provided in any certificate of designation for any series of 
preferred stock, the holders of Class A common stock possess all voting power for the election of our directors and all other 
matters requiring stockholder action, and at all times vote together as one class on all matters properly submitted to a vote of 
the stockholders. Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share on matters to be voted on by stockholders. 

 
Dividends 
 

Holders of Class A common stock will be entitled to receive such dividends and other distributions, if any, as may be 
declared from time to time by the board of directors in its discretion out of funds legally available therefor and shall share 
equally on a per share basis in such dividends and distributions. 
Liquidation, Dissolution and Winding Up 
 

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, distribution of assets or winding up, holders of 
the Class A common stock will be entitled to receive an equal amount per share of all of our assets of whatever kind available 
for distribution to stockholders, after the rights of the holders of the preferred stock have been satisfied. 
 
Preemptive or Other Rights 
 

Our stockholders have no preemptive or other subscription rights and there are no sinking fund or redemption 
provisions applicable to Class A common stock. 

 
Election of Directors 
 

Subject to the rights of the holders of any series of preferred stock to elect additional directors under specified 
circumstances, the total number of directors of the Company shall be no less than three and no more than nine as fixed from 
time to time by the board. Our Charter provides that our board of directors is divided into three classes, each of which generally 
serves for a term of three years with only one class of directors being elected in each year. 
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Preferred Stock 
 

Our Charter provides that shares of preferred stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series. Our board 
of directors is authorized to fix the voting rights, if any, designations, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional, 
special and other rights, if any, of each such series and any qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof. Our board of 
directors is able to, without stockholder approval, issue preferred stock with voting and other rights that could adversely affect 
the voting power and other rights of the holders of the Class A common stock and could have anti-takeover effects. The ability 
of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval could have the effect of delaying, deferring or 
preventing a change of control of us or the removal of existing management. 

 
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has been designated, with such series consisting of such number of shares, with 

such voting powers and with such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and 
qualifications, limitations or restrictions therefor as are stated and expressed in that certain Certificate of Designation, 
Preferences, and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 of Lordstown Motors Corp. filed with the 
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 18, 2022, which is included as an exhibit to the Annual Report on 
Form 10-K of which this exhibit forms a part. 
 
Certain Anti-Takeover Provisions of Delaware Law, Our Charter and the Bylaws 
 
Special Meetings of Stockholders 
 

Our Charter provides that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the board of directors pursuant 
to a resolution adopted by a majority of the entire board of directors then in office. Subject to the rights, if any, of the holders 
of any outstanding series of preferred stock, and to the requirements of applicable law, stockholders may not call special 
meetings. 

 
Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals and Director Nominations 
 

Our Bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to bring business before our annual meeting of stockholders, or to 
nominate candidates for election as directors at our annual meeting of stockholders, must provide timely notice of their intent 
in writing among other requirements. 

 
For a nomination made by a stockholder to be timely, a stockholder’s notice will need to be received by our secretary 

at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business on the 90th day nor earlier than the close of business on 
the 120th day prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders, provided, however, 
that in the event that the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date (or if 
there has been no prior annual meeting), notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close 
of business on the 120th day before the meeting and not later than the later of (x) the close of business on the 90th day before 
the meeting or (y) the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of the 
annual meeting is first made by us. Pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Exchange Act, proposals seeking inclusion in our annual 
proxy statement must comply with the notice periods contained in such rule. Director nominations must also comply with the 
notice requirements of Rule 14a-19. 

 
For business (other than nominations) brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder to be timely, notice must be 

received by our secretary at our principal executive offices not later than the close of business on the 140th day nor earlier than 
the close of business on the 160th day before the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting of stockholders; 
provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such 
anniversary date (or if there has been no prior annual meeting), notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not 
earlier than the close of business on the 160th day before the meeting and not later than the later of (x) the close of business on 
the 140th day before the meeting or (y) the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which public announcement 
of the date of the annual meeting is first made by us. 

 
Our Bylaws specify certain requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice for an annual meeting. 

These provisions may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring matters before our annual meeting of stockholders or make 
nominations for directors at our annual meeting of stockholders. 
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Authorized but Unissued Shares 
 

Our authorized but unissued Class A common stock and preferred stock are available for future issuances without 
stockholder approval and could be utilized for a variety of corporate purposes, including future offerings to raise additional 
capital, acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved Class A common 
stock and preferred stock could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of us by means of a proxy 
contest, tender offer, merger or otherwise. 

 
Exclusive Forum Selection for Certain Lawsuits 
 

The Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent 
permitted by law, a state court located within the State of Delaware (or, if no court located within the State of Delaware has 
jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) shall be the sole and exclusive forum for any internal or 
intra-corporate claim or any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine as defined by the laws of the State 
of Delaware, including, but not limited to (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (ii) any action asserting 
a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or stockholders to us or our 
stockholders; or (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or the Charter or the Bylaws 
(in each case, as they may be amended from time to time), or as to which the DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of 
Chancery of the State of Delaware. 

 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Charter provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative 

forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for any action asserting a cause of action arising 
under the Securities Act or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder (in each case, as amended) shall be the federal district 
court for the District of Delaware (or, if such court does not have jurisdiction over such action, any other federal district court 
of the United States); provided, however, that if the foregoing provisions are, or the application of such provisions to any person 
or entity or any circumstance is, illegal, invalid or unenforceable, the sole and exclusive forum for any action asserting a cause 
of action arising under the Securities Act or any rule or regulation promulgated thereunder (in each case, as amended) will be 
the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware. To the fullest extent permitted by law, any person or entity purchasing or 
otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in our shares of capital stock will be deemed to have notice of and consented to the 
forum provision in the Charter. 

 
Although we believe the forum provision of our Charter benefits us by providing increased consistency in the 

application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, a court may determine that this provision is 
unenforceable, and to the extent it is enforceable, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our 
directors and officers, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities 
laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. 

 
The Charter provides that the exclusive forum provision will be applicable to the fullest extent permitted by applicable 

law. Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability 
created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As a result, the exclusive forum provision will not apply 
to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts 
have exclusive jurisdiction. 

 
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law 
 

We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL regulating corporate takeovers. This statute prevents 
certain Delaware corporations, under certain circumstances, from engaging in a “business combination” with: 
  
  ● a stockholder who owns 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock (otherwise known as an “interested 

stockholder”); 
   ● an affiliate of an interested stockholder; or 
  ● an associate of an interested stockholder, for three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested 

stockholder. 
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  ● A “business combination” includes a merger or sale of more than 10% of our assets. However, the above provisions 

of Section 203 do not apply if: 
  

  ○ our board of directors approves the transaction that made the stockholder an interested stockholder,” prior to 
the date of the transaction; 

  ○ after the completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, 
that stockholder owned at least 85% of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, 
other than statutorily excluded shares of common stock; or 

  ○ on or subsequent to the date of the transaction, the business combination is approved by our board of directors 
and authorized at a meeting of our stockholders, and not by written consent, by an affirmative vote of at least 
two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock not owned by the interested stockholder. 

 
Classified Board 
 

Our Charter provides that our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors. As a result, in most 
circumstances, a person can gain control of our board of directors only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at two or 
more annual meetings. 

 
Limitation on Liability and Indemnification of Directors and Officers 
 

The Charter limits our directors’ liability to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL. The DGCL provides that 
directors of a corporation will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as directors, 
except for liability: 
  
  ● for any transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit; 
  ● for any act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law; 
  ● for any unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares; or 
  ● for any breach of a director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders. 
 

If the DGCL is amended to authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, 
then the liability of our directors will be eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as so amended. 

 
Delaware law and the Charter provide that we will, in certain situations, indemnify our directors and officers and may 

(as provided in the Bylaws) indemnify other employees and other agents, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any indemnified 
person is also entitled, subject to certain limitations, to advancement, direct payment, or reimbursement of reasonable expenses 
(including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding. 

 
In addition, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and officers. These 

agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors and officers for certain expenses, including attorneys’ 
fees, judgments, fines, and settlement amounts incurred by a director or officer in any action or proceeding arising out of their 
services as one of our directors or officers or as a director or officer of any other company or enterprise to which the person 
provides services at our request. 

 
We maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy pursuant to which our directors and officers are insured against 

liability for actions taken in their capacities as directors and officers. We believe these provisions in the Charter and the Bylaws 
and these indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors and officers. 
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Exhibit 19.1 
 

NU RIDE INC. 
 

INSIDER TRADING POLICY 
 

Nu Ride Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Insider Trading Policy (this “Policy”) both to satisfy its obligation to 
prevent insider trading and to help the persons subject to this Policy avoid the severe consequences associated with violations 
of the insider trading laws. The Policy also is intended to prevent even the appearance of improper conduct on the part of 
anyone employed by or associated with the Company. 

 
Scope of Policy 
 

Persons Covered. This Policy applies to all directors, officers, and employees of the Company, as well as agents, 
consultants and contractors to the Company who have access to “material nonpublic information,” as well as their Family 
Members and Controlled Entities. 

 
“Family Members” include a person’s spouse or life-partner, parents, stepparents, children, stepchildren, siblings, 

mothers- and fathers-in-law, sons- and daughters-in-law, and brothers- and sisters-in- law and anyone residing in the home of 
the director, officer, or employee of the Company (other than a tenant or employee). 

 
“Controlled Entities” include any legal entities controlled by a person, such as any corporations, partnerships, or trusts. 
 
Securities Covered. Although it is most likely that the “material, nonpublic information” a person subject to this Policy 

possess will relate to the common stock of the Company, the Company may from time-to-time issue other securities that are 
publicly traded and, therefore, subject to this Policy. In addition, this Policy applies to all transactions in the securities of other 
entities, including tenants or suppliers of the Company and entities with which the Company may be negotiating major 
transactions (such as an acquisition, investment or sale of assets). Information that is not material to the Company may 
nevertheless be material to those entities. 

 
Statement of Policy 
 

No Trading on “Material, Nonpublic Information.” If a person subject to this Policy possesses “material, nonpublic 
information” relating to the Company, its subsidiaries or any other entity, such person may not (a) purchase, sell or otherwise 
transact in securities of the Company or such other entity, (b) direct any other person to purchase, sell or otherwise transact in 
such securities or (c) disclose the information to anyone outside the Company. 

 
Material, Nonpublic Information. “Material, nonpublic information” is information that is not generally available to 

the public that could affect the market price of a security and which a reasonable investor would regard as important in deciding 
whether to buy, sell or hold the security. Either positive or negative information may be material. Because trading that receives 
scrutiny will be evaluated after the fact with the benefit of hindsight, questions concerning the materiality of particular 
information should be resolved in favor of materiality, and trading should be avoided. Common examples of material 
information are: 

  
  ● a dividend increase or decrease, a change in dividend policy or the declaration of a dividend; 
      

  ● financial and operational results from a previously completed quarter or year; 
      

  ● forecasts, estimates or projections of earnings or results of operations for current or future periods; 
   

  ● news of a pending or proposed merger, acquisition, tender offer, divestiture or disposition of significant assets; 
      

  ● actual or threatened major litigation, or the resolution of such litigation; 
      

  ● major events regarding securities, including the declaration of a stock split or the offering of additional securities (debt 
or equity); 

      

  ● new major contracts, tenants, or finance sources, or the loss thereof; 
      

  ● a change in auditors or notification that an auditor report can no longer be relied upon; 
      

  ● financial liquidity problems; or 
      

  ● major cybersecurity risks or incidents, including vulnerabilities and breaches. 
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This list is not exhaustive; other types of information may be material at any particular time, depending on the 
circumstances. Keep in mind that any review of a person’s transactions will be completed after the fact, with the benefit of 
hindsight. If a person subject to this Policy is unsure whether information is material, he or she should consult the General 
Counsel1 or its designee before making any decision to disclose such information (other than to persons who need to know it) 
or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information relates or assume that the information is material. 

 
Public Information. Information is considered to be available to the public only when it has been released to the public 

through appropriate channels (for example, by means of a press release, a publicly accessible conference call or a governmental 
filing) and enough time has elapsed to permit the investment market to absorb and evaluate the information. As a general rule, 
information is considered absorbed and evaluated after the completion of the second trading day after the information is 
released. 

 
Improper Disclosure. The Company has authorized only certain individuals to publicly release material, nonpublic 

information. Unless a person subject to this Policy is explicitly authorized to do so, such person must refrain from discussing 
material, nonpublic information with anyone outside the Company. If such information is improperly disclosed to outsiders, 
the Company may be forced to release it publicly. For example, an improper disclosure which results in a news story about a 
pending acquisition may require public release of plans that could upset the transaction. Therefore, a person subject to this 
Policy should avoid discussing such information in public and should ensure that documents containing sensitive information 
about the Company are secure and are not distributed improperly. 

 
“Blackout” Periods 
 

A “blackout” period is a period during which a person subject to this Policy may not execute transactions in Company 
securities. Please bear in mind that even if a blackout period is not in effect, at no time may such person trade in Company 
securities if such person is aware of material, nonpublic information about the Company. For example, if the Company issues 
a quarterly earnings release and a person subject to this Policy is aware of other material, nonpublic information not disclosed 
in the earnings release, such person may not trade in Company securities. 

 
1 For purposes hereof, General Counsel means the general counsel of the Company or the principal outside counsel of the 
Company in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 
 

Event-Specific Blackout Periods. The Company reserves the right to impose trading blackout periods from time to 
time when, in the judgment of the Company, a blackout period is warranted. A blackout period may be imposed for any reason, 
including the Company’s involvement in a material transaction, the anticipated issuance of interim earnings guidance or other 
material public announcements. The existence of an event-specific blackout period may not be announced or may be announced 
only to those who are aware of the transaction or event giving rise to the blackout period. If a person subject to this Policy is 
made aware of the existence of an event-specific blackout period, such person should not disclose the existence of such blackout 
period to any other person. Individuals that are subject to event-specific blackout periods will be contacted when these periods 
are instituted from time to time. 

 
Pension Fund Blackout Periods. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 prohibits all purchases, sales, or transfers of 

Company securities by directors and officers of the Company during a “pension fund blackout period.” A pension fund blackout 
period exists whenever 50% or more of the participants in a Company benefit plan are unable to conduct transactions in their 
Company common stock accounts for more than three consecutive business days. These blackout periods typically occur when 
there is a change in the benefit plan’s trustee, record keeper or investment manager. Individuals that are subject to these blackout 
periods will be contacted when these periods are instituted from time to time. 

 
Hardship Exceptions. If a person subject to this Policy has an unexpected and urgent need to sell Company securities 

to generate cash such person may, in appropriate circumstances, be permitted to sell Company securities during a blackout 
period. Hardship exceptions may be granted only by the General Counsel or its designee and must be requested at least two 
business days in advance of the proposed transaction. 

 
Other Trading Restrictions 
 

The Company considers it improper and inappropriate for persons subject to this Policy to engage in short-term or 
speculative transactions in Company securities or in other transactions in Company securities that may lead to inadvertent 
violations of the U.S. insider trading laws. Accordingly, transactions in Company securities by such persons are subject to the 
following guidance.  
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Short Sales. Persons subject to this Policy may not engage in short sales of Company securities (sales of securities 
that are not then owned), including a “sale against the box” (a sale with delayed delivery). In addition, Section 16(c) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) prohibits directors and executive officers from engaging 
in short sales. 

 
Publicly Traded Options. Persons subject to this Policy may not engage in transactions in publicly traded options on 

Company securities (such as puts, calls and other derivative securities) on an exchange or in any other organized market. 
 
Standing Orders. Standing orders (except under approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, see below) that extend beyond the date 

the order is placed should not be used. A standing order placed with a broker to sell or purchase stock at a specified price leaves 
persons with no control over the timing of the transaction. A standing order transaction executed by the broker when a person 
subject to this Policy is aware of material, nonpublic information may result in unlawful insider trading even if the standing 
order was placed at a time when such person did not possess material, nonpublic information. 

 
Margin Accounts and Pledges. A person that holds securities in a margin account or that are pledged as collateral may 

not have control over these transactions as the securities may be sold at certain times without such person’s consent. In addition, 
a margin or foreclosure sale that occurs when a person subject to this Policy is aware of material, nonpublic information may, 
under some circumstances, result in unlawful insider trading. Persons subject to this Policy who desire to place Company 
securities in a margin account, pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan or modify an existing margin account or 
pledge arrangement must submit a written request for approval of the proposed transaction or modification to the General 
Counsel or a designee thereof at least two weeks prior to the proposed transaction. The General Counsel shall have the sole 
discretion in determining whether to approve a margin or pledge transaction submitted for pre-approval and there is no 
assurance that approval will be granted. 

 
Hedges and Monetization Transactions. Persons subject to this Policy may not engage in hedging or monetization 

transactions, through transactions in Company securities or through the use of financial instruments designed for such purpose. 
Such hedging and monetization transactions may permit a person to own Company securities, but without the full risks and 
rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the person may no longer have the same objectives as the Company’s stockholders 
generally. 

 
Transactions Under Company Benefit Plans 
 

The U.S. insider trading laws also restrict the ability of persons subject to this Policy to engage in certain transactions 
under the Company’s benefit plans, as described below: 

 
Incentive Plan. Persons subject to this Policy may be granted stock-based compensation awards, including restricted 

stock units. Such persons may not, however, sell in the open market any Company stock granted under such compensation plan 
during any blackout period that applies to such person or while such person possesses material, nonpublic information. This 
Policy does not apply to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person subject to this Policy elects to have 
the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock; provided 
that such exercise is subject to the pre-clearance procedures set forth below under the caption “Pre-Clearance Procedures.” 

 
Rule 10b5-1 Plans 
 

Transactions in Company securities under a plan that complies with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act are not 
subject to the prohibition on trades during blackout periods or the prohibition on trading while being aware of material, 
nonpublic information described above. 

 
In general, a Rule 10b5-1 plan must be entered into before the employee is aware of material, nonpublic information 

and may not be adopted during a blackout period. Once the plan is adopted, the employee must not exercise any influence over 
the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. In addition, the plan must 
either specify (including by formula) the amount, pricing, and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on those 
matters to an independent third party. The Company requires that the adoption, modification or early termination of Rule 10b5-
1 plans be approved in writing and in advance by the Company’s General Counsel or its designee. 
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Pre-Clearance Procedures 
 

All persons subject to this Policy may not engage in any transaction involving Company securities without first 
obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the General Counsel or its designee. 

 
A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to the General Counsel or its designee at least two business days in 

advance of the proposed transaction. A request for pre-clearance should contain a description of the proposed transaction, the 
date of the proposed transaction and the number of securities involved in the transaction. The General Counsel or its designee 
are under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance and may determine not to permit the transaction. 

 
If pre-clearance is granted, such pre-clearance is effective only for two business days and if the transaction is not 

executed during that period, another request for pre-clearance must be submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth 
above unless an exception is granted or the pre-clearance approval has been revoked by oral or written notice. The General 
Counsel or its designee may not execute a transaction in Company securities unless the Chief Executive Officer or its designee 
has approved the transaction(s) in accordance with the procedures set forth above. 

 
Notwithstanding receipt of pre-clearance, if the requesting person becomes aware of material, nonpublic 

information or becomes subject to a blackout period before the transaction is effected, the transaction may not be 
completed. 

 
This pre-clearance procedure is designed to prevent violations of Section 16(a) and Section 16(b) of the Exchange 

Act. Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that certain transactions in Company securities must be reported on Form 4 
and filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) within two business days following the date of the 
transaction. This Policy requires not only pre-clearance of transactions in Company securities, but also advance notification of 
sufficient details of the transaction to give the Company time to prepare and file the required reports within the applicable 
deadline. To ensure that the Company has sufficient time to prepare and file the Form 4 with the SEC, all directors and officers 
who have been designated as “officers” for purposes of Section 16 under the Exchange Act (collectively with the directors, the 
“Section 16 Reporting Persons”) must report the details of the transaction to us at least by the close of business on the date the 
transaction occurred. Due to the short, two-business day period in which to file the reports, the Company may have the Form 
4 executed and filed with the SEC on your behalf using the power of attorney that you have granted to the Company for this 
purpose. Please contact the Company immediately if you believe there may be any errors in a filing. 

 
Section 16(b) provides that Section 16 Reporting Persons are liable to the Company for any “short- swing profits” 

resulting from a non-exempt purchase and sale, or sale and purchase, of Company securities that occur within a period of less 
than six months. The SEC may cause the Company to contribute these disgorged profits into a public fund to be used for 
restitution to the victims of such violations. Compliance with Section 16(a), Section 16(b) and other restricted trading periods 
is the responsibility of each Section 16 Reporting Person. 

 
Post-Termination Transactions 
 

If persons subject to this Policy are aware of material, nonpublic information when such person’s employment or 
service relationship terminates, such person may not trade in Company securities until that information has been publicly 
released. 

 
The Consequences of Insider Trading 
 

Individuals who trade on material nonpublic information (or tip information to others) can be subject to an array of 
civil and criminal penalties. Violations are taken very seriously by the SEC, the federal agency responsible for enforcing the 
law in this area. Potential sanctions include: 

  
  ● disgorgement of profits gained or losses avoided and interest thereon; 
      

  ● significant fines and imprisonment; and 
      

  ● a bar from acting as an officer or director of a publicly traded company. 
 

These penalties can apply even if the individual is not a director or officer of the Company. 
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In addition to the potentially severe civil and criminal penalties for violation of the insider trading laws, violation of 
this Policy may result in disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including termination of employment. A conviction or 
finding of liability for insider trading can also result in individuals being banned generally from employment in the securities 
or financial industries or other employment, and even a mere allegation of insider trading can result in severe harm to 
professional and personal reputation. 

 
A transaction that may be necessary or seem justifiable for independent reasons (including a need to raise money for 

a personal financial emergency) is neither an exception to this Policy nor a safeguard against prosecution for violation of insider 
trading laws. 

 
For a company (as well as possibly any supervisory person) that fails to take appropriate steps to prevent illegal 

trading, a civil penalty and criminal fine may be imposed as a result of an employee’s violation. There are also likely to be 
shareholder lawsuits and adverse publicity arising from such illegal conduct. 

 
Last approved by the Board on March 26, 2025 
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Exhibit 21.1 
 

Subsidiaries of Nu Ride Inc. 
  

Name of Subsidiary   Jurisdiction of Organization 
Lordstown EV Corporation   Delaware 

Lordstown EV Sales LLC   Delaware 
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EXHIBIT 31.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 
I, William Gallagher, certify that: 

 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nu Ride Inc.; 
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in 
all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 
 
4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) 
for the registrant and have: 
 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 
prepared; 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 

be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report 
based on such evaluation; and 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 

the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

 
5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors 
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors: 
 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report 
financial information; and 

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 
  

Date: March 28, 2025   
    
  /s/ William Gallagher 
  William Gallagher 
  Chief Executive Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer 
  (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer) 
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EXHIBIT 32.1 
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Nu Ride Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William Gallagher, Chief Executive 
Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge: 
 
(i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended; and 
 
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 
  
Date: March 28, 2025   
    
  By: /s/ William Gallagher 
  William Gallagher 
  Chief Executive Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer 
  (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer) 
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UNITED
STATES
SECURITIES
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington,
D.C. 20549
 

FORM
10-Q
 

(Mark
One)
 
☒ QUARTERLY
REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For
the quarterly period ended June 30, 2025
 

OR
 

☐ TRANSITION
REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For
the transition period from to

 
Commission
File Number: 001-38821

 

NU
RIDE INC.
(Exact
name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 
Delaware 83-2533239

(State
or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S.
Employer
Incorporation
or Organization) Identification
No.)

 
1700
Broadway, 19th Floor
New
York, New York 10019

(Address
of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
 

Registrant’s
telephone number, including area code: (212) 202-2200
 

Securities
registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None
 

Indicate
by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2)
has been subject to such filing
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

 
Indicate
by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule
405 of

Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to submit such files).
Yes ☒ No ☐

 
Indicate
by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company
or an

emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller
 reporting company,” and “emerging growth
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

 
Large
accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated
filer☐ Non-accelerated
filer ☒
Smaller
reporting company ☒ Emerging
growth company ☐  

 
If
an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying
with any

new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
 
Indicate
by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☒ No ☐
 
Indicate
by check mark whether the registrant has filed all documents and reports required to be filed by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of securities under a plan confirmed by a court. Yes ☒ No ☐
 
As
of August 6, 2025, there were 16,096,296
shares of the registrant’s Class A common stock were
outstanding.
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CAUTIONARY
NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
This
 report, including, without limitation, statements under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of
Operations,” includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”), and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). These forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of
forward-looking terminology, including the words “believes,”
 “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “may,”
 “will,” “potential,”
“projects,” “predicts,” “continue,” “could”
or “should,” or, in each case, their negative or other variations or comparable terminology, although not all
forward-looking
statements are accompanied by such terms. There can be no assurance that actual results will not materially differ from expectations.
Such
statements include, but are not limited to, any statements regarding our intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning,
 among other things, our
results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, financial or operational prospects, growth, strategies,
 and possible business combinations and the
financing thereof, and related matters, and any other statements that are not statements of
current or historical facts.
 
By
their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend on circumstances that
may or may not
occur in the future. Forward-looking statements are based upon assumptions and are not guarantees of future performance.
Actual results may differ
materially from those contained in forward-looking statements due to various factors, including, but not limited
 to: limited management, labor, and
financial resources; our reliance upon third parties for key aspects of our business; our ability
to maintain adequate internal controls; our ability to maintain
a market in our securities; our ability to continue as a going concern;
and our ability obtain financing, if and when needed, on terms that are acceptable, as
well as those risks and factors described in the
“Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024. You are
cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report, and we undertake no obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be
required by law.
 
The
Company’s stockholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the
date of this report,
and we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise,
except as may be required by law.
 
Unless
the context indicates otherwise, references in this report to the “Company,” “Lordstown,” “Debtors,”
“we,” “us,” “our” and similar terms refer to Nu
Ride Inc. (f/k/a Lordstown Motors Corp.; f/k/a DiamondPeak
Holdings Corp.) and its consolidated subsidiaries (including Legacy Lordstown (as defined
below)).
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PART
I
FINANCIAL
INFORMATION

 
Item
1. Financial Statements
 

Nu
Ride Inc.
f/k/a
Lordstown Motors Corp.

Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets
 

(in
thousands except for per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
    June 30, 2025     December 31, 2024  

ASSETS              
Current assets:              

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 26,823    $ 23,095 
Restricted cash     2,703      — 
Short-term investments     —      6,371 
Short-term investments, restricted     19,690      23,370 
Prepaid insurance     141      208 
Other current assets     330      139 

Total current assets   $ 49,687    $ 53,183 
Total assets   $ 49,687    $ 53,183 

               
LIABILITIES, MEZZANINE EQUITY AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY              
               
Current liabilities:              

Accounts payable   $ 111    $ 136 
Accrued legal and professional     554      721 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     172      207 

Total current liabilities   $ 837    $ 1,064 
Liabilities subject to compromise     7,537      9,884 

Total liabilities   $ 8,374    $ 10,948 
               
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)            
               
Mezzanine equity              

Series A Convertible Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 12,000,000 shares authorized;
300,000 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024   $ 36,887    $ 35,455 

Stockholders’ equity              
Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value, 450,000,000 shares authorized; 16,096,296
shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024   $ 24    $ 24 
Additional paid-in capital     1,183,289      1,184,505 
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income     (3)     666 
Accumulated deficit     (1,178,884)     (1,178,415)
Total stockholders’ equity   $ 4,426    $ 6,780 

Total liabilities, mezzanine equity and stockholders’ equity   $ 49,687    $ 53,183 
 

See
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Nu
Ride Inc.
f/k/a
Lordstown Motors Corp.

Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
 

(in
thousands except for per share data)
(Unaudited)

 

   

Three months
ended June 30,

2025    

Three months
ended June 30,

2024    

Six months
ended June 30,

2025    

Six months
ended June 30,

2024  
Operating expense (income):                            

Selling, general and administrative expenses     1,683      1,482      3,621      6,725 
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net     (1,326)     (2,015)     (1,498)     (2,559)
Reorganization items     —      —      —      4,785 

Total operating expense (income), net   $ 357    $ (533)   $ 2,123    $ 8,951 
                             
(Loss) income from operations   $ (357)   $ 533    $ (2,123)   $ (8,951)
                             
Other income (expense):                            

Other expense, net     (37)     (65)     (68)     (163)
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale     696      —      925      — 
Investment and interest income     440      1,010      797      2,119 

Income (loss) before income taxes   $ 742    $ 1,478    $ (469)   $ (6,995)
Income tax expense (benefit)     —      —      —      — 

Net income (loss)     742      1,478      (469)     (6,995)
Less accrued preferred stock dividend     723      668      1,432      1,323 
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders   $ 19    $ 810    $ (1,901)   $ (8,318)
                             
Other comprehensive loss:                            

Unrealized loss on debt securities available for sale     (595)     —      (669)     — 
                             
Total comprehensive (loss) income   $ (576)   $ 810    $ (2,570)   $ (8,318)
                             
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common
shareholders                            

Basic   $ —    $ 0.05    $ (0.12)   $ (0.52)
Diluted   $ —    $ 0.05    $ (0.12)   $ (0.52)

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding                            
Basic     16,096      16,096      16,096      16,014 
Diluted     17,528      17,537      16,096      16,014 

 
See
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Nu
Ride Inc.
f/k/a
Lordstown Motors Corp.

Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
 

(in
thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
    Three
months ended June 30, 2025  

    Preferred
Stock     Common
Stock    
Additional

Paid-In     Accumulated   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
Total

Stockholders’ 
    Shares     Amount    Shares     Amount    Capital     Deficit     (Loss)
Income     Equity  

Balance
at April 1, 2025     300    $ 36,164      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,183,904    $ (1,179,626)   $ 592    $ 4,894 
Stock-based
compensation     —      —      —      —      108      —      —      108 
Accrual
of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock dividends     —      723      —      —      (723)     —      —      (723)
Unrealized
loss on available for
sale debt securities     —      —      —      —      —      —      (595)     (595)
Net
income     —      —      —      —      —      742      —      742 
Balance
at June 30, 2025     300    $ 36,887      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,183,289    $ (1,178,884)   $ (3)   $ 4,426 
 
    Three
months ended June 30, 2024  

    Preferred
Stock     Common
Stock    
Additional

Paid-In     Accumulated   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
Total

Stockholders’ 
    Shares     Amount    Shares     Amount    Capital     Deficit     Income     Equity  

Balance
at April 1, 2024     300    $ 33,410      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,186,438    $ (1,178,752)   $ —    $ 7,710 
Stock-based
compensation     —      —      —      —      23      —      —      23 
Accrual
of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock dividends     —      668      —      —      (668)     —      —      (668)
Net
income     —      —      —      —      —      1,478      —      1,478 
Balance
at June 30, 2024     300    $ 34,078      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,185,793    $ (1,177,274)   $ —    $ 8,543 
 

See
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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    Six
months ended June 30, 2025  

    Preferred
Stock     Common
Stock    
Additional

Paid-In     Accumulated    

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive    
Total

Stockholders’  
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     (Loss)
Income     Equity  

Balance
at January 1, 2025     300    $ 35,455      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,184,505    $ (1,178,415)   $ 666    $ 6,780 
Stock-based
compensation     —      —      —      —      216      —      —      216 
Accrual
of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock dividends     —      1,432      —      —      (1,432)     —      —      (1,432 )
Unrealized
loss on available for
sale debt securities     —      —      —      —      —      —      (669)     (669)
Net
loss     —      —      —      —      —      (469)     —      (469)
Balance
at June 30, 2025     300    $ 36,887      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,183,289    $ (1,178,884)   $ (3)   $ 4,426 
 
    Six
months ended June 30, 2024  

    Preferred
Stock     Common
Stock    
Additional

Paid-In     Accumulated    

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
Total

Stockholders’  
    Shares     Amount     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income     Equity  

Balance
at January 1, 2024     300    $ 32,755      15,953    $ 24    $ 1,183,804    $ (1,170,279)   $ —    $ 13,549 
Restricted
stock vesting     —      —      143      —      (106)     —      —      (106)
Stock-based
compensation     —      —      —      —      3,418      —      —      3,418 
Accrual
of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock dividends     —      1,323      —      —      (1,323)     —      —      (1,323)
Net
loss     —      —      —      —      —      (6,995)     —      (6,995)
Balance
at June 30, 2024     300    $ 34,078      16,096    $ 24    $ 1,185,793    $ (1,177,274)   $ —    $ 8,543 
 

See
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Nu
Ride Inc.
f/k/a
Lordstown Motors Corp.

Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
 

(in
thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

   
Six months ended June

30, 2025    
Six months ended June

30, 2024  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:              

Net loss   $ (469)   $ (6,995)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              

Stock-based compensation     216      3,418 
Accretion of investment income     (104)     — 
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale     (925)     — 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:              
Prepaid insurance and other assets     (124)     3,612 
Accounts payable     (25)     (600)
Accrued legal and professional     (167)     (11,704)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities and liabilities subject to compromise     (2,382)     (12,469)

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (3,980)   $ (24,738)
               
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:              

Purchase of short-term investments     (19,589)     — 
Maturities of short-term investments     30,000      — 

Net cash provided by investing activities   $ 10,411    $ — 
               
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:              

Tax withholding payments related to net settled restricted stock compensation     —      (106)
Net cash used in financing activities   $ —    $ (106)

               
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash:              

Net change during the period     6,431      (24,844)
Balance, beginning of period     23,095      87,096 
Balance, end of period   $ 29,526    $ 62,252 

               
Supplemental cash flow information:              

Cash paid for reorganization items   $ —    $ 16,559 
 

See
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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Nu
Ride Inc.
f/k/a
Lordstown Motors Corp.

Notes
to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
 
NOTE
1 - DESCRIPTION OF ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS
 
Description
of Business
 
Overview
 
On
June 27, 2023, Lordstown Motors Corp., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries (“Lordstown,” the “Company,”
or the “Debtors”), filed
voluntary petitions for relief (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) under Chapter 11 of the United
States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”).
 
In connection
with the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company ceased production and sales of its flagship vehicle, the Endurance, and new program
development.
Furthermore, the Company continued its cost-cutting actions that included significant personnel reductions. On
September 29, 2023, the Company entered
into the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement (as defined below) to sell specified assets related
 to the design, production and sale of electric light duty
vehicles focused on the commercial fleet market free and clear of liens,
claims, encumbrances, and other interests. The purchaser acquired the assets and
assumed certain specified liabilities of the
Company for a total purchase price of $10.2 million in cash in a transaction that closed on October 27, 2023
(discussed below under
 “Sale of Certain Assets to LandX”). The Company’s remaining assets following the closing of the LandX Asset
 Purchase
Agreement consist largely of cash on hand, the claims asserted in the Foxconn Litigation (as defined below), claims that
the Company may have against
other parties, as well as net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and other tax
attributes.
 
Since
emergence from bankruptcy, the near-term operations of the Company consist of (a) claims administration under the Second Modified
First Amended
Joint Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors (the “Plan”), (b) addressing the Foxconn
 Litigation, (c) prosecuting, pursuing,
compromising, settling, or otherwise disposing of other retained causes of action, (d)
 defending the Company against any counterclaims and (e) filing
Exchange Act reports and satisfying other regulatory
requirements.
 
In
the future, the Company may explore potential business opportunities, including strategic alternatives or business combinations
and/or make loans or
other investments pending any such transaction. No assurances can be made that the Company will be successful
 in prosecuting any claim or cause of
action or that any strategic alternative or business combination, and/or other transaction,
will be identified and/or would result in profitable operations or
the ability to preserve any value from the NOLs. The Company
anticipates that the prosecution of claims and causes of action and the evaluation and
pursuit of potential strategic alternatives
and/or other transaction will be costly, complex, and risky. As of the date of this report, the Company has neither
entered into a
 definitive agreement with any party, nor has the Company engaged in any specific discussions with any potential business combination
candidate regarding business opportunities.
 
Unless
the context indicates otherwise, all shares of the Company’s Class A common stock are presented after giving effect to the
1:15 reverse stock split of
the outstanding Class A common stock, which became effective on May 24,
2023.
 
Emergence
From Bankruptcy
 
On
September 1, 2023, the Debtors filed a Joint Plan of Lordstown Motors Corp. and Its Affiliated Debtors and a related proposed disclosure
statement,
which were amended and modified on each of October 24, 2023, October 29, 2023, and October 30, 2023. On January 31, 2024,
the Debtors filed the Plan.
The modifications to the Plan since the previously filed version incorporated, among other things, a settlement
(the “Ohio Securities Litigation Settlement”)
of claims against the Debtors and certain directors and officers of the Debtors
that were serving in such roles as of December 12, 2023, asserted in, or on
the same or similar basis as those claims asserted in, the
securities class action captioned In re Lordstown Motors Corp. Securities Litigation (the “Ohio
Securities Litigation”).
The Plan also included, as a condition to confirmation of the Plan, that the SEC approve an offer of settlement submitted by the
Debtors
to resolve the SEC Claim (as defined below).
 
On
 March 5, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered a confirmation order confirming the Plan. Following the entry of the confirmation order and
 all
conditions to effectiveness of the Plan being satisfied, the Debtors emerged from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024 under the name “Nu
Ride Inc.” Upon
emergence, the SEC Claim was deemed withdrawn pursuant to the terms of the settlement with the SEC and the confirmation
order. Upon emergence, a
new Board of Directors was appointed pursuant to the Plan and all remaining full-time employees, including the
 Company’s pre-emergence executive
officers, were terminated. Some of those employees continue to provide services to the Company
as consultants. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
who is its sole executive officer, was elected by the new Board of Directors
in accordance with the Plan, as of the Company’s emergence.
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Foxconn
Litigation
 
On
June 27, 2023, the Company commenced an adversary proceeding against Foxconn (the “Foxconn Litigation”) in the Bankruptcy
Court seeking relief
for fraudulent and tortious conduct as well as breaches of the Investment Agreement and other agreements, the parties’
 joint venture agreement, the
Foxconn APA, and the CMA (each as defined in Note 7) that the Company believes were committed by Foxconn.
As set forth in the complaint relating to
the adversary proceeding, the Company believes Foxconn’s actions have caused substantial
harm to the Company’s operations and prospects and caused
significant damages.
 
On
September 29, 2023, Foxconn filed a motion to dismiss all counts of the Foxconn Litigation and brief in support of the same (the “Foxconn
Adversary
Motion to Dismiss”), asserting that all of the Company’s claims are subject to binding arbitration provisions and
that the Company has failed to state a
claim for relief. The Company believes that the Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss is without
merit and, on November 6, 2023, the Company filed an
opposition to Foxconn’s Adversary Motion to Dismiss. Foxconn filed a reply
in support of the Foxconn Adversary Motion to Dismiss on November 30,
2023. On December 7, 2023, the Company and its equity committee
(the “Equity Committee”) filed a notice of completion of briefing, which provided that
the briefing of the Foxconn Adversary
Motion to Dismiss has been completed and such motion is ready for disposition.
 
On
August 1, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered an opinion and order partially denying and partially granting the Foxconn Adversary Motion
to Dismiss,
which was subsequently amended on October 1, 2024. Nine of the Company’s claims survived the motion to dismiss on the
grounds that the Company pled
viable claims against Foxconn and the claims were not subject to mandatory arbitration. The Court also
dismissed two of the Company’s claims in favor of
arbitration. The order is presently being appealed by Foxconn. The Bankruptcy
Court has stayed litigation of the claims that it ruled were not subject to
arbitration pending that appeal. The Court also allowed that
the two dismissed claims should proceed to arbitration. The Company is vigorously pursuing
this litigation. Any net proceeds from the
 Foxconn Litigation may enhance the recoveries for holders of claims and equity interests of shareholders
(“Interests”), as
 set forth in the Plan. However, no assurances can be provided as to the Company having sufficient resources to pursue the Foxconn
Litigation,
the outcome or recoveries, if any.
 
See
Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies - Foxconn Litigation for additional information.
 
Sale
of Certain Assets to LandX
 
On
September 29, 2023, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “LandX Asset Purchase Agreement”) with LAS
Capital LLC and
Mr. Stephen S. Burns, as guarantor of certain obligations of LAS Capital under the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement.
 The LandX Asset Purchase
Agreement was assigned to LAS Capital’s affiliate, LandX Motors Inc., a Delaware corporation (the assignee
 and “Purchaser”) and approved by the
Bankruptcy Court on October 18, 2023. The closing of the transactions contemplated by
the LandX Asset Purchase Agreement occurred on October 27,
2023, at which time the Purchaser acquired certain assets held for sale related
to the design, production and sale of electric light duty vehicles focused on
the commercial fleet market free and clear of liens, claims,
encumbrances, and other interests, and assumed certain specified liabilities for a total purchase
price of $10.2 million in cash. Upon
consummation of the sale, the Company’s investment banker became entitled to a transaction fee of $2.0 million after
crediting
certain other fees. The transaction fee was paid in January 2024, with no further amounts payable.
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Basis
of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
 
The
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United
States of America (“GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The condensed consolidated financial
statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary. All
 intercompany accounts and transactions are
eliminated upon consolidation.
 
Liquidity
 
The
Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $26.8 million, excluding restricted cash of approximately $2.7 million and restricted
short-
term investments of approximately $19.7 million, an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion at June 30, 2025, and a net loss of $0.5
million for the six months
ended June 30, 2025.
 
The
Company’s liquidity and ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon, among other things: (i) the resolution of significant
contingent and
other claims, liabilities and (ii) the outcome of the Company’s efforts to realize value, if any, from its retained
causes of action, including the Foxconn
Litigation, and other remaining assets.
 
Based
on the foregoing, management believes that the Company will have sufficient working capital to meet its needs through the date one year
from this
filing. Over this time period, the Company will be using its restricted short-term investments to pay for settled claims and
both its cash and cash equivalents
and unrestricted short-term investments for paying existing accrued expenses and legal and consulting
fees expected to be incurred.
 
NOTE
2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Use
of Estimates in Financial Statement Preparation
 
The
preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP is based on the selection and application of accounting
policies
that require us to make significant estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the condensed consolidated
 financial statements, and
related disclosures in the accompanying notes to the financial statements. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are
periodically reviewed and the effects of changes are reflected in the condensed consolidated
financial statements in the period they are determined to be
necessary. The Chapter 11 Cases may result in ongoing, additional changes
 in facts and circumstances that may cause the Company’s estimates and
assumptions to change, potentially materially. The Company
undertakes no obligation to update or revise any of the disclosures, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise,
except as may be required under applicable securities laws.
 
There
have been no material changes to the critical accounting policies and estimates described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2024.
 
Fresh
Start Accounting
 
Upon
emergence from bankruptcy, the Company assessed the requirements of fresh start accounting as required in Accounting Standards Codification
852:
Reorganizations (“ASC 852”). Based on the Company’s assessment, management concluded that the Company does
not qualify for fresh start accounting
under ASC 852 upon emergence from bankruptcy. Management’s conclusion was based on the fact
that the total of all post-petition liabilities and reserve
for allowed claims did not exceed the reorganization value, and the holders
of existing voting shares immediately prior to confirmation did not lose control
of the entity, as defined as receiving less than 50%
of the emerging entity’s voting shares. Accordingly, the Company continued to apply GAAP in the
ongoing preparation of its financial
statements post emergence.
 
Segment
Information
 
Operating
 segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the
 chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM”) in deciding resource allocation and assessing performance. The Company has determined
that its CODM is its Chief
Executive Officer.
 
The
 Company operates as one operating segment with a focus on (a) claims administration under its Plan, (b) prosecuting, pursuing, compromising,
settling, or otherwise disposing of litigation and other retained causes of action including the Foxconn litigation, (c) defending the
Company against any
counterclaims, (d) maintaining and managing the NOL and (e) filing SEC required reports and satisfying other regulatory
requirements.
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The
Company’s CODM manages and allocates resources to the operations of the Company on a consolidated basis. This enables the CODM
to assess the
Company’s overall level of available resources and determine how best to deploy these resources in line with the
Company’s long-term company-wide
strategic goals. Given the Company does not currently generate revenue, the CODM assesses performance
of the Company’s single segment and allocation
of resources based on consolidated net loss as well as total selling, general, and
administrative expenses. The CODM utilizes these metrics in order to
assess the Company’s cash burn. Total net loss as well as
selling, general, and administrative expenses are used to monitor budget versus actual results.
 
Significant
segment expenses are consistent with those presented on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive (loss)
income.
The measure of segment assets is reported on the condensed consolidated balance
sheets as total assets.
 
Cash,
Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Short-term Investments
 
Cash
includes cash equivalents which are highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash. The Company considers all liquid
investments with
original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. In general, investments with original maturities
 of greater than three months and
remaining maturities of less than one year are classified as short-term investments. The Company maintains
its cash in bank deposit and securities accounts
that exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced significant losses
in such accounts and management believes it is not exposed to
material credit risk.
 
The
Company’s short-term investments consist of U.S. treasury notes and bills and U.S. government and prime asset money market funds.
The short-term
investments are accounted for as available-for-sale securities. The market risk related to these investments is insignificant
 given that the short-term
investments held are highly liquid investment-grade fixed-income securities. The Company records changes in
allowance for expected credit loss in other
income (expense). There has been no allowance for expected credit losses recorded during
any of the periods presented. See Note 3 for further information.
 
Restricted
cash and restricted short-term investment balances represent the cash reserves as required by the Plan. Restricted short-term investments
have
been invested in short-term available for sale securities, which consist primarily of U.S. treasury notes and bills and U.S. government
 and prime asset
money market funds. Under the Plan, the Company established an escrow for the payment of certain professional fees incurred
 in connection with the
Chapter 11 Cases (“Professional Fee Escrow”). The Professional Fee Escrow was established based upon
estimates and assumptions as of the date the
Company emerged from bankruptcy. Therefore, the actual obligations may be more or less than
the amount escrowed. To the extent the Professional Fee
Escrow is insufficient, the Company will be required to use its available unrestricted
cash to settle its obligations. In the event the Professional Fee Escrow
exceeds the Company’s obligations, funds will be returned
to the Company and become unrestricted. The obligations were fully paid in August 2024 and
the remainder of the Professional Fee Escrow
was released from restriction. The Plan also required the Company to establish a $45 million reserve for
allowed and disputed claims
of general unsecured creditors (the “Claims Reserve”), including interest (although there can be no assurance the Company
will be able to pay such claims in full, with interest). As of June 30, 2025, $21.8 million was included in restricted cash and short-term
investments, which
represents the initial Claims Reserve of $45 million, less $23.2 million which was released from the Claims Reserve
related to the claims reconciliation
process.
 
Liabilities
Subject to Compromise
 
In
the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, the “Liabilities subject to
compromise” line is reflective of expected allowed claim amounts
in accordance with ASC 852-10 and are subject to change materially
based on the continued consideration of claims that may be modified, allowed, or
disallowed. Refer to Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies
for further detail.
 
Stock-Based
Compensation
 
The
 Company records stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“ASC
 Topic 718”),
which establishes a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based compensation plans. In accordance with ASC
Topic 718, the cost of stock-based
awards issued to employees and non-employees over the awards vesting period is measured on the grant
date based on the fair value. For options, the fair
value is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which incorporates
assumptions regarding the expected volatility, expected option life
and risk-free interest rate. The resulting amount is charged to expense
on the straight-line basis over the period in which the Company expects to receive
the benefit, which is generally the vesting period.
Further, pursuant to ASU 2016-09 - Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718), the Company has
elected to account for forfeitures
as they occur. See Note 6 - Stock Based Compensation.
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Reorganization
Items
 
Reorganization
 items of $0 and $4.8 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, represent the expenses directly and
incrementally
 resulting from the Chapter 11 Cases and are separately reported as Reorganization items in the condensed consolidated statements of
operations
and comprehensive (loss) income. No reorganization items were recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2025.
 
Income
Taxes
 
Income
taxes are recorded in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes (ASC Topic 740). Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on
the difference between the condensed consolidated financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted
tax rates in effect for the year in
which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are provided, if based upon the
weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not
that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company
has recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets.
 
The
Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 740. When uncertain tax positions exist,
the Company
recognizes the tax benefit of tax positions to the extent that the benefit would more likely than not be realized assuming
 examination by the taxing
authority. The determination as to whether the tax benefit will more likely than not be realized is based upon
the technical merits of the tax position as well
as consideration of the available facts and circumstances. The Company recognizes any
interest and penalties accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits
as income tax expense.
 
Recently
Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted
 
In
December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. This ASU requires
that reporting
entities disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation as well as information about income taxes
paid. The authoritative guidance is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The
 Company does not expect the effect of this new
guidance to have a material impact on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial
statements.
 
In
November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures
(Subtopic
220-40). This ASU requires public business entities to provide disclosure of additional information about certain identified
costs and expenses on both an
interim and annual basis. In January 2025, the FASB issued ASU 2025-01, Income Statement - Reporting
Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation
Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40); Clarifying the Effective Date. This ASU provided clarification
 regarding the effective dates of annual and interim
disclosure requirements presented in ASU 2024-03. Upon consideration of the clarification
in ASU 2025-01, the guidance in ASU 2024-03 is effective for
annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim
periods beginning within annual reporting periods beginning after December 15,
2027. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of
this new guidance on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.
 
NOTE
3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
 
Recurring
Fair Value Measurements
 
The
Company follows the accounting guidance in ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements (ASC Topic 820) for its fair value measurements
of financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is defined as an exit price, representing
the amount that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. As such, fair value is a market-based
measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. The three-tiered fair
value hierarchy, which prioritizes when inputs should
be used in measuring fair value, is comprised of: (Level I) observable inputs such as quoted prices in
active markets; (Level II) inputs
other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly and (Level III) unobservable
inputs for
which there is little or no market data. The fair value hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available in determining
fair
value.
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As
of June 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company held short-term investments which were U.S. treasury bills and notes that are classified
as Level
I. The valuation inputs for the short-term investments are based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all
significant inputs are observable in the market or can
be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the
assets.
 
Simultaneously
with the closing of the Initial Public Offering, the Sponsor and the anchor investor purchased warrants (the “Private Placement
Warrants”),
which will expire on October 23, 2025. In connection with the Foxconn Transactions and the closing of the Asset Purchase
Agreement, the Company
issued warrants to Foxconn that expired on May 11, 2025 (the “Foxconn Warrants”). No Foxconn Warrants
were exercised prior to expiration.
 
As
of December 31, 2024, following the Reverse Stock Split, the Company had 0.113 million Foxconn Warrants with an exercise price of $157.50
 and
0.153 million Private Placement Warrants with a strike price of $172.50. The Foxconn Warrants were not outstanding as of June 30,
2025 as all 0.113
million Foxconn Warrants expired on May 11, 2025. The Private Placement Warrants remain outstanding as of June 30,
 2025. The fair value of the
Foxconn Warrants was $0.3 million at issuance. The Private Placement Warrants and the Foxconn Warrants were
classified as a liability with any changes
in the fair value recognized immediately in the condensed consolidated statements of operations
 and comprehensive (loss) income. As a result of the
Chapter 11 Cases, the fair value of the Company’s warrants was deemed to be
zero and adjusted accordingly in 2023.
 
The
following tables summarizes the valuation of our financial instruments (in thousands):
 

    Total    

Quoted prices in
active markets

(Level 1)    

Prices with
observable

inputs (Level 2)    

Prices with
unobservable

inputs (Level 3)  
June 30, 2025                            
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 29,526    $ 29,526    $ —    $ — 
United States government treasury bills     19,690      19,690      —      — 
                             
 

    Total    

Quoted prices in
active markets

(Level 1)    

Prices with
observable

inputs (Level 2)    

Prices with
unobservable

inputs (Level 3)  
December 31, 2024                            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,095    $ 23,095    $ —    $ — 
United States government treasury bills     29,741      29,741      —      — 
 
The
following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale securities (in thousands):
 

   
Amortized
cost

basis    
Aggregate
fair

value    
Allowance
for
credit losses    

Unrealized
Gains (Losses)    

Maturity
Date
Range  

June
30, 2025                                   
United
States government treasury bills   $ 19,693    $ 19,690    $ —    $ (3)     September

13, 2025
 

 

   
Amortized
cost

basis    
Aggregate
fair

value    
Allowance
for
credit losses    

Unrealized
Gains (Losses)    

Maturity
Date
Range  

December
31, 2024                                   
United
States government treasury bills   $ 29,751    $ 29,741    $ —    $ 666      February
15,

2025 - May
15, 2025
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NOTE
4 - SERIES A CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
 
On
November 7, 2022, the Company entered into the Investment Agreement with Foxconn affiliate Foxconn Ventures Pte. Ltd.. Under the Investment
Agreement, Foxconn Ventures agreed to make equity investments in the Company through the purchase of $70 million of Class A common stock,
and up to
$100 million in Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value per share (the “Preferred Stock”), subject
to certain conditions. The Investment
Agreement provided for the second closing of Class A common stock (the “Subsequent Common
Closing”), at which time, the Company maintains that
Foxconn Ventures was required to purchase approximately 10% of the Class A
common stock for approximately $47.3 million.
 
On
 November 22, 2022, the parties completed the initial closing under the Investment Agreement, pursuant to which Foxconn Ventures purchased
approximately $22.7 million of Class A common stock and $30 million of Preferred Stock.
 
In
addition, following the parties’ agreement to the EV Program (as defined in the Investment Agreement) budget and the EV Program
milestones and
satisfaction of those EV Program milestones and other conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, Foxconn Ventures
 was to purchase in two
tranches, a total of 0.7 million additional shares of Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $100 per share for
 aggregate proceeds of $70 million (the
“Subsequent Preferred Funding”). The first tranche was to be in an amount equal to
0.3 million shares for an aggregate purchase price of $30 million; the
second tranche was to be in an amount equal to 0.4 million shares
for an aggregate purchase price of $40 million. The parties agreed to use commercially
reasonable efforts to agree upon the EV Program
budget and EV Program milestones no later than May 7, 2023.
 
The
completion of the Subsequent Preferred Funding would have provided critical liquidity for the Company’s operations. Since April
21, 2023, Foxconn
has disputed its obligations under the Investment Agreement to consummate the Subsequent Common Closing and to use
necessary efforts to agree upon
the EV Program budget and EV Program milestones to facilitate the Subsequent Preferred Funding. Foxconn
initially asserted that the Company was in
breach of the Investment Agreement due to the Company’s previously disclosed receipt
of the Nasdaq Notice regarding the Bid Price Requirement. As
previously disclosed, Foxconn purported to terminate the Investment Agreement
if that purported breach was not cured within 30 days.
 
The
Company continues to believe that the breach allegations by Foxconn are without merit, and that Foxconn was obligated to complete the
Subsequent
Common Closing on or before May 8, 2023. Despite the Company taking action to satisfy the Bid Price Requirement as of June
7, 2023, and discussions
between the parties to seek a resolution regarding the Investment Agreement, Foxconn did not proceed with the
 Subsequent Common Closing or any
Subsequent Preferred Funding. As a result of Foxconn’s actions, the Company was deprived of critical
funding necessary for its operations.
 
On
June 27, 2023, the Company filed its Chapter 11 Cases and on that same date the Company commenced the Foxconn Litigation in the Bankruptcy
Court
seeking relief for fraudulent and tortious conduct as well as breaches of the Investment Agreement and other agreements, the parties’
 joint venture
agreement, the Foxconn APA, and the CMA that the Company believes were committed by Foxconn. As set forth in the complaint
relating to the adversary
proceeding, Foxconn’s actions have caused substantial harm to the Company’s operations and prospects
 and significant damages. See Note 7 –
Commitments and Contingencies for additional information. The Foxconn Litigation is Adversary
Case No. 23-50414. The descriptions herein with respect
to the Preferred Stock and any rights thereunder do not account for the potential
effects of the Chapter 11 Cases or the Foxconn Litigation on the Preferred
Stock or any rights thereunder. The Company reserves all claims,
defenses, and rights with respect to the Chapter 11 Cases, the Foxconn Litigation, the
Preferred Stock, and any treatment of Preferred
Stock or other interests held by Foxconn or any other party and the descriptions below do not account for
the impact of any relief should
it be granted.
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The
Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights, rights on the distribution of assets on any liquidation, dissolution or winding up
of the affairs of the
Company and redemption rights, ranks: (a) on a parity basis with each other class or series of any equity interests
(“Capital Stock”) of the Company now or
hereafter existing, the terms of which expressly provide that such class or series
ranks on a parity basis with the Preferred Stock as to such matters (such
Capital Stock, “Parity Stock”); (b) junior to each
other class or series of Capital Stock of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of which
expressly provide that such class
or series ranks senior to the Preferred Stock as to such matters (such Capital Stock, “Senior Stock”); and (c) senior to
the
Class A common stock and each other class or series of Capital Stock of the Company now or hereafter existing, the terms of which
do not expressly
provide that such class or series ranks on a parity basis with, or senior to, the Preferred Stock as to such matters
(such Capital Stock, “Junior Stock”). While
Foxconn’s beneficial ownership of our Class A common stock meets the 25%
 Beneficial Ownership Requirement (as defined in the Investment
Agreement), Parity Stock and Senior Stock can only be issued with Foxconn’s
consent.
 
The
Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock filed by the Company with the Secretary
of State of the
State of Delaware (the “Certificate of Designation”) provides that, in the event of any liquidation, dissolution
or winding up of the affairs of the Company,
the holders of Preferred Stock are entitled, out of assets legally available therefor, before
any distribution or payment to the holders of any Junior Stock,
and subject to the rights of the holders of any Senior Stock or Parity
Stock and the rights of the Company’s existing and future creditors, to receive in full a
liquidating distribution in cash and
in the amount per share of Preferred Stock equal to the greater of (1) the sum of $100 per share plus the accrued unpaid
dividends with
 respect to such share, and (2) the amount the holder would have received had it converted such share into Class A common stock
immediately
prior to the date of such event.
 
All
holders of shares of Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of Class A common stock on all matters submitted to a vote
of stockholders of
the Company as a single class with each share of Preferred Stock entitled to a number of votes equal to the number
of shares of Class A common stock into
which such share could then be converted; provided, that no holder of shares of Preferred Stock
will be entitled to vote to the extent that such holder would
have the right to a number of votes in respect of such holder’s shares
of Class A common stock, Preferred Stock or other capital stock that would exceed
the limitations set forth in the definition of Ownership
Limitation (as defined in the Certificate of Designation).
 
The
Certificate of Designation provides that, commencing on November 7, 2023 (the “Conversion Right Date”), and subject to the
Ownership Limitation,
the Preferred Stock became convertible at the option of the holder into a number of shares of Class A common stock
obtained by dividing the sum of the
liquidation preference (i.e., $100 per share) and all accrued but unpaid dividends with respect to
such share as of the applicable conversion date by the
conversion price as of the applicable conversion date. The conversion price currently
is $29.04 per share and it is subject to customary adjustments. At any
time following the third anniversary of the date of issuance,
the Company can cause the Preferred Stock to be converted if the volume-weighted average
price of the Class A common stock exceeds 200%
of the Conversion Price for a period of at least twenty trading days in any period of thirty consecutive
trading days. Foxconn’s
ability to convert is limited by the Ownership Limitation.
 
The
terms of the Company’s Preferred Stock do not specify an unconditional obligation of the Company to redeem the Preferred Stock
on a specific or
determinable date, or upon an event certain to occur. The Company notes the existence of the Change of Control Put (defined
below). However, the ability
to execute this put right is contingent on the occurrence of the change of control event, which is not a
known or determinable event at time of issuance.
Therefore, the Preferred Stock is not considered to be mandatorily redeemable. The conversion
of the Preferred Stock is based on fixed conversion price
rather than a fixed conversion amount. The value of the Preferred Stock obligation
would not vary based on something other than the fair value of the
Company’s equity shares or change inversely in relation to the
fair value of the Company’s equity shares. Based on these factors, Preferred Stock does not
require classification as a liability
in accordance with the provisions in ASC 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity”.
 
The
Preferred Stock is not redeemable at a fixed or determinable date or at the option of the holder. However, the Preferred Stock does include
the Change
of Control Put, which could allow the holder to redeem the Preferred Stock upon the occurrence of an event. As the Company
cannot assert control over
any potential event which would qualify as a change of control, the event is not considered to be solely within
the control of the issuer, and would require
classification in temporary equity (as per ASC 480-10-S99-3A(4)). Accordingly, the Preferred
Stock is classified as temporary equity and is separated from
permanent equity on the Company’s balance sheets.
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The
Company believes that the transaction price associated with the sale of the Preferred Stock to Foxconn was representative of fair value
and serves as
the basis for initial measurement. The Preferred Stock issued by the Company accrues dividends at the rate of 8% per annum
whether or not declared
and/or paid by the Company (cumulative dividends). In addition, the dividends will compound on a quarterly basis
(upon each Preferred Dividend Payment
Date (as defined in the Certificate of Designation)) to the extent they are not paid by the Company.
The Company records the dividends (effective PIK
dividends) as they are earned, based on the carrying value of the Preferred Stock at
the date they are earned. In addition, the holders of the Preferred Stock
participate with any dividends payable in respect of any Junior
Stock or Parity Stock. The Company accrued $0.7 million and $1.4 million in dividends
during the three and six months ended June 30,
2025, respectively and $0.7 million and $1.3 million, respectively in dividends during the three and six
months ended June 30, 2024,
respectively, and had accrued $6.9 million and $5.5 million in aggregate dividends as of June 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024, respectively,
with a corresponding adjustment to additional-paid-in-capital common stock in the absence of retained earnings.
 
Since
emergence from bankruptcy, and as of the date of this report, the Preferred Stock remains outstanding and unimpaired. Upon a change of
control (as
defined in the Certificate of Designation), Foxconn can cause the Company to purchase any or all of its Preferred Stock at
a purchase price equal to the
greater of its $30.0 million liquidation preference, plus any unpaid accrued dividends, and the amount
 of cash and other property that it would have
received had it converted its Preferred Stock prior to the change of control transaction
 (the “Change of Control Put”). The liquidation preference, plus
accrued dividends is presented as mezzanine equity within
the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets. As of June 30, 2025 and December 31,
2024, the Company did not consider a
change of control to be probable, however the Company notes that there is significant uncertainty regarding the
outcome of the Foxconn
Litigation which may impact the foregoing, and the Company can provide no assurance regarding such determination.
 
NOTE
5 - CAPITAL STOCK AND LOSS PER SHARE
 
The
Company has authorized shares of capital stock totaling 462 million shares, consisting of (i) 450 million shares of Class A common stock
and (ii) 12
million shares of preferred stock, each with a par value of $0.0001.
 
At
 the 2023 Annual Meeting, the stockholders of the Company approved a proposal to amend the Charter to effect a reverse split of the Company’s
outstanding shares of Class A common stock at a ratio within a range of between 1:3 and 1:15, with the timing and the exact ratio of
the reverse split to be
determined by the Board in its sole discretion. The Board authorized the Reverse Stock Split at a 1:15 ratio,
which became effective as of May 24, 2023
(the “Reverse Split Effective Date”).
 
The
Company filed an Amendment to the Charter on May 22, 2023, which provided that, at the Reverse Split Effective Date, every 15 shares
of the issued
and outstanding Class A common stock would automatically be combined into one issued and outstanding share of Class A common
stock.
 
ASC
Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, requires the presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”). Basic EPS
 is calculated based on the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive EPS is calculated to include any
dilutive effect of our share equivalents.
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The
 following outstanding potentially dilutive common stock equivalents have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share
attributable to common shareholders for the six months
ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, due to their anti-dilutive effect (in thousands):
 

   

Three months
ended June 30,

2025    

Three months
ended June 30,

2024    

Six months
ended June 30,

2025    

Six months
ended June 30,

2024  
Foxconn Preferred Stock     1,270      1,174      1,270      1,174 
Foxconn Warrants1     —      113      —      113 
Private Placement Warrants2     154      154      154      154 
Total     1,424      1,441      1,424      1,441 
 

1) All 113 Foxconn
Warrants expired on May 11, 2025.

2) Private Placement
Warrants are due to expire on October 23, 2025.

 
NOTE
6 - STOCK BASED COMPENSATION
 
The
vesting and settlement of any unvested equity awards was suspended during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases. Upon emergence, the suspended
awards were settled if the vesting conditions had been satisfied. All vested options to purchase Class A common stock that remain outstanding
as of the
date the Company emerged remain outstanding in accordance with their terms and the terms of the Plan and any options not exercised
within three months
of an officer’s termination of employment or a director’s termination of board service with the Company
will be forfeited.
 
Prior
to emergence, the Company and each of its then named executive officers (“NEOs”) were parties to employment agreements that
provided for certain
payments, including the accelerated vesting of equity awards, to the NEO upon the NEO’s termination of employment
by the Company without “Cause” or
by the NEO’s choice with “Good Reason”. Accordingly, upon emergence,
the Company issued 101,947 shares of Class A common stock to satisfy equity
awards that vested during the pendency of the Chapter 11
Cases, and 102,889 shares of Class A common stock related to the accelerated vesting of the
NEO awards. The accelerated vesting of the
NEO awards resulted in the recognition of $2.6 million of stock compensation expense during the first quarter
of 2024. The remaining
$0.8 million of stock compensation expense during the first quarter of 2024 related to non-accelerated stock-based compensation
for other
employees prior to emergence.
 
In
accordance with the Plan, on March 14, 2024, the Board of Directors approved, adopted and ratified an amendment to the Company’s
2020 Equity
Incentive Plan, as amended to increase the number of shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuance thereunder to an
 aggregate of 3,000,000
shares.
 
On
May 13, 2024, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company adopted a modified director compensation plan for the
five
outside directors that constitute the Board of Directors. The director compensation plan includes a three-year grant under
 the Company’s 2020 Equity
Compensation Plan of restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with a fair market value of $8.0
thousand per director per quarter ($96.0
thousand per director in the
aggregate), based on the closing
price per share of the Company’s common stock on May 13, 2024. The RSUs granted cover service on the Board through
the first quarter
of 2027 and vest quarterly through January 30, 2027, subject to acceleration on the occurrence of certain events.
 
On
November 26 and December 4, 2024, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the director compensation
plan
for 2025 which includes cash payments of $140.0 thousand per year ($210.0 thousand for the board of director chair (the “Chair))
and an annual RSU grant
with a fair market value of $100.0 thousand ($150.0 thousand for Chair), vesting in substantially equal tranches
on the first two anniversaries of the grant
date. The grant date is the first trading day in January of each year (i.e., January 2, 2025).
The fair value shall be determined based on the fair market value
as of the grant date using the closing price on the grant date.
 
The
settlement of shares in respect to vested RSUs will occur as such shares vest, unless a director makes an irrevocable election to defer
settlement (i.e.,
on the earliest of (x) five years after the grant date, (y) a change in control event, or (z) separation from service).
 Such election must be made in the
calendar year prior to RSUs being granted. All Company directors elected this deferral in December
2024 related to RSUs granted to Board of Directors for
2025 service.
 
During
 the three and six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company recognized $0.1 million and $0.2 million of stock-based compensation expense,
respectively, which was included in selling, general, and administrative expense on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss).
As of June 30, 2025, there was $0.7 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation related to non-vested awards that is
expected to
be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.55 years.
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NOTE
7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES1

 
Voluntary
Chapter 11 Proceedings, Liabilities Subject to Compromise and Other Potential Claims
 
On
June 27, 2023, the Company and its subsidiaries commenced the Chapter 11 Cases in the Bankruptcy Court. See Note 1 - Description of Organization
and Business Operations for additional information.
 
Since
filing the Chapter 11 petitions, until our emergence from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024, the Company operated as debtor-in-possession
under the
jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
 
The
Company received the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of its customary motions filed on June 27, 2023, which authorized the Company
to conduct its
business activities in the ordinary course, including among other things and subject to the terms and conditions of such
orders: (i) pay employees’ wages
and related obligations; (ii) pay certain taxes; (iii) pay critical vendors; (iv) continue to
honor certain customer obligations; (v) maintain their insurance
program; (vi) continue their cash management system; and (vii) establish
certain procedures to protect any potential value of the Company’s NOLs.
 
On
August 8, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved procedures for the Company to conduct a comprehensive marketing and sale process for some,
all, or
substantially all of their assets in order to maximize the value of those assets. The marketing process culminated in the Company
entering into the LandX
Asset Purchase Agreement on March 29, 2023, providing for the sale of specified
assets of the Company related to the design, production and sale of
electric light duty vehicles focused on the commercial fleet market
free and clear of liens, claims, encumbrances, and other interests, and assume certain
specified liabilities of the Company for a total
 purchase price of $10.2 million in cash. This transaction closed on October 27, 2023. See Note 1 -
Description of Organization and Business Operations - Description of Business.
 
The
Company has been subject to extensive pending and threatened legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business and has already
incurred,
and expects to continue to incur, significant legal expenses in defending against these claims. The Company sought and achieved
resolution of many of
these matters as part of the Chapter 11 Cases and has and may in the future enter into further discussions regarding
settlement of these matters and may
enter into settlement agreements if it believes it is in the best interest of the Company’s
 stakeholders. The Company records a liability for loss
contingencies in the condensed consolidated financial statements when a loss is
known or considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.
Legal fees and costs of litigation, settlement by the Company
or adverse decisions with respect to the matters disclosed may result in a liability that is not
insured or that is in excess of insurance
 coverage and could significantly exceed our current accrual and ability to pay and be, individually or in the
aggregate, material to
the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, and diminish or eliminate any assets available
for any distribution to creditors and Interest holders.
 
The
filing of the Chapter 11 Cases resulted in an initial automatic stay of legal proceedings against the Company, as further described below.
On July 27,
2023, the Bankruptcy Court modified the automatic stay that was in effect at the time of filing the Chapter 11 Cases to allow
the Karma Action (defined
below) to proceed against the Company in the District Court (defined below) and that matter was settled, as
further described below.
 
With
respect to the stockholder derivative suits filed on behalf of the Company against certain of its officers and directors and certain
former DiamondPeak
directors prior to the Chapter 11 Cases, the derivative claims asserted in those suits became the property of the
 Company pursuant to the Bankruptcy
Court’s order confirming the Plan. The Company appointed an independent committee of directors
to evaluate such claims with the assistance and advice
of special litigation counsel, to make a recommendation as to the disposition
of such claims, including, among other things, whether to pursue or release
some or all of those claims against some or all of those
officers and directors. Ultimately, such claims were retained by the Company and not released under
the Plan.
 
 

1
NTD: Legal/Management to provide update.
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With
 respect to the Ohio Securities Class Action opt-out claims (discussed below), the Post-Petition Securities Action and any other similar
claims for
damages arising from the purchase or sale of the Class A common stock, Section 510(b) the Bankruptcy Code treats such claims
as subordinated to all
claims or Interests that are senior to the Class A common stock and having the same priority as the Class A common
stock.
 
The
Bankruptcy Court established October 10, 2023, as the general bar date for all creditors (except governmental entities) to file their
proofs of claim or
interest, and December 26, 2023, as the bar date for all governmental entities, which was extended until January 5,
2024, in the case of the SEC or that may
arise due to our obligations under the Highway Safety Act of 1970 (the “Safety Act”)
administered by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration
(“NHTSA”) described under “NHTSA Matters”
below. The deadline to assert rejection damage claims and administrative expense claims has passed. The
ability of creditors to amend
previously filed proofs of claim, both in terms of amount and nature of claim, will be governed in accordance with applicable
law. Furthermore,
proofs of claim have been filed asserting unliquidated damages or claims in respect of certain indemnifications or otherwise that we
may
not be able to estimate, or may be materially more than we estimate. The amount of such liability may diminish the assets available
 to satisfy general
unsecured claims. There is substantial risk of litigation by and against the Company or its indemnified directors
and officers with respect to such claims.
 
In
addition, the deadline for parties to file proofs of claim arising from the Company’s rejection of an executory contract or unexpired
lease, and proofs of
claim for administrative expense claims, was April 15, 2024.
 
Several
rejection damages and administrative expense claims were filed, all of which have been settled or withdrawn.
 
“Liabilities
subject to compromise” are recorded at the expected or estimated amount of the total allowed claim, however, the ultimate settlement
of these
liabilities remains subject to analysis and negotiation, approval of the Bankruptcy Court and the other factors discussed above,
and any unliquidated claims
may be settled or resolved for materially different amounts. These amounts are also subject to adjustments
 if we make changes to our assumptions or
estimates related to unliquidated claims as additional information becomes available to us.
 Such adjustments may be material, and the Company will
continue to evaluate the amount and classification of its pre-petition liabilities.
Any additional liabilities that are subject to compromise will be recognized
accordingly, and the aggregate amount of “Liabilities
subject to compromise” may change materially.
 
Upon
emergence from bankruptcy, the Company recorded $60.7 million in restricted cash as required by the Plan of Reorganization for bankruptcy
and
administrative claim settlements and pre-emergence bankruptcy professional fees. Post emergence the Company settled claims and pre-emergence
bankruptcy professional fees totaling $38.3 million, resulting in a restricted cash balance of $2.7 million and a restricted short-term
investments balance of
$19.7 million as of June 30, 2025. In accordance with Plan, the Claims Ombudsman had until the end of the GUC
Reserve Adjustment Period (as defined
in the Plan) to request an increase in the reserve, if he believed the existing reserve would be
insufficient to fund all allowed and disputed unsecured claims.
The Claims Ombudsman made no such request, and the GUC Reserve Adjustment
Period concluded in September 2024.
 
Concurrently,
the Company recorded a liability totaling $29.9 million upon emergence from bankruptcy within liabilities subject to compromise, which
was
reflective of the expected allowed claims amounts in accordance with ASC 852-10. After emerging from bankruptcy, the Company settled
liabilities subject
to compromise since emergence from bankruptcy in the amount totaling $22.4 million, resulting in a liabilities subject
 to compromise balance of $7.5
million as of June 30, 2025. This balance reflects both undisputed and partially disputed amounts the Company
may owe.
 
The
Company’s liabilities for legal proceedings and potential related obligations may include amounts for the securities litigation,
government claims and
indemnification obligations described in more detail below or other claims that may be asserted against the Company
and may or may not be offset by
insurance. Changes in the Company’s operations in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases reduced
the Company’s need to maintain insurance coverage at
previous levels or to carry certain insurance policies. The amount accrued
as of June 30, 2025 was estimated based on available information and legal
advice, the potential resolution of these matters in light
of historical negotiations with the parties, and the potential impact of the outcome of one or more
claims on related matters, but does
not take into account the impact of the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, the terms of the Plan, ongoing
discussions with
 the parties thereto and other stakeholders or actual amounts that may be asserted in Claims submitted in the Chapter 11 Cases or for
indemnification as these factors cannot yet be determined and are subject to substantial uncertainty. Accordingly, the accrued amount
may be adjusted in
the future based on new developments and it does not reflect a full range of possible outcomes for these proceedings,
or the full amount of any damages
alleged, which are significantly higher.
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Insurance
Matters
 
The
Company was notified by its primary insurer under its post-merger directors and officers insurance policy that the insurer is taking
the position that no
coverage is available for the Ohio Securities Class Action, various shareholder derivative actions, the consolidated
 stockholder class action, various
demands for inspection of books and records, the SEC investigation, and the investigation by the United
States Attorney’s Office for the Southern District
of New York described below, and certain indemnification obligations, under
an exclusion to the policy called the “retroactive date exclusion.” The insurer
has identified other potential coverage issues
 as well. Excess coverage attaches only after the underlying insurance has been exhausted, and generally
applies in conformance with the
terms of the underlying insurance. As a result of the denial of coverage, no or limited insurance may be available to us to
reimburse
 our expenses or cover any potential losses for these matters, which could be significant. The insurers in our Side A directors and officers
(“D&O”) insurance program, providing coverage for individual directors and officers in derivative actions and certain
 other situations, have issued a
reservation of rights letter which, while not denying coverage, has cast doubt on the availability of
coverage for at least some individuals and/or claims.
The Company continues to analyze the insurer’s position and intends to pursue
any available coverage under this policy and other insurance.
 
On
October 25, 2024, the Company filed a complaint in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware seeking a declaration
 that the
Company is entitled to coverage from the 2020-2022 primary layer D&O liability insurance company for costs to defend certain
lawsuits and respond to
certain SEC and DOJ investigations. The primary policy had a face limit of $5 million. The Company filed a memorandum
of law in support of its motion
for summary judgment with the Court on November 4, 2024. In response, the primary layer insurer moved
to dismiss and filed a competing lawsuit in New
York State court seeking a declaration that there is no coverage for the same lawsuits
and SEC and DOJ investigations. No damages are sought against the
Company. The motion to dismiss was granted by the Bankruptcy Court.
The litigation filed by the primary layer insurance company in New York is moving
forward.
 
Certain
 former directors and officers have also stated that they intend to pursue coverage for their defense costs related to these lawsuits,
 and the
Bankruptcy Court has ordered that they coordinate with the Company on these efforts in order to maximize the amount of coverage
potentially available.
 
Ohio
Securities Class Action
 
Six
related putative securities class action lawsuits were filed against the Company and certain of its current and former officers and directors
and former
DiamondPeak directors between March 18, 2021 and May 14, 2021 in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio
(Rico v. Lordstown Motors
Corp., et al.; Palumbo v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Zuod v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Brury v.
Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; Romano v.
Lordstown Motors Corp., et al.; and FNY Managed Accounts LLC v. Lordstown Motors Corp., et
al.). The matters have been consolidated and the Court
appointed George Troicky as lead plaintiff and Labaton Sucharow LLP as lead plaintiff’s
counsel (the “Ohio Securities Class Action”). On March 10, 2021,
lead plaintiff and several additional named plaintiffs filed
 their consolidated amended complaint, asserting violations of federal securities laws under
Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a),
and Section 20A of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder against the Company and certain of its current
and former officers and
 directors. The complaint generally alleges that the Company and individual defendants made materially false and misleading
statements
relating to vehicle pre-orders and production timeline. Defendants filed a motion to dismiss, which is fully briefed as of March 3, 2023.
The
Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy on June 28, 2023, and filed an amended suggestion of bankruptcy on July 11, 2023, which
notified the court of
the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and resulting automatic stay. On August 28, 2023, the court denied the pending
motion to dismiss, without prejudice,
given the notice of the automatic stay, subject to potential re-filing by the Defendants following
the lifting of the stay.
 
The
Plan settled the Ohio Securities Class Action, with the lead plaintiff receiving (i) $3 million in cash and (ii) up to an additional
$7 million, consisting of
(a) 25% of all net litigation proceeds received by the Company on Retained Causes of Action (if any); and (b)
the lesser of (x) 16% of any distribution
made by the Company on account of Foxconn’s preferred stock liquidation preference, and
 (y) $5 million, on behalf of the Ohio Settlement Class (as
defined in the Plan).
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Derivative
Litigation
 
Four
 related stockholder derivative lawsuits were filed against certain Company officers and directors, former DiamondPeak directors, and
 against the
Company as a nominal defendant between April 28, 2021 and July 9, 2021 in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware
(Cohen, et al. v. Burns, et
al.; Kelley, et al. v. Burns, et al.; Patterson, et al. v. Burns, et al.; and Sarabia v. Burns, et al.).
The derivative actions in the District Court of Delaware have
been consolidated. On August 27, 2021, plaintiffs filed a consolidated
amended complaint, asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section
20(a) and Section 21D of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
thereunder, breach of fiduciary duties, insider selling, and unjust enrichment, all relating to
vehicle pre-orders, production timeline,
 and the merger with DiamondPeak. On October 11, 2021, defendants filed a motion to stay this consolidated
derivative action pending resolution
 of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action. On March 7, 2023, the court granted in part
defendants’ motion
 to stay, staying the action until the resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action, but requiring
 the
parties to submit a status report if the motion to dismiss was not resolved by March 3, 2023. The court further determined to dismiss
without a motion, on
the grounds that the claim was premature, plaintiffs’ claim for contribution for violations of Sections 10(b)
and 21D of the Exchange Act without prejudice.
The parties filed a joint status report as required because the motion to dismiss in the
consolidated securities class action was not resolved as of March 3,
2023. The parties filed additional court-ordered joint status reports
on October 28, 2022, January 6, 2023 and April 3, 2023. On April 4, 2023, the Court
ordered the parties to submit a letter brief addressing
whether the Court should lift the stay. On April 14, 2023, the parties submitted a joint letter requesting
that the Court not lift the
stay. On April 17, 2023, the court lifted the stay and ordered the parties to meet and confer by May 8, 2023 and submit a proposed
case-management
plan. On May 9, 2023, the court reinstated the stay and ordered the parties to advise the court of any developments in the consolidated
securities class action or material changes to Lordstown’s condition. The Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy on June 27,
2023, which notified the
court of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and resulting automatic stay. The court entered an order acknowledging
the effect of the automatic stay on June
28, 2023. An independent committee of directors evaluated the derivative claims with the assistance
and advice of special litigation counsel to make a
recommendation as to the disposition of such claims. Ultimately, such claims were
retained by the Company and not released under the Plan. On March 12,
2025, the pending District of Delaware action was dismissed pursuant
to a notice of voluntary dismissal.
 
Another
related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio on June 30, 2021 (Thai v. Burns,
et al.),
asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 14(a), Section 20(a) and Section 21D of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 thereunder,
breach of fiduciary
duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, and waste, based on similar facts as the consolidated
derivative action in the District
Court of Delaware. On October 21, 2021, the court in the Northern District of Ohio derivative action
entered a stipulated stay of the action and scheduling
order relating to defendants’ anticipated motion to dismiss and/or subsequent
motion to stay that is similarly conditioned on the resolution of the motion to
dismiss in the consolidated securities class action.
The Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy on June 28, 2023, and filed an amended suggestion of
bankruptcy on July 19, 2023, which
notified the court of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and resulting automatic stay. An independent committee of
directors evaluated
the derivative claims with the assistance and advice of special litigation counsel to make a recommendation as to the disposition of
such
claims. Ultimately, such claims were retained by the Company and not released under the Plan. The proceedings are subject to uncertainties
inherent in the
litigation process.
 
Another
related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery on December 2, 2021 (Cormier v. Burns, et al. (C.A.
No. 2021-
1049)), asserting breach of fiduciary duties, insider selling, and unjust enrichment, based on similar facts as the federal
derivative actions. An additional
related stockholder derivative lawsuit was filed in the Delaware Court of Chancery on February 18,
2023 (Jackson v. Burns, et al. (C.A. No. 2023-0164)),
also asserting breach of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, and insider selling,
based on similar facts as the federal derivative actions. On April 19, 2023,
the parties in Cormier and Jackson filed a stipulation and
proposed order consolidating the two actions, staying the litigation until the resolution of the
motion to dismiss in the consolidated
securities class action and appointing Schubert Jonckheer & Kolbe LLP and Lifshitz Law PLLC as Co-Lead Counsel.
On May 10, 2023,
the court granted the parties’ proposed stipulation and order to consolidate the actions, and to stay the consolidated action pending
the
resolution of the motion to dismiss in the consolidated securities class action. While the action remains stayed, on June 24, 2023,
 the plaintiffs filed a
consolidated complaint asserting similar claims, and substituting a new plaintiff (Ed Lomont) for Cormier, who
no longer appears to be a named plaintiff in
the consolidated action. On June 27, 2023, the Company filed a suggestion of bankruptcy,
which notified the court of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases and
resulting automatic stay. An independent committee of directors evaluated
the derivative claims with the assistance and advice of special litigation counsel
to make a recommendation as to the disposition of
such claims. Ultimately, such claims were retained by the Company and not released under the Plan. The
proceedings are subject to uncertainties
inherent in the litigation process.
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DiamondPeak
Delaware Class Action Litigation
 
Two
putative class action lawsuits were filed against former DiamondPeak directors and DiamondPeak Sponsor LLC on December 8 and 13, 2021
in the
Delaware Court of Chancery (Hebert v. Hamamoto, et al. (C.A. No. 2021-1066); and Amin v Hamamoto, et al. (C.A. No.
2021-1085)) (collectively, the
“Delaware Class Action Litigation”). The plaintiffs purport to represent a class of investors
 in DiamondPeak and assert breach of fiduciary duty claims
based on allegations that the defendants made or failed to prevent alleged
misrepresentations regarding vehicle pre-orders and production timeline, and that
but for those allegedly false and misleading disclosures,
the plaintiffs would have exercised a right to redeem their shares prior to the de-SPAC transaction.
On February 9, 2023, the parties
filed a stipulation and proposed order consolidating the two putative class action lawsuits, appointing Hebert and Amin as
co-lead plaintiffs,
appointing Bernstein Litowitz Berger & Grossmann LLP and Pomerantz LLP as co-lead counsel and setting a briefing schedule for the
motions to dismiss and motions to stay. The motions to stay were fully briefed as of February 23, 2023 and the court held oral argument
on February 28,
2023. On March 7, 2023, the court denied the motion to stay. On March 10, 2023, defendants filed their brief in support
of their motion to dismiss. The
motion to dismiss was fully briefed on April 27, 2023, and was scheduled for oral argument on May 10,
2023. On May 6, 2023, defendants withdrew the
motion to dismiss without prejudice. On July 22, 2023, co-lead plaintiffs filed an amended
class action complaint asserting similar claims. Defendants filed
a motion to dismiss the amended class action complaint on October 14,
 2023. Plaintiffs’ answering brief and Defendants’ reply brief were due on
November 18 and December 9, 2023, respectively.
Oral argument on the motion to dismiss was scheduled for January 6, 2023. On January 5, 2023, the
defendants withdrew their motion to
dismiss. On February 2, 2023, the court issued a case scheduling order setting forth pre-trial deadlines and a date for
trial in March
2024. On February 3, 2023, defendants filed their answer to plaintiffs’ amended class action complaint. On February 7, 2023, plaintiffs
served the Company, as a non-party, with a subpoena for certain information, which the Company responded to on February 21, 2023.
 
On
June 9, 2023, the court granted in part and denied in part the plaintiffs’ motion to compel regarding the appropriate scope of
the Company’s response to
the subpoena. On July 5, 2023, in the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company filed (i) an adversary complaint
seeking injunctive relief to extend the automatic stay
to the plaintiffs in the Delaware Class Action Litigation, initiating the adversary
proceeding captioned Lordstown Motors Corp. v. Amin, Adv. Proc. No. 23-
50428 (Bankr. D. Del.) and (ii) a motion and brief in support
thereof, seeking a preliminary injunction extending the automatic stay to the Delaware Class
Action Litigation. On August 3, 2023, the
Bankruptcy Court denied the Company’s preliminary injunction motion. On July 21, 2023, plaintiffs filed a
motion for class certification
 in the Delaware Class Action Litigation. The parties have advised the Company that they have reached an agreement to
resolve this matter,
 and the former DiamondPeak directors are seeking indemnification from the Company with respect to a portion of the settlement
amount.
The Company believes it has defenses to such indemnification claims, including that such indemnification claims are subject to subordination
pursuant to applicable law, and, if allowed, should receive the treatment set forth in Article III B.8 of the Plan. The proceedings remain
 subject to
uncertainties inherent in the litigation process.
 
On
September 8, 2024, the Company and the former DiamondPeak directors entered into a settlement agreement pursuant to which, among other
things,
such former directors’ claims against the Company were settled.
 
SEC
Claim
 
The
 Company received two subpoenas from the SEC for the production of documents and information, including relating to the merger between
DiamondPeak and Legacy Lordstown and pre-orders of vehicles, and the Company was informed by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the
Southern District of
New York that it is investigating these matters. The Company cooperated, and will continue to cooperate, with these
 and any other regulatory or
governmental investigations and inquiries. Ultimately, the SEC filed a claim against the Company for $45.0
million (the “SEC Claim”). The Company
settled the SEC Claim by (i) settling the Ohio Securities Class Action and (ii) making
an offer of settlement to the SEC, which was approved by the SEC on
February 29, 2024. Upon the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy,
 the SEC Claim was deemed withdrawn pursuant to the terms of the offer of
settlement and the Plan. See the section in this Note 7 titled
“Ohio Securities Class Action” for additional information regarding the Company’s continuing
contingent obligations
related to the Ohio Securities Class Action settlement. No amounts attributable to the Company’s settlement of the SEC Claim were
paid or are payable to the SEC.
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Nu Ride Inc.
f/k/a Lordstown Motors
Corp.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements
 
Indemnification
Obligations
 
The
 Company may have potential indemnification obligations with respect to the current and former directors named in the above-referenced
 actions,
which obligations may be significant and may not be covered by the Company’s applicable directors and officers insurance.
The Company believes it has
defenses to certain of these potential indemnification obligations, including that such claims for indemnification
are subject to subordination pursuant to
applicable law, and, if allowed, should receive the treatment set forth in Article III.B.8 of
the Plan.
 
Foxconn
Transactions
 
The
Company entered into a series of transactions with affiliates of Foxconn, beginning with the Agreement in Principle that was announced
on September
30, 2021, pursuant to which the Company entered into definitive agreements to sell our manufacturing facility in Lordstown,
Ohio under an asset purchase
agreement (the “Foxconn APA”) and outsource manufacturing of the Endurance to Foxconn under
a contract manufacturing agreement (the “CMA”). On
November 7, 2022, the Company entered into an investment agreement with
Foxconn under which Foxconn agreed to make additional equity investments
in the Company (the “Investment Agreement”). The
Investment Agreement superseded and replaced an earlier joint venture agreement. The Foxconn APA,
the CMA and the Investment Agreement
together are herein referred to as the “Foxconn Transactions.”
 
On
June 27, 2023, the Company commenced the Foxconn Litigation in the Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for breaches of the Investment Agreement,
the
Foxconn APA and the CMA and fraudulent and tortious actions that the Company believes were committed by Foxconn. See the following
section and
Note 1 - Description of Business - Foxconn Litigation for additional information. The Investment Agreement and the CMA were
rejected pursuant to the
Plan upon the Company’s emergence from bankruptcy. The Foxconn APA transaction was consummated before
the Chapter 11 Cases. Refer to Note 4 -
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock for additional details.
 
Foxconn
Litigation
 
On
June 27, 2023, the Company commenced the Foxconn Litigation in the Bankruptcy Court seeking relief for breaches of the Investment Agreement
and
other agreements and fraudulent and tortious actions that the Company believes were committed by Foxconn, which have caused substantial
harm to our
operations and prospects and significant damages.
 
On
September 29, 2023, Foxconn filed a motion to dismiss all counts of the Foxconn Litigation and brief in support of the same (the “Foxconn
Adversary
Motion to Dismiss”), asserting that all of the Company’s claims are subject to binding arbitration provisions and
that the Company has failed to state a
claim for relief.
 
On
August 1, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered an opinion and order partially denying and partially granting the Foxconn Adversary Motion
to Dismiss,
which was subsequently amended on October 1, 2024. Nine of the Company’s claims survived the motion to dismiss on the
grounds that the Company pled
viable claims against Foxconn and the claims were not subject to mandatory arbitration. The Court also
dismissed two of the Company’s claims in favor of
arbitration. The order is presently being appealed by Foxconn. The Bankruptcy
Court has stayed litigation of the claims that it ruled were not subject to
arbitration pending that appeal. The Court also allowed that
the two dismissed claims should proceed to arbitration.
 
In
conjunction with the District Court proceedings, the Company and Foxconn engaged in a mediation effort. On January 15, 2025, the Company
informed
the District Court that the mediation did not result in a resolution.
 
On
January 27, 2025, the Company moved the District Court to allow the appeal to be heard directly by the Court of Appeals for the Third
Circuit. That
motion is pending.
 
The
Company is vigorously pursuing the litigation.
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Nu Ride Inc.
f/k/a Lordstown Motors
Corp.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements
 
The
Post-Petition Securities Action
 
On
July 26, 2023, a putative class action lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio by Bandol Lim (“Plaintiff
Lim”),
individually and on behalf of other stockholders asserting violations of Section 10(b), Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act
 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder
relating to the Company’s disclosure regarding its relationship with Foxconn and the Foxconn Transactions
(the “Post-Petition Securities Action”). The
lawsuit names Edward Hightower, Adam Kroll, and Daniel Ninivaggi as Defendants
 (“Defendants”) in their capacities as Company officers and/or
directors. Defendants dispute the allegations and intend to
vigorously defend against the suit. None of the Debtors is named as a Defendant in the Post-
Petition Securities Action. Plaintiff Lim
 and RIDE Investor Group each filed motions for appointment as lead plaintiff in the Post-Petition Securities
Action. On September 30,
2024, the Post-Petition Securities Action was dismissed in full on the grounds that none of the allegations were actionable.
Separately,
each of the members of the RIDE Investor Group filed proofs of claim (the “RIDE Proofs of Claims”) against the Company, purportedly
on
behalf of themselves and the putative class in the Post-Petition Securities Action, in an unliquidated amount. The RIDE Investor Group
has not sought
authority from the Bankruptcy Court to file its purported class proofs of claim. The Plan constituted an objection to
each of the RIDE Proofs of Claim, and
on October 25, 2024, the Company filed additional objections to the RIDE Proofs of Claim on various
grounds. Each of the RIDE Proofs of Claim was
disallowed by Bankruptcy Court order, and the Company bears no liability for such claims.
 
NHTSA
Matters
 
The
Company’s obligations under the Safety Act administered by NHTSA for the vehicles it has manufactured and sold continued in force
during the
pendency of and following the Chapter 11 Cases. During the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company’s obligations were treated
as a claim of the United States
government against the Company. The Plan did not discharge the Company from claims arising after emergence
from bankruptcy, nor did it preclude or
enjoin the enforcement of any police or regulatory power. The Company has repurchased all of the vehicles that were sold (other than the vehicles sold to
LAS Capital or its affiliates, for which it assumed warranty, product
liability and recall liabilities). The Company cannot predict the extent of the liability
that may arise from the Safety Act obligations
 for vehicles the Company has already manufactured and sold, or any claims that may be asserted by
NHTSA.
 
NOTE
8 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
 
Under
the Investment Agreement, Foxconn made additional equity investments in the Company, whereby it became a related party under the Company’s
Related Party Transaction Policy as a 5% or more beneficial owner of the Company’s Class A common stock. For the three and six
months ended June 30,
2025 and 2024, the Company made no payments, and had no amounts payable, to Foxconn.
 
William
 Gallagher, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, is a principal of M3 Partners, LP (“M3 Partners”). M3 Partners served
 as the Equity
Committee’s financial consultant during the bankruptcy proceedings. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the Company engaged
M3 Partners to provide
executive management and support services pursuant to the terms of an engagement agreement (the “Engagement
Agreement”). Mr. Gallagher has been,
and will remain, employed by M3 Partners and will provide his services pursuant to the Engagement
Agreement. Pursuant to the Engagement Agreement,
M3 Partners’ fees are calculated on an hourly basis. The Company incurred approximately
$0.2 million and $0.5 million in fees payable to M3 Partners
under the Engagement Agreement for the three and six months ended June 30,
2025, respectively, which is included in selling, general, and administrative
expenses within the condensed consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive (loss) income. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024,
the Company incurred approximately $0.5
million and $0.6 million in fees payable to M3 Partners.
 
NOTE
9 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
The
Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date up to the date that the financial statements
were
issued. Based upon this review, the Company did not identify any subsequent events that would have required adjustment or disclosure
 in the financial
statements.
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Item
2. Management’s Discussion & Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
This
 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in
 conjunction with the
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and notes. Forward-looking statements in this MD&A
 are not guarantees of future
performance and may involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
 from those projected. Refer to the “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and the “Risk Factors”
section under Part I - Item 1A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and Part II -
Item 1A below for a discussion of these risks and uncertainties,
 including without limitation, with respect to the Chapter 11 Cases, our emergence from
bankruptcy and our liquidity, capital resources
and financial condition.
 
On
June 27, 2023, Lordstown Motors Corp. and its subsidiaries commenced voluntary proceedings under chapter 11 (the “Chapter 11 Cases”)
of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the “Bankruptcy Court”). On September
 1, 2023, we filed with the
Bankruptcy Court a plan of reorganization and related disclosure statement (as amended from time to time,
the “Proposed Plan”). On November 1, 2023,
the Bankruptcy Court entered the Disclosure Statement Order and, thereafter, we
solicited votes from their creditors and shareholders for approval of the
Proposed Plan. On January 31, 2024, we filed the as-approved
Proposed Plan with the Bankruptcy Court. On March 5, 2024, the Bankruptcy Court entered
a confirmation order confirming the Proposed
 Plan (as confirmed, the “Plan”). Following the entry of the confirmation order and all conditions to
effectiveness of the
Plan being satisfied, we emerged from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024 under the name “Nu Ride Inc.”
 
The
Bankruptcy Court established October 10, 2023, as the general bar date for all creditors (except governmental entities) to file their
proofs of claim or
interest, and December 26, 2023, as the bar date for all governmental entities, which was extended until January 5,
2024, in the case of the SEC. The
deadline to assert rejection damage claims and administrative expense claims has passed.
 
Since
emergence: (i) the Foxconn Litigation and other retained causes of action of the Company were preserved and may be prosecuted; (ii) claims
filed in
the bankruptcy will continue to be resolved pursuant to the claims resolution process with allowed claims being treated in accordance
with the Plan; (iii)
distributions to holders of allowed claims and allowed Interests will be made subject to the provisions of the Plan
of Reorganization, and (iv) we will
continue to conduct business and may enter into transactions, including business combinations, or
otherwise, that could permit the Company an opportunity
to create value, including through use of the NOLs.
 
Upon
 emergence, a new Board of Directors was appointed pursuant to the Plan and all remaining full-time employees, including the Company’s
 pre-
emergence executive officers, were terminated. The Board of Directors oversees and directs the administration of the Company’s
operations, in accordance
with the Plan and the Company’s charter and by-laws. Some former employees continue to provide services
 to the Company as consultants. Our Chief
Executive Officer, who is the sole executive officer, was elected by the new Board of Directors
in accordance with the Plan, as of the date we emerged from
bankruptcy.
 
Our
 primary operations during the six months ended June 30, 2025 have consisted of actions and related expenditures associated with completing
 the
Chapter 11 Cases and emerging from bankruptcy, resolving substantial litigation, claims reconciliation, financial reporting and regulatory
compliance. Our
assets consist of cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments, and restricted short-term investments. Additional potential
 assets, such as the Foxconn
Litigation claims, claims the Company may have against other parties, and NOLs, are not reflected in the
financial statements.
 
In
light of our emergence from bankruptcy on March 14, 2024, our results for the six months ended June 30, 2025, reflect the accounting
assumptions and
treatment caused by the Chapter 11 Cases and the Plan and may not be representative of our operations and results going
forward. See the risks and factors
described in the “Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2024 and Part II - Item 1A below for further
discussion of the risks associated with our emergence from bankruptcy,
our liquidity, capital resources and financial condition, and the use of estimates and
resulting uncertainty in establishing our presented
financial results, among other risks.
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Results
of Operations for the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024
 

   
(in thousands) 

(Unaudited)  

   
Three months ended

June 30, 2025    
Three months ended

June 30, 2024  
Operating expense (income):              

Selling, general and administrative expenses     1,683      1,482 
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net     (1,326)     (2,015)

Total operating expense (income), net   $ 357    $ (533)
(Loss) income from operations   $ (357)   $ 533 
Other income (expense):              

Other expense, net     (37)     (65)
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale     696      — 
Investment and interest income     440      1,010 

Income before income taxes   $ 742    $ 1,478 
Income tax expense (benefit)     —      — 

Net income     742      1,478 
Less accrued preferred stock dividend     723      668 
Net income attributable to common shareholders   $ 19    $ 810 
 
Selling,
General and Administrative Expense
 
Selling,
general, and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) totaled $1.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025 compared
to $1.5 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2024.
 
SG&A
for the three months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 consisted entirely of personnel and professional fees.
 
Legal
settlement and litigation benefit, net
 
Legal
settlement and litigation benefit, net totaling $1.3 million represents adjustments to accrued liabilities subject to compromise from
claims as a result
of the final settlement of claims for the three months ended June 30, 2025. For the three months ended June 30, 2024,
the Company recorded $2.0 million
of legal settlement and litigation benefit, net as a result of settling claims.
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Results
of Operations for the six months ended June 30, 2025 and 2024
 

   
(in thousands) 

(Unaudited)  

   
Six months ended

June 30, 2025    
Six months ended

June 30, 2024  
Operating (income) expenses              

Selling, general and administrative expenses     3,621      6,725 
Legal settlement and litigation benefit, net     (1,498)     (2,559)
Reorganization items     —      4,785 

Total operating expense, net   $ 2,123    $ 8,951 
Loss from operations     (2,123)     (8,951)

Other income (expense):              
Other expense, net     (68)     (163)
Realized gain on debt securities available for sale     925      — 
Investment and interest income     797      2,119 
Loss before income taxes   $ (469)   $ (6,995)
Income tax expense (benefit)     —      — 
Net loss     (469)     (6,995)
Less accrued preferred stock dividend     1,432      1,323 
Net loss attributable to common shareholders   $ (1,901)   $ (8,318)

 
Selling,
General and Administrative Expense
 
Selling,
general, and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) totaled $3.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025 compared to
$6.7 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2024.
 
SG&A
for the six months ended June 30, 2025 consisted entirely of personnel and professional fees.
 
SG&A
for the six months ended June 30, 2024 consisted primarily of $3.9 million in personnel and professional fees, including $3.4 million
in accelerated
stock compensation expense as well as insurance premium amortization of $2.9 million.
 
Legal
settlement and litigation benefit, net
 
Legal
settlement and litigation benefit, net totaling $1.5 million represents adjustments to accrued liabilities subject to compromise from
claims as a result
of the final settlement of claims for the six months ended June 30, 2025. For the six months ended June 30, 2024,
the Company recorded $2.6 million of
legal settlement and litigation benefit, net as a result of setting claims.
 
Reorganization
Items
 
Reorganization
 items represent the expenses directly and incrementally resulting from the Chapter 11 Cases filed on June 27, 2023. For the six months
ended June 30, 2025, no reorganization items were recorded.
 
For
the six months ended June 30, 2024, reorganization items consisted of $3.6 million in legal fees and $1.1 million in consulting fees.
The reorganization
items included costs incurred by the Company as well as those incurred by the official Unsecured Creditors Committee
and official Equity Committee, for
which the Company was responsible.
 
Liquidity
and Capital Resources
 
The
Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $26.8 million, excluding restricted cash of restricted of approximately $2.7 million,
and
restricted short-term investments of approximately $19.7 million, an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion at June 30, 2025, and a
net loss of $0.5 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2025.
 
Our
liquidity and ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon, among other things: (i) the resolution of significant contingent
and other claims,
liabilities (see Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies) and (ii) the outcome of our efforts to realize value, if any,
from the Company’s retained causes of
action, including the Foxconn Litigation, and other remaining assets.
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We
have incurred significant professional fees and other costs in connection with preparation for and prosecution of the Chapter 11 Cases
and expect to
continue to incur significant professional fees and costs. In addition, we are subject to significant contingent unliquidated
liabilities, the full scope of which
is uncertain at this time (see Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies). Furthermore, under the Plan,
we are conducting a process to reconcile the claims
asserted that has resulted in approximately $19.7 million of the Company’s
short-term investments and $2.7 million of cash being restricted for settling
outstanding claims against the Company, including litigation
and indemnification claims. Pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, the Company is first required
to pay all administrative claims in full.
 Under the Plan, the Company established an escrow for the payment of certain professional fees incurred in
connection with the Chapter
11 Cases (“Professional Fee Escrow”), which was fully paid out as of September 30, 2024. The Professional Fee Escrow was
established based upon estimates and assumptions as of the date the Company emerged from bankruptcy. The Plan also required the Company
to establish a
$45 million reserve for allowed and disputed claims of general unsecured creditors (the “Claims Reserve”),
 including interest (although there can be no
assurance the Company will be able to pay such claims in full, with interest). As of June
30, 2025, $21.8 million was included in cash and short-term
investments, which represents the initial Claims Reserve of $45 million,
 less $23.2 million which was released from the Claims Reserve related to the
claims reconciliation process including $14.8 million of
 payments to creditors in connection with the Plan and $8.4 million released from the Claims
Reserve as a result of claim settlements
that were less than the Claims Reserve. Pursuant to the Plan (which includes certain exceptions), upon emergence
(i) the Claims Ombudsman
was appointed to oversee the administration of claims asserted against the Company by general unsecured creditors and (ii) a
trustee
was appointed to oversee the litigation claims held by the trust, which may be funded with certain retained causes of action of the Company,
as
determined by the Board. Holders of certain unsecured claims are expected to be entitled to receive post-petition interest on their
claim amount as of the
later of the date the claim was due to be paid, or the petition date. Therefore, if the claims resolution process
takes longer than anticipated, the total liability
to settle claims will increase to reflect the increased interest expense.
 
The
amount of the Claims Reserve is subject to change and could increase materially if amounts paid in respect of unliquidated claims are
greater than
anticipated. The Claims Reserve is adjusted downward as payments are made for allowed claims, and may also be adjusted downward
 as claims are
resolved or otherwise as a result of the claims resolution process. There is also risk of additional litigation and claims
that may be asserted after the Chapter
11 Cases against the Company or its indemnified directors and officers that may be known or unknown
and the Company may not have the resources to
adequately defend or dispute such claims due to the Chapter 11 Cases. The Company cannot
provide any assurances as to what the Company’s total actual
liabilities will be based on any such claims. To the extent that the
Claims Reserve is insufficient to pay general unsecured creditors in full with interest,
such deficiency will be payable from certain
other assets of the Company, as set forth in the Plan.
 
Our
assets consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, short-term investments, restricted short-term investments, the Foxconn
Litigation claims,
the claims the Company may have against other parties, and NOLs.
 
See
Risk Factors under Part I - Item 1A in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and Part II - Item 1A below for further discussion of the risks
associated with
our limited capital resources and loss exposures, among other risks.
 
Summary
of Cash Flows
 
The
following table provides a summary of the Company’s cash flow data for the period indicated:
 

   
Six months ended

June 30, 2025    
Six months ended

June 30, 2024  
Net cash used in operating activities   $ (3,980)   $ (24,738)
Net cash provided by investing activities   $ 10,411    $ — 
Net cash used in financing activities   $ —    $ (106)
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Net
Cash Used in Operating Activities
 
Net
 cash used in operating activities decreased by $20.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025 compared to the same period in 2024.
 The
Company’s net loss, as adjusted to reconcile cash used by operating activities was $0.5 million for the six months ended June
30, 2025, compared to $7.0
million for same period in 2024. The $4.0 million of cash used in operating activities for the six months
ended June 30, 2025 was comprised of the $0.5
million net loss for the period, as adjusted to reconcile cash used by operating activities
 for the six months ended June 30, 2025 which included $0.9
million of realized gain on debt securities available for sale, $2.7 million
of changes in operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by $0.2 million of
stock-based compensations. The $24.7 million of cash
 used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was comprised of the $7.0
million net loss for the period, as adjusted
to reconcile cash used by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2024, which included $21.2
million of changes in operating
assets and liabilities, partially offset by $3.4 million of stock-based compensation.
 
Net
Cash Provided by Investing Activities
 
Cash
provided by investing activities was $10.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2025, which included $30.0 million related to maturities
of
short-term investments, partially offset by $19.6 million for purchases of short-term investments. The Company had no investing activities
 for the six
months ended June 30, 2024.
 
Net
Cash Used in Financing Activities
 
For
 the six months ended June 30, 2025, the Company had no financing activities. For the six months ended June 30, 2024, financing activities
were
limited to tax withholding payments related to net-settled restricted stock compensation associated with the Company’s 2020
Plan.
 
Off-Balance
Sheet Arrangements
 
The
Company has no obligations, assets or liabilities, which would be considered off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2025. The
Company does
not participate in transactions that create relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, often
referred to as variable interest entities,
which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements.
The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet
financing arrangements, established any special purpose entities, guaranteed any
debt or commitments of other entities, or purchased any non-financial
assets.
 
Critical
Accounting Estimates
 
Liabilities
Subject to Compromise
 
Since
filing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Company has operated as a debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in
accordance
with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. In the accompanying Balance Sheet, the “Liabilities subject to
compromise” line is reflective of
expected allowed claim amounts in accordance with ASC 852-10 and are subject to change materially
 based on the proceedings and continued
consideration of claims that may be modified, allowed, or disallowed. Refer to Note 7 - Commitments
and Contingencies for further detail.
 
Recent
Accounting Standards
 
See
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to the condensed consolidated financial statements for more information about
recent accounting
pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and management’s assessment, to the extent they have made one,
of their potential impact on the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
 
Item
3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
As
a smaller reporting company, the Company is not required to provide the information required by this item.
 
Item
4. Controls and Procedures
 
Management’s
Evaluation of our Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
Disclosure
 controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are controls and other procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act, are recorded,
processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures
 include, without limitation, controls,
activities, and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in company
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to management to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
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We
do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors and all instances of fraud. Disclosure controls and
procedures, no
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the
disclosure controls and procedures
are met. The design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints, and the benefits must be considered
relative to their costs and the nature of operating activities. Internal control over
 financial reporting also can be circumvented by collusion or improper
override. Because of the inherent limitations in all disclosure
controls and procedures, no evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures can provide
absolute assurance that we have detected all
our control deficiencies and instances of fraud, if any. The design of disclosure controls and procedures also is
based partly on certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. As required by Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Exchange Act, our Chief Executive Officer,
who also serves
as our Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of
June 30, 2025.
 
Changes
in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
There
have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the
Exchange Act)
during the quarter ended June 30, 2025 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
 internal control over financial
reporting.
 
In
light of the limited nature of our operations, our controls primarily relate to financial reporting and payment of our expenses. As a
result of eliminating
personnel, including full-time employees, we have enhanced our oversight of accounting and payment processing with
 increased executive involvement
and support from consultants and advisors to facilitate the presentation of information with respect
 to our operations that is accurate and complete. Our
Chief Executive Officer also serves as our Chief Financial Officer.
 

PART
II: OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item
1. Legal Proceedings
 
For
a description of our legal proceedings, see Note 7 - Commitments and Contingencies of the notes to the condensed consolidated financial
statements.
 
Item
1A. Risk Factors.
 
An
investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks set forth in the section captured
“Risk Factors”
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, filed with the SEC on March 28, 2025,
before making an investment decision.
During the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, there have been no material changes
 to the risk factors previously discussed in the
Company’s SEC filings.
 
Item
2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
None.
 
Item
3. Defaults upon Senior Securities
 
None.
 
Item
4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 
Not
applicable.
 
Item
5. Other Information.
 

(a)
Not applicable.
 
(b)
None.
 
(c)
During the quarter ended June 30, 2025, none of our directors or officers adopted or terminated any “Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement” or
“non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” (as each term is defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation
S-K).
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Item
6. Exhibits
 
Exhibit
Index
 
Exhibit
No.   Description
3.1   Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on

Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024).
3.2   Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with

the SEC on March 15, 2024).
3.3   Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by reference to the Company’s

Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 22, 2022)
31.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) /15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1**   Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS   XBRL
Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within

the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH*   XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL*   XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF*   XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB*   XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE*   XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104*   Cover
Page Interactive Data File - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags

are embedded within the Inline XBRL document
 
  * Filed
herewith
  ** Furnished
herewith
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant
to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
    NU
RIDE INC.
     
Date:
August 12, 2025   /s/
William Gallagher
  Name: William
Gallagher
  Title: Chief
Executive Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer
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Exhibit
31.1

 
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302

OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

I,
William Gallagher, certify that:
 
1.
I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nu Ride Inc.;
 
2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
 to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;
 
3.
 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all material
 respects, the
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;
 
4.
I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
 

(a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
 within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
(b)
 Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
 our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the financial
 statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
(c)
 Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
 about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
and
 
(d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.
I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of
the registrant’s board of directors:
 

(a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information;
and

 
(b)
Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
 internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Date:
August 12, 2025  
   
  /s/
William Gallagher
  William
Gallagher
  Chief
Executive Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer
  (Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit
32.1

 
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO

18
U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION
906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In
connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Nu Ride Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended June 30, 2025, as
filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, William Gallagher, Chief Executive
Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 
1.
The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
 
2.
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.
 
August
12, 2025    
     
  By: /s/
William Gallagher
    William
Gallagher
    Chief
Executive Officer, President, Secretary, and Treasurer
    (Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
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33109820.3 

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
In re: 
 
Nu Ride Inc., et al.,1 
 

Reorganized Debtors. 
 

 Chapter 11 
 
Case No. 23-10831 (MFW) 
 
(Jointly Administered) 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that on November 6, 2025, the Objection of Darren Post, Steve Burns, 

Julio Rodriguez, and Caimin Flannery to Post-Effective Date Debtors’ Motion for Entry of an 

Order (I) Authorizing the Reduction of the GUC Reserve and (II) Granting Related Relief was 

caused to be served via electronic mail upon the parties identified on the attached service list. 

 
Dated: November 6, 2025 YOUNG CONAWAY STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP 

 
 /s/ Ashley E. Jacobs 
 Ashley E. Jacobs (No. 5635) 

Rodney Square 
1000 North King Street 
Wilmington, Delaware 19801 
Telephone: (302) 571-6600 
Facsimile: (302) 571-1253 
Email: ajacobs@ycst.com 
 
Counsel to Darren Post, Steve Burns,  
Julio Rodriguez, and Caimin Flannery 

 

 
1  The Reorganized Debtors and the last four digits of their respective taxpayer identification numbers are: 

Lordstown Motors Corp. (3239); Lordstown EV Corporation (2250); and Lordstown EV Sales LLC (9101).  The 
Reorganized Debtors’ service address is: Nu Ride Inc. c/o William Gallagher, CEO, M3 Partners, 1700 Broadway, 
19th Floor, New York, NY 10019. 
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Core/2002 Service List

Description CreditorName CreditorNoticeName CreditorAddress Email
Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP Thad Behrens

Billy Marsh
The Link at Uptown
2601 Olive Street, 17th Floor
Dallas, TX 75201

thad.behrens@aoshearman.com;
billy.marsh@aoshearman.com

Allen Overy Shearman Sterling US LLP Noah Brumfield
Riley Steele

1101 New York Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20005

noah.brumfield@aoshearman.com;
riley.steele@aoshearman.com

Committee of Unsecured Creditors Barry L. Leonard & Co. Inc. Kim Parsons 920 Brenner Street
Winston-Salem, NC 27101

kim@trans-machine.com

Top 30 and Committee of Unsecured Creditors Barry L. Leonard & Co. Inc. 
dba Trans Machine Technologies

Barry L. Leonard 920 Brenner Street
Winston-Salem, NC 27101

Barry@trans-machine.com

Brown Rudnick LLP Matthew A. Sawyer
Sharon I. Dwoskin
Tristan G. Axelrod

One Financial Center
Boston, MA 02111

msawyer@brownrudnick.com;
sdwoskin@brownrudnick.com;
taxelrod@brownrudnick.com

Brown Rudnick LLP Robert J. Stark
Bennett S. Silverberg
Michael S. Winograd
Alexander F. Kasnetz

7 Times Square
New York, NY 10036

rstark@brownrudnick.com;
bsilverberg@brownrudnick.com;
mwinograd@brownrudnick.com;
akasnetz@brownrudnick.com

Bankruptcy Counsel to the Securities Litigation 
Lead Plaintiff George Troicky

Cross & Simon, LLC Christopher P. Simon 1105 North Market Street, Suite 901
Wilmington, DE 19801

csimon@crosslaw.com

Delaware State AG and DOJ Delaware Department of Justice Attorney General/Bankruptcy Department Carvel State Building
820 North French Street
Wilmington, DE 19801

attorney.general@state.de.us;
attorney.general@delaware.gov

Delaware Secretary of State Delaware Secretary of State Division of Corporations/Franchise Tax P.O. Box 898
Dover, DE 19903

dosdoc_bankruptcy@state.de.us

Delaware State Treasury Delaware State Treasury 820 Silver Lake Blvd., Suite 100
Dover, DE 19904

statetreasurer@state.de.us

Official Committee of Equity Security Holders Esopus Creek Value Series Fund LP - 
Series “A”

Andrew L. Sole 81 Newtown Lane, #307
East Hampton, NY 11937

andrewsole@ecvlp.com

Foxconn et. al. (Foxconn Ventures Ptd. Ltd., 
Foxconn (Far East) Limited, Foxteq Holdings Inc., 
Foxteq Integration Inc., Hon Hai Precision Industry 
Co., Ltd, I27, PCE Paragon Solutions Kft.)

Foxconn EV Technology, Inc. Jerry Hsiao
Steven Yu 

4568 Mayfield Road, Suite 204
Cleveland, OH 44121

jerry.hsiao@foxconn.com;
stevenyu@foxconn.com

Claims Ombudsman Halperin Battaglia Benzija, LLP Alan D. Halperin 40 Wall Street, 37th Floor
New York, NY 10005

ahalperin@halperinlaw.net

IRS Internal Revenue Service Susanne Larson 31 Hopkins Plaza, Room 1150
Baltimore, MD 21201

SBSE.Insolvency.Balt@irs.gov

Claims and Noticing Agent KCC dba Verita Global 222 North Pacific Coast Highway, Suite 300
El Segundo, CA 90245

LordstownInfo@kccllc.com

Counsel to the Ohio Class Labaton Keller Sucharow LLP Jake Bissell-Linsk
Nicole M. Zeiss
Carol C. Villegas

40 Broadway
New York, NY 10005

jbissell-linsk@labaton.com;
nzeiss@labaton.com;
cvillegas@labaton.com

Counsel to Judith Hannaway, Steven Hash, 
Andrew Richardson, and Mark Walsh

Landis Rath & Cobb LLP Richard S. Cobb
Joshua B. Brooks

919 Market Street, Suite 1800
Wilmington, DE 19801

cobb@lrclaw.com;
brooks@lrclaw.com

Counsel to Foxconn Linklaters LLP Daniel Guyder 1290 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10104

daniel.guyder@linklaters.com

Counsel to Auto Motive Power, Inc. (dba AMP) Loeb & Loeb LLP Noah Weingarten 345 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10154

nweingarten@loeb.com

Bankruptcy Counsel to the Securities Litigation 
Lead Plaintiff George Troicky

Lowenstein Sandler LLP Michael S. Etkin
Andrew Behlmann
Scott Cargill

One Lowenstein Drive
Roseland, NJ 07068

metkin@lowenstein.com;
abehlmann@lowenstein.com;
scargill@lowenstein.com

Financial Advisor to the Official Committee of 
Equity Security Holders

M3 Advisory Partners Robert Winning 1700 Broadway, 19th Floor
New York, NY 10019

rwinning@m3-partners.com

Counsel to the Post-Effective Date Debtors Morris James LLP Eric J. Monzo
Brya M. Keilson
Tara C. Pakrouh

500 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1500
Wilmington, DE 19801

emonzo@morrisjames.com;
bkeilson@morrisjames.com;
tpakrouh@morrisjames.com

Counsel to Foxconn Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP Robert J. Dehney
Donna L. Culver
Matthew B. Harvey
Matthew O. Talmo

1201 North Market Street, 16th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801

rdehney@morrisnichols.com;
dculver@morrisnichols.com;
mharvey@morrisnichols.com;
mtalmo@morrisnichols.com

Reorganized Debtors Nu Ride Inc. c/o William Gallagher, CEO, M3 Partners 1700 Broadway, 19th Floor
New York, NY 10019

wgallagher@m3-partners.com

US Trustee for District of Delaware Office of the United States Trustee Benjamin A. Hackman 844 King Street, Suite 2207, Lockbox 35
Wilmington, DE 19801

USTPRegion03.WL.ECF@USDOJ.GOV;
benjamin.a.hackman@usdoj.gov

Counsel to Auto Motive Power, Inc. (dba AMP) Pashman Stein Walder Hayden, P.C. John W. Weiss 1007 North Orange Street, 4th Floor #183
Wilmington, DE 19801

jweiss@pashmanstein.com

Counsel to Foxconn Paul Hastings LLP Mike Huang
Kevin P. Broughel

200 Park Avenue
New York, NY 10166

mikehuang@paulhastings.com;
kevinbroughel@paulhastings.com

Official Committee of Equity Security Holders Pertento Partners LLP Ian Trundle 111 Park Street
London W1K 7JL
United Kingdom

ian@pertento.com

Top 30 and Committee of Unsecured Creditors SA Automotive Ltd. Shar Hedayat 1307 Highview Drive
Webberville, MI 48892

Shar.Hedayat@saautomotive.com

Committee of Unsecured Creditors SA Automotive Ltd. Katherine Diederich 1307 Highview Drive
Webberville, MI 48892

katherine.diederich@aesseinvltd.com

SEC Regional Office Securities & Exchange Commission NY Regional Office/Regional Director 100 Pearl Street, Suite 20-100
New York, NY 10004-2616

bankruptcynoticeschr@sec.gov;
nyrobankruptcy@sec.gov

SEC Regional Office Securities & Exchange Commission PA Regional Office/Regional Director One Penn Center
1617 JFK Blvd., Suite 520
Philadelphia, PA 19103

philadelphia@sec.gov

SEC Headquarters Securities & Exchange Commission Secretary of the Treasury 100 F Street NE
Washington, DC 20549

SECBankruptcy-OGC-ADO@SEC.GOV;
secbankruptcy@sec.gov

Top 30 and Committee of Unsecured Creditors Superior Cam Inc. John Basso 31240 Stephenson Highway
Madison Heights, MI 48071

jbasso@diversifiedtoolinggroup.com;
jmbasso@diversifiedtoolinggroup.com

Troutman Pepper Hamilton Sanders LLP David M. Fournier
Tori L. Remington

Hercules Plaza, Suite 5100
1313 North Market Street
Wilmington, DE 19801

david.fournier@troutman.com;
tori.remington@troutman.com

Troutman Pepper Hamilton Sanders LLP Deborah Kovsky-Apap 875 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022

deborah.kovsky@troutman.com

Troutman Pepper Hamilton Sanders LLP Francis J. Lawall 3000 Two Logan Square
18th & Arch Streets
Philadelphia, PA 19103-2799

francis.lawall@troutman.com

Troutman Pepper Hamilton Sanders LLP Sean P. McNally 4000 Town Center, Suite 1800
Southfield, MI 48075

sean.mcnally@troutman.com

US Attorney for the District of Delaware US Attorney for the District of Delaware 1313 North Market Street
Hercules Building
Wilmington, DE 19801

usade.ecfbankruptcy@usdoj.gov

Counsel to Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. 
(a/k/a Hon Hai Technology Group), Foxconn EV 
Technology, Inc., Foxconn EV Property 
Development LLC, and Foxconn EV System LLC

Counsel to the Post-Effective Date Debtors

Counsel to Committee of Unsecured Creditors

In re Nu Ride Inc., et al.
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